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Interviews and Discussions witll Cold-War Era 
Planners and Analysts 

This volume contains much of the raw material on which this study is based. All 

items in this collection represent the testimony, in some fonn, of Soviet and American 

strategic planners and analysts whose professional cmers were largely dominated by the 
need to understand and respond effectively 10 the military threat from their Cold War 
opponents. 

Most of the items are structured as records or summaries of interviews conducted 
on 1he b(tsis of a specific list of questions. In follow-up interviews or interviews with 

difficult subjects, the questions served only as a general guide to research. Long, 

narrative responses also often did not address questions in same fonnat and sequence in 
which the questions were presented. 

For many reasons, items do not follow precisely the sequence and contents of the 

interview questions. Soviet interview subjects often were uncomfortable with the 

interview situation, the questions or the implications of the research (the Cold War was 
over and the West had won), As a result, the nature of the record of interview or 

discussion varies from interview to interview. Transcripts of taped interviews are the 

record of choice, of course, followed by records based on notes and, finally, summaries 

based on the memory of the interviewer prepared shonly after the interview. 

Many Soviet interview subjects were uncomfortable with tape recorders, 

especially early in the project (1989-1990) when seveml were far from convinced that the 
Cold War was, indeed, over. Likewise, several of the questions caused discomfon which 

forced rephrasing and special prompting (provocative statements or allusions to other 

infomuttion) on the pan of the interviewer. Some interview subjects responded wir.h 

almost a stream-of-consciousness flow of infonnation that moved from association to 

association through an entire series of related issues. Stopping such a response to adhere 

precisely to our questions could result in the loss of valuable insights and information not 

anticipated by the questioner. 

This resulted in incomplete coverage of some questions requiring. when possible, 

subsequent, supplementary interviews focused on specific issues, To compensate when 



Cold War Interviews 

possible, we revisited some of the most knowledgeable interview subjects several times 

over the course of three or four years. 

We tried, when possible, to isolate the interview subject from his colleagues 

during <Juestioning to avoid mutual intimidation, collegial responses and contamination of 
dara and observations. We were generally successful in meeting this objective but were 

sometimes forced by those who helped arrange a given interview to involve them in the 

process. When possible, we would subsequently isolate the interview subject and revisit 

one or two key questions to validate the original response. 

The record that follows. therefore, is inconsistent in level of detail and 

comprehensiveness despite the planning and good intentions of the researchers. 

Imperfect as they are, they nevenheless represent a unique record of infonnation and 

beliefs of Cold War panicipants who were able to trust their former enemies sufficiently 

to share heir thoughts and beliefs in some detail before they themselves passed into 

history. 
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Subject: 

l,osition: 

Location: 

Interviewer: 

Datcffime: 

Language: 

Prepared Dy: 

SUMMARY OF INTERVIEW 

Marshal Sergei F. Akhromeev 

Personal National Security Advisor to President Gorbachev 
Chief of the Oeneral Staff, 1984·1989 

Akhromeev's Office in tl1e Kremlin (Room 409) 

John 0. Hines 

March 5, 1990, 2:30-3:30 PM 

Russian 

John G. Hines. based on notes 

Marshal Akhrorneev promised by telephone in the morning to meet me at 2:30P.M. 
during a recess of the Congress of Peoples Deputies which was in session. (He was a 
deputy representing Moldavia). The Congress had an unscheduled meeting in the 
afternoon but the Marshal broke away and kept his appointment as promised. 

Comment: This C;ttchange was taken up largely with getting acquainted and with 
recent events such as his resignation in late 1989 from his position as Chief of the Soviet 
General Staff. 

Akhromeev opened the discussion with a question about where 1 had studied the 
Russinn language. I explained my education and long~standing interest in Soviet affairs, 
my training and service as a U.S. Army Signal Officer in Germany and Vietnam and 
subsequent mid-career intensive education in Russian language and Soviet affairs. I 
explained that I had studied advanced Russian at the U.S. Anny Russian Institute in 
Gannisch~Partenkirchen, Gennany. He smiled knowingly. I volunteered that I 
understood that the Soviet military considered Garmisch a "spy school." He smiled more 
broadly and corrected me, "No, not a spy school, a military intelligence school. There is 
a difference." 

1 accepted his correction, assured him that 1 was not an intelligence branch officer 
but had studied the Soviet Union for many years. I explained that I now wanted to 
understand better the extent to which U.S. and Soviet leaders and analysts had understood 
or misunderstood each other during the Cold War to help avoid repetition of such a 
prolonged and dangerous confrontation. He accepted the objective as wonhy but clearly 
was still struggling with the process of ending the Cold War. 

Given his disposition, I asked him about the Fall, 1989 Soviet announcement of 
unilateral reductions of half a million men and rumors that he had resigned as Chief of 
the General Staff in protest. He responded deliberately and clearly. First, he said, the 
analytical work. on which the cuts were based had been under way in the General Staff for 
months before the decision was taken and the findings were consistent with his sense of 
what was necessary. Second. he retired because he was physically no longer up to the 
work and long hours. He said he had submitted his resignation on September 6, but 
stayed on for several more weeks at Gorbachev's request. Hence, his resignadon 
occurred within a few days of the announcement of the unilateral force reductions. 
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Cold War /ruerviews Akhromeev 

Because time was running out, I asked him to what extent, in his two decades of 
experience on the General Staff, did operational and strategic planning as well as force 
planning rely on analysis and modeling for detennining requirements. He responded that 
many groups did modeling and analysis which did contribute in some way to such 
decisions. This was more tnte in the mid- 1970s and later. Many other factors, however, 
went into such decisions. 

I asked if we could meet again, to which he readily agreed and I asked him if he 
could recommend an officer or officers with whom I should speak to better understand 
the ;m;tlysis underlying Soviet strategic decisions. He thought about the question for 
some time and then responded that General-Colonel Korobushin had been very much 
involved in the process and could be very helpfuL 

1 thanked him and said 1 had a small gift for him. He smiled but said that, as a 
government official, he couldn't accept gifts. I explained that it was a box of chocolates 
for his wife. He graciously accepted the gift and repeated that he would happily meet 
again but had to hurry to return to the congressional session. 
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Subject: 

Position: 

Loculion: 

Interviewer: 

Datcrfimc: 

Prepared By: 

SUMMARY OF INTERVIEW 

Marshal Sergei F. Akhromeev 

Personal National Security Advisor to President Gorbachev 
Chief of the Soviet General Staff, 1984-1989 
Fi"t Deputy Chief of the Soviet General Staff, 1979·1984 
Chief of the Main Operations Directorate of the General 
Staff, 1974·1979 

Akhromeev's Office in the Kremlin (Room 409) 

John G. Hines 

February 8, 1991. 4:00·5:30 p.m. 

John Hines based on notes 

By the mid·l970s, both the U.S. and USSR had established the technically 
advanced command and control systems needed to give them confidence in central 
control over nuclear weapons. From the early 1970s to 1986-87, the General Staff 
focused on ensuring absolute control over nuclear weapons to prevent any unauthorized 
use on having the missile arsenal "in hand" (v rukakh- he gestured as if holding the reins 
of a horse) through strong C3 systems. These effons, by the mid-1970s, led to stability, 
which greatly reduced the likelihood of nuclear use. He said he believed the U.S. also 
had the necessary technical control over nuclear weapons only in the mid-1970s. Umil 
rhcn, there was a higher risk of an error on both sides. 

In the European TVD from 1972-87, the balance was good. The Soviets had a high 
level of readiness but were non threatening. Akhromeev was very distrustful of U.S. 
intentions until he had the opponunity actually to meet his American counterpans on the 
U.S. Joint Chiefs of Staff in 1988. The first and several subsequent meetings reassured 
him that the joint chiefs were thoughtful and responsible people. The mutual 
understnnding that came from face~to~face discussions helped to create a fairly stable 
situation in Europe. The intentions ascribed for many years by each side to the other 
were incorrect. 

What caused much tension in the General Sl3.ff were the many U.S. air and naval 
bases encircling the USSR, and the listening posts surrounding the USSR, as wet! as the 
constant use of air reconnaissance along the Soviet borders. This is how the Korean 
airliner got shot down. 

The increased readiness of both sides usually was prompted by distrust. Each side 
nKtde a tremendous misreading of the other side's intentions, which led to a greater 
possibility of accidental strikes. Nonetheless, there was not a very great danger of war 
during the period 1970-87. 

At no time did the USSR ever intend to make first use of nuclear weapons. In a 
militttry sense, the side that attacked preemptively would win, but in practical tenns 
neither side would win. Even to the General Staff it was clear that nuclear weapons were 
not really military weapons but were political tools. 
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Cold lVdr Interviews Akhromeev 

In 1962. the USSR could not respond massively to a U.S. attack. Only in the late 
1960s did the USSR acquire the capability to respond, which provided some stability. 
Neither side could consider selective nuclear use until the 1970s because technology and 
control systems before that could not support limited nuclear options. 

In the early 1970s. within the military leadership, even the more conservative 
general's understanding of nuclear weapons had malured to the point that they believed 
that nuclear weapons had no real military utility. Once a nuclear balance was established 
then deterrence ( sderzhivanie. putem ustrasheniia) was true of both sides. Solution of the 
question of control at the SD'ategic level left unresolved the problem of positive control of 
nuclenr weapons at the tactical level. By the late 1970s, both sides had essentially solved 
the question of control of tactical nuclear weapons. 

Nuclear use had to be avoided if at all possible. Preemption was technically not 
even possible until very rs;ently. In any case, rhe decision· would take so long to make 
that the USSR would be st~ck with a responsive strike. 

[KGB defector's! Oleg Gordievskii's revelations about the RlaN(Raketno-/adernoe 
Napadenie) crisis or 1983 self-serving falsifications. I'll explain why. There is the KGB 
over here [he placed an imaginary box on the table to his right) and the General Staff 
over there [he gestured far to his left]. The CIA is here [he gestured to my left) and the 
Joint Chiefs of Staff-The Pentagon-over here [on my right]. The KGB and CIA have 
more in common and more exchanges than the General Staff and KGB. We in the 
General Staff probably would not brief a KGB officer on such secrets, especially if he 
was being posted to a Western embassy. Gordievskii did not know what the General 
Staff was doing. He told such stories to improve his standing in the West. War was not 
considered imminent. 

SDI can really affect the future of warfnre and greatly destabilize strategic relations. 
The side that achieves invulnerability will press this advantage. If the U.S. pursues SOl, 
1he USSR can find cheap ways of countering 1he defenses, but this would undennine 
stability. If SDI is not included in START, then the USSR will announce unilaterally that 
Soviet agreement on START II will be conditional on the U.S. renouncing development 
ofBMD. 

Though the U.S. has precision weapons, technological countermeasures will be 
developed (e.g., to make tanks invisible). In the Persian Gulf, Iraq had no electronic 
countenneasures but after 5,000 U.S. sorties it still had thousands of tanks intact. The 
U.S. may be overestimating the effectiveness of precision weapons because they are 
being used in the Gulf Wax without opposition. A technologically sophisticated opponent 
will develop ways to counter this U.S. capability. 
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Subject: 

Position: 

Date: 

Place: 

Interviewer: 

Language: 

Prepared By: 

RECORD OF INTERVIEW 

Gen.-Lt. Gelii Viktorovich Batenin 

Gen. Batenin began his career as an anillery officer and transferred 
in the 1960s to the Strategic Rocket Fon:es. In the late 1970s and 
through the mid-1980s, General Batenin worked for Mmhal of the 
Soviet Union Sergei F. Akhromeev in various roles when the latter 
was chief of the General Staff Main Operations Directorate and 
then as First Deputy Chief of the General Stafl under Mmhal 
Nikolai Ogarkov. 

Friday, August 6, 1993 

McLean, VA 

John G. Hines 

Russian 

1 ohn Hines based on nmes 

Q: Over the past three years or so, I have interviewed several senior military people as 
well as from military industry and the Central Committee. I was able to interview your 
fonner chief, Marshal Akhromeev twice and met several times with General Danilevich. 

A: Danilevich? You know, he wrote the three-volume work for the General Staff on 
the Strategy of Deep-Operations, or at least he was responsible for the work. He directed 
the effon, very actively. The book covered everything, the entire picture of possible 
future war. It began with the anti-space operation (protivo-Jwsmich.eskllia operatsiia) 
against incoming missiles, the anti-air operation (protivo-vozdushna.ia operatsiia) against 
your bombers and then the deep operations against NATO to the full depth of the theater. 
"Operational-Strategic depth" referred to the entire 1200km depth of the European 
theater, to the beaches at the Western edge of the continent. The theory of deep 
operations in Danilevich's work envisioned great depths of military action (voennye 
deistviia) because of the ran~e of weapons. weapons platforms and the speed of 
movement of the forces. The mirlal operation was expected to take five to seven days 
and to carry the coumer·offensive five hundred kilometers. At that point we expected 
that we would have lost half of our tanks and that half of the remaining force would have 
outrun its logistics suppon. Because so much of the force would be exhausted, early, 
decisive success over the enemy was very imponant. 

Q: What scenarios for the beginning of war were assumed in the book on strategic 
operations? 

A: Missile strikes from the U.S. and the initiation of an offensive by NATO. The main 
objective of initial operations by Soviet Forces and the Warsaw Pact were to break up 
(sorval') the NATO offensive throughout the depth of NATO's forces and NATO's rear. 
Included in the concept of breaking up and stopping NATO's offensive was the 
preemptive deslruction of as many launch systems and aircraft as possible as well as 
associated control systems. 
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Cold \Var Interviews Barenin 

Q: Was I he preemption to be with the use of conventional or nuclear weapons? 

A: That would depend. We expected NATO to launch nuclear strikes at some point. If 
we did not detect preparation on the pan of NATO to launch nuclear weapons 
immediately, we would attack launch platfonns and stora'-e using conventional weapons. 
lf we detected preparation by NATO to launch nuclear smkes, and we believed we would 
know when this was happening, we would want to strike NATO's launch and control 
systems with nuclear strikes of our own. We had confidence in our knowledge of when 
NATO was preparing for nuclear launch. We would detect mating of warheads to 
missiles and uploading of nuclear bombs and anillery. We listened to the hourly circuit 
verification signal on your nuclear release communications systems and believed we 
would recognize a release order. Under these conditions when we detected NATO 
actually preparing to launch, we would want to preempt your launch with our own 
nuclear strikes. 

Q: Did the General Staff consider selective use of nuclear weapons (vybor.ochnye 
udary) under these conditions, especially if it was clear that NATO would be attacking 
with only a few, say ten. nuclear weapons? 

A: This would be very difficult to execute. It would be difficult just to launch on time 
against NATO prep3I'ation even with a sttike against all or most or your nuclear capable 
systems and it is doubtful that we would attempt to restrict the strike under those 
conditions. More imponant, Ogarkov was very much opposed to the idea of limited 
nuclear war (ogranichennaia iadernaia voina) in any form because he believed it would 
benefit NATO. 

Q: How? 

A: By making nuclear strikes more likely, by making NATO believe that the Soviet 
Union might fight a limited nuclear war. A limited nuclear war was more likely to occur 
than an unlimited nuclear war. And Ogarkov believed that, once begun, limited nuclear 
use would almost certainly escalate to massive use. He tried to maintain, therefore, the 
pos10re that in the event of war massive use of nuclear weapons was both undesirable but 
unavoidable once any nuclear weapons were used. Akhromeev, by the way, was more 
open to at least considering situations where selected strikes might be made. 

Q: Where did this grand concept of the strategy of deep operations come from? 

A: l believe the SS-20 made it possible, that the SS-20 created the environment in 
which strategists could think about war on such a large scale. The SS-20 had a very low 
vulnerability, high accuracy and a great range, not only over all of Europe but over the 
Middle and Near East and much ofthe Mediterranean. Under the roof of the SS-20 it was 
possible to think about deep operations. There was a cenain irony in that by 1987, many 
in the General Staff thought that all of the components necessary for conducting deep 
operations were in place at last, that we were ready that spring. We conducted games and 
exercises. At the same time, in December of that year we signed the INF Treaty. 
Gorbachev had his agenda and the General Staff its agenda. Gorbachev had seen General 
Danilevich's three~votuute book on strategy. He even had a copy but he never read it. He 
was moving in another direction, eliminating the weapons that were the basis for 
executing such a strategy. 

Q: When did these various elements come together; that is, the capabilities of the SS~ 
20 and the development of the strategy of deep operations? 
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Cold War Interviews lJatenin 

A: The late 70s, it began to take shape in the late 70s. The SS-20 was being deployed 
and Domilcvich and others in his collective were developing concepts. 

Q: Ogarkov took over in 1977? 

A: Yes, this was imponant. Ogark.ov fostered thill kind of thinking, very actively. 

Q: Relations between Ogarkov and Ustinov. Marshal Akhromeev wrote in his book, 
Through The Eyes of a Marshal and a Diplomat, that by 1982 relations were so bad that 
it was difficult for the General Staff to function effectively. 

A: Yes, relations by 1982 were extremely strained. A major issue was the PVO 
(protivo-vozdushnaia oborona). Ogarkov wanted to eliminate the PVO as a service, put 
the air element in the Air Forces and subordinate ground elements to the Ground Forces. 
He believed Ground Forces PVO (PVO mkhopurnykh voisk) was an effective 
arrangement that provided reliable air defense of forces under an integrated command. 
He wanted to broaden that principle. He also believed he could thereby eliminate an 
entire service headquarter> apparatus. Ustinov wanted to retain that old structure. 

Q: Was this the only disagreement? 

A: No. There were broader differences. Ogarkov believed that the types and numbers 
of weapons produced should be determined by the military customen (<akazchiki) and 
Ustinov believed that such decisions were the business of the Communist Party, Defense 
Council and the Military Industrial Commission, that is, rhe industrialists. 

Q: Was the General Staff-MOD deadlock as bad as was described by Akhromeev. 

A: Absolutely. Things got done, in fact because Ustinov treated Akhromeev as the de 
facto Chief of Staff. After '82 he acted, in effect, as the 2nd chief of the General Staff 
rather than as the 1st deputy. Ustinov would communicate with Akhromeev rather than 
with Ogarkov. Akhromeev tried to keep Ogarkov informed, at first, and then told him 
less and less because it caused more problems than il solved. I was with Akhromeev in 
his office once when Ogarkov called to ask about some decision he had heard about from 
another source. It related to a change in organization in the GSFO (Group of Soviet 
Forces Gcnnany) as I recalL Ak.hromeev, who was involved in the decision by Ustinov. 
was very uncomfortable. I heard him confirming the decision and explaining why he had 
not informed Ogarkov that he had intended to brief him but other events had intervened, 
etc. TI1is was a very difficult situation. 

Q: There have been various repons, the most well known from former KGB agent 
Oleg Gordievskii and published openly in England, that there was a period of great 
tension in the Soviet Government in the early 1980s. Specifically, between about 1981 
and 1984, the MOD, KGB and other.~, believed that there was a high probability that the 
U.S. and NATO were preparing to attack the Warsaw Pact and the USSR, including with 
nuclear weapons. The whole problem of increased threat was identified under the 
acronym RiaN(Rakerno-ladernoe Napadenie). 

A: Yes. I am very familiar with RiaN. There was a great deal of tension in the 
Ocncrul Staff at that time and we worked long hours, longer than usual. I don't recall a 
period more tense since the Caribbean Crisis in 1962. 
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Subject: 

Daterfime: 

Location: 

Interviewer: 

Language: 

Prepared by: 

SUMMARY OF INTERVIEW 

Sergei Blagovolin 

May 7, 1991, 10:30 a.m. 

Office at IMEMO 

John G. Hines 

Russian 

John G. Hines, based on notes 

"Industrial Mobilization" 

Right after university (around 1971 ), Blagovolin worked on a project that analy:o:d 
the industrial mobilization potential of the United States and estimated that the U.S. could 
produce 50 nuclear submarines and 50,000 tanks per year within a few months of starting 
mobilization. 

He believes the USSR is living with the results of that estimate. In the 1970s and 
1980s this threat assessment was used to justify Soviet force building programs. After 
lakovlev returned from Canada in 1982, Blagovolin worked closely with him as Director 
of the Party Obkom to reevaluate the U.S.'s mobilization capacity and the effect of the 
arms race on the USSR. The conclusion was that the Soviet Union had created its own 
set of enemies by building such a monstrous production machine in aJI sectors (including 
submarines) and had thereby helped to drive the Soviet economy to ruin, Blagovolin is 
publishing a book on this subject in English (expected out in summer 199l)t, The 
Russian version for a Russian audience is more important than the English. 

The Agreement of April 23 states that the Treaty of the Union (TOU) will be signed 
soon, probably after the special 12 June Presidential elections in the RFSFR. Not less 
thnn six months after the signing of the TOU, a new constitution will be issued, and not 
less than six weeks after the new constitution, there would be new, direct elections at all 
levels. 

At the Party Central Committee Plenum of April 20, Gorbachev threatened to resign 
after many of the delegates criticized his weakness and ineffectiveness regarding the 
Union and the economy. During the break, Volsky circulated a petition with the support 
of Bakatin and Nazarbaev (72 signed, 35-40 more promised to sign), After the break, 
Volsky got up and said that ifGorbachev's resignati()n were accepted, then the signatories 
of the petition would leave the Communist Party not as individuals but as a political 
movement . As a result, the vast majority voted to reject Gorbachev's resignation. 
Blagovolin said it was clear that Volsky and the others were ready to break the Party 
aport over the issue of Gorbachev's leadership. The Party was already reaching a 
complete breakup, and Volsky intended to start n new party. He emerged in June as part 
of the new movement behind Shevardnadze that broke from the Party. 

1Jk>ok not published in either language. 
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Subject: 

Position: 

Location: 

Interviewer: 

Datcffime: 

Duration: 

Prepared by: 

SUMMARY OF INTERVIEW 

Harold Brown 

Secretary of Defense (1977-1980) 

Johns Hopkins Foreign Policy Institute, 1619 Massachusetts 
A venue, Washington, DC 

John G. Hines 

November 8, 1991, 1:30 p.m. 

4S minutes 

Daniel caJingaen 

In Dr. Brown's view, Soviet civilian leaders did not believe that the USSR could 
fight and win a nuclear war. For Soviet military leaders, it was inadmissible to say that 
they could not win, so they said that if nuclear war broke out, they would try to come out 
better than the other side. They claimed to have the edge and to have a bigger edge if the 
USSR struck first. Though they did not really believe that the USSR would survive a 
nuclear war. top military officials tried to improve Soviet chances for survival. 

Soviet leaders believed in deterrence. accordin' to Harold Brown. They built up 
their nuclear arsenal in order to deter the U.S. TheU" deterrent rested on a capacity to 
inflict unacceptable damage, and by the 1960s, though a disparity remained, they thought 
they had enough nuclear weapons to meet that criterion. Soviet leaders accepted the 
concept of mutual deterrence but they did not embrace MAD to the extent that they 
rejected attempts to limit damage and they did not believe tha< a capability only to kill 
civilians was sufficient to deter the U.S. 

According to Dr. Brown, these assessments were close to the positions and 
interpretations proffered by Fritz Ermanh. the National Intelligence Officer for Strategic 
Forces at the time. The fanner Defense Secretary seemed to hold Ermarth and his views 
in high regard. 

The Soviet Union was likely to use chemical weapons. Dr. Brown expected the 
USSR to employ CW even if NATO did not and even in the absence of nuclear 
exchanges. 

Soviet leaders aimed, in order of priority, (l) ro ensure their personal survival and 
power, (2) to preserve the social and economic structures of the Soviet state, aod (3) to 
hold on to the empire (including Eastern Europe). PD-59 made clear to Soviet leaders 
that all three priorities would be at risk if Soviet actions led to global war. Selective U.S. 
targeting held at risk the things that Soviet leaders valued most. The Soviet leadership 
itself was targeted but was far down on the target list to maintain the possibility for inrra~ 
war negotiating. Cities were not on the target list partly because Dr. Brown was unsure 
where the Soviet population fit into the Soviet leadership's priorities. 

The Soviets would preempt only if they were convinced, based on their reading of 
American intentions, thar the U.S. was going to launch a nuclear strike. This was Soviet 
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militory doctrine, which the political leadership may or may not have decided to follow. 
Simih1rly, the Soviet military may have recommended escalation in the European theater 
if convinced that the U.S. would escalate. but Dr. Brown was unsure whether the political 
le<~dership would accept this recommendation. 

Harold Brown never thought that the USSR would expand a theater nuclear war 
into a global war, and he doubted that the USSR would even escalate within the European 
theater. The Soviets might not win a conventional war but they would never lose. Even 
if a Soviet conventional attack were pinned down for four weeks and the Warsaw Pact 
allies began to pull out, nuclear use would not improve the situation for the Soviet side. 

In Dr. Brown's view, the USSR probably did not develop limited nuclear options 
because it had conventional predominance. In practice, Soviet forces never used nuclear 
weapons ftrst or selectively. The big question for the Soviet side was whether the U.S. 
would try to stop a Soviet conventional attack by resoning to nuclear anns. Dr. Brown 
did not know what the Soviets believed, but if they listened closely to Western leaders, 
they would probably conclude that the U.S. would resort to nuclear weapons but the West 
Europeans would not. 

The Soviet Union did accept strategic parity. Despite its interest in strategic 
defense, the USSR's signing of the ABM Treaty reflected its acceptance of parity. The 
Soviets did not think it feasible to gain a significant edge. They understood that 
acquiring a greater number of weapons was not necessarily imponant and that one side's 
advantages in panicular weapons categories were offset by advantages on the other side. 

When asked why the Soviets continued to build strategic forces even after they had 
achieved parity, Dr. Brown seemed to attribute this pattern of force building to a sense 
that they could never have enough to offset growing qualitative advantages in the West. 

By the 1970s, the number of weapons on both sides was so large that capabilities 
could only be affected by deep cuts (deeper than the START Treaty envisions). 
Therefore, the U.S. tried to influence Soviet decisions through U.S. strategy. The U.S. 
wanted to limit ss~ 18s and ss~ 19s, which were counterforce systems, in order to make 
U.S. retaliatory (particularly land-based) forces more survivable. 

Dr. Brown never saw the arms r.a.ce as an economic competition. Since the defense 
industry was the most efficient part of the Soviet economy, the U.S. in an arms race was 
competing in the area of the smallest U.S. comparative advantage. Harold Brown used 
American technological advantages to compensate for the smaller number of U.S. 
weapons. It was precisely the U.S. technological lead that convinced the SovietS that 
they could not win an anns race. 

Dr. Brown gained some impressions of the Soviets from his time on the SALT 
delegation 1969·71 (including from contact with Ogarkov) and from the 1979 Vienna 
summit (where he saw Brezhnev, Ustinov and Ogarkov). He based his understanding of 
Soviet intentions on Soviet military exercises, force structures, and policy statements. 
Soviet statements on military forces and strategy were subject to broad variations in 
interpretation because any given statement or body of statements could represent any of 
three levels of authority; agreed policy statements, arguments put fonh in the course of 
institutional infighting. or the personal views of an individual. SovieEologists, such as 
Fritz Ermanh. were helpful in interpreting and discriminating among these three sources 
of Soviet statements. 
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In Brzezinski's personal opinion, the Soviets were not preparing to initiate war but 
they were planning to win if war broke out. They wanted ro acquire a demonstrable war· 
winning capability that they could exploit politically. Serious Soviet strategists realized 
that a clear-cut first strike capability was unattainable, but if the USSR acquired a 
theoretical first strike capability, this would have political consequences. 

The Soviets believed in nuclear deterrence and practiced it from the late 1950s to 
offset what they perceived to be significant U.S. advantages in strategic forces, The 
Soviets did not believe in MAD in the sense of accepting the logic of mutual deterrence 
based on fear as a substitute for developing a credible warfighting capability for their 
strategic forees. In the 1970s, while they developed their own warfighting capabilities, 
they pretended to accept MAD in order to put a cap on or not stimulate U.S. efforts to 
gain a warfighting capability. The Soviets considered their warfighting capability to be a 
projection of detenence, which would work better if the United States continued to abide 
by MAD (that is to say, if the U.S. continued to rely heavily on MAD logic to avoid 
developing a truly credible warfighting ability that could be brought to bear if deterrence 
should fail). Brzezinski saw absolutely no contradiction between the Soviet commitment 
to a warfighting capability and the Soviet belief in nuclear deterrence. 

Dr. Brzezinski noted that some in the U.S. National Security community interpreted 
the Soviet preference for warfighting to mean that the Soviets preferred and were eager to 
fight wars rather than to deter them. Most, including himself, saw Soviet seriousness 
about warfighting as a different approach to planning against the event of the failure of 
deterrence, not as an alternative to deterrence. A benefit implicit in this approach was 
that a credible warfighting capability could enhance deterrence to the advantage of the 
Soviet side. 

Parity was incompatible with Soviet warfighting capabilities. The Soviets did not 
accept parity because they regarded the nuclear relntionship as dynamic. At any given 
time, one of the two sides was either ahead or moving ahead. Soviet weapons 
development was influenced by U.S. weapons programs. 
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Brzezinski asserted that PD-59 was designed to give the U.S. a warfighting 
capability. PD-59, combined with the Pershing-2, MX missile and SDI programs, 
showed that the U.S. government professed adherence to MAD but was in fact moving 
toward a warfighting capability and was more likely to prevail over the competition. 

The Soviets saw nuclear weaponry as having military utility. They concentrated 
more systematically than the American side on the military utility of nuclear arms, 
particulasly for theater use. 

The Soviets were not risk takers, so they sought to win through intimidation rather 
than warfighting. They sought superiority at different rungs of the escalation ladder in 
order to inhibit the U.S. from escalating and thereby to gain a strategic advantage. The 
Soviets preferred to fight only with conventional forces. If they were winning, they 
would not employ nuclear weapons. Brzezinski believed that the United States should be 
willing to go nuclear against a successful conventional attack by the Wmaw Pact. His 
view was not widely shased but gained greater acceptance during the course of the Caner 
administration. 

In his gut, Brzezinski felt that the Soviets would not ose nuclear weapons first and 
might be restrained even if they had superiority in nuclear weapons. If we employed 
nuclear arms, the Soviets probably would match us or maybe escalate. They would 
respond to U.S. tactical nuclear use with tactical preemption, in the context of on~going 
hostilities. Brzezinski doubted that during a theater war, the USSR would strike 
preemptively at U.S. strategic forces in the continental U.S. 

The Soviets probably did not believe in limited nuclear options but they may have 
wanted a capacity to employ LNO, especially if it enhanced the credibility of their threat 
to the West 

The Soviets had significant chemical weapons capabilities and they used CW in 
exercises. In a serious war, they would probably reson to CW, and they might even 
employ CW in the absence of nuclear use. 

Br.ezinski received much helpful data (e.g., on the USSR's strategic buildup) but 
little helpful interpretation. The data were ambiguous and the same data were cited to 
suppon contradictory positions and interpretations. For instance, there was no systematic 
assessment of Soviet warfighting capabilities. Analysts argued more about interpretation 
than evidence, though the data concerning Soviet ABM systems and possible 
bre:Lkthroughs in Soviet military technology were in fact ambiguous. Brz.ezinski 
considered it imponant to consult good Soviet analysts and he solicited the views of CIA, 
INR, DoD, and outside expens. 
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To review with General Danilevich his views on the product and process of Soviet 
military assessments in the nineteen seventies and nineteen eighties. Of special interest 
was the Soviet's thinking about military competition. assessments of Western capabilities 
and intentions relative to their own, and expectations of the nature of war should it occur. 
The role and expected effects of strategic and theater weapons of mass destruction was of 
central concern as was the Soviet perceptions of the effect of qualitative improvements on 
1he nature of conventional war. 

General 

I first met General Danilevich in Moscow in February 1990 through an introduction 
by General-Major Kirshin. I know from Colonel Vitalii Tsygichko that General 
Danilevich worked as Special Assistant to the Director of the Main Operations 
Directorate of the General Staff from the early seventies until at least 1977 and, in that 
capacity, had a close working relationship with Ogarkov. General Kirshin informed me 
in January 1990, at a gathering in Cambridge, England, that General Danilevich had been 
working as special advisor for miliwy doctrine for chiefs of the General Staff, Marshals 
Ogarkov and Akhromeev, from 1977 to 1988 and continued to work in the command 
group of the General Staff until December 1989. He added that Danilevich had actually 
written much of the material published over Ogarkov's name in the late seventies and 
early eighties. Col. (ret.) Vitalii Tsygichko, chief of a major analytical department in the 
main research institute of the General Staffs Main lmelltgence Directorate (GRU), ran 
an assessment effort for Ogarkov in the first half of the 1970s when Tsygichko himself 
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did a great deal of analytical work for Ogarkov under Danilevich's guidance. Tsygichko, 
whose honesty, intelligence and analytical competence I have come to respect, has a very 
high opinion of Danilevich. 

We met for this, our second, interview in General Kirshin's office. Also present 
were General Kirshin, Don Mahoney, and James Brusstar of National Defense 
University. I began the interview with a general description of the areas that were of 
interest after which he made a rather lengthy presentation that was essentially 
chronological. 

Soviet Military Assessments and Decisions Leading up to the 1970s 

Khrushchev was thoroughly involved in milittu)' matters on a personal level. His 
approach had both positive and negative consequences for military development. 

On the negative side: 

Khrushchev was not realistic and reasonable when it came to military affairs 
(presumably a reference to his severe reductions of ground, air and naval forces in the 
early 1960s). Danilevich cited specifically the fact that Khrushchev "liquidated" the 
military infrastructure in the Far East. 

On the positive side: 

Khrushchev's interest in military technology Jed to major breakthroughs in military 
force development, especially in the nuclear area leading to the development and 
deployment of qualitatively advanced land·and sea·based missile systems. (He 
mentioned that one such advance, the sea~based cruise missile was canceled under 
Khrushchev because of Soviet estimates of the effectiveness of Polaris.) 

He explained that MacNamara's analytical concepts were important for Soviet 
analysis because they represented a strategy for force development and employment. 
General Danilevich said that MacNamara's ideas were "concrete" and implied that Soviet 
thinking was less specific and not as systematically developed. It was clear that he 
believed that Soviet strategists had borrowed from MacNamara in developing their 
thinking about nuclear forces in the 1960s. 

"Soviet Military Assessments and Decisions in the 1970s" 

"Strategic Nuclear" 

General Danilevich opened the discussion by stating that there was no crisis in the 
1970s of sufficient magnitude to cause the General Staff even to contemplate nuclear use. 

He characterized the 1970s as the period of struggle for strategic superiority (he 
sometimes used the word "parity"). He clearly believed that the U.S. had strategic 
superiority going into the 1970s, and the Soviets were striving. at the very least~ to taking 
away the U.S. advantage. He said the Soviet General Staff believed there were a great 
number of areas where the Soviets were not only behind, but where the U.S. advamage 
was continuing to grow. 
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These included: 

Missile systems quality· specifically accuracy and survivability. 

Overall command and control of strategic nuclear forces. 

N;wal strategic systems. 

Danilevich 

MIRV technology· U.S. deployment of MIRY's in the early 1970s was exuemely 
unsettling to the General Staff because MIRV represented a significant offensive 
advantage. 

General Danilevich stated that this perception that the Soviets were falling behind 
stimulated military planners to set out on a period of rapid development of ICBMs. The 
SS·ll was one of the products of this process. At the same time, the Soviet military were 
indulging in deception to lead U.S. planners to believe that they were more advanced than 
was the case. As he put it. in the areas of nuclear and other advanced technologies, the 
Soviet military were not doing all that they claimed to be doing. 

"Correlation or Forces Assessment Work" 

In the early 1970s a great deal of substantial (krupnyi) analytical, "scientific," work 
was being done in the area of strategic correlation of forces assessments. He stressed that 
the work was difficult but extremely important. 

He criticized the work in that Soviet analysts "never did understand very well" how 
quality influenced the correlation of forces. Under quality he included the characteristics 
of control, accuracy, and reliability. To expand on this point he explained that analysis of 
quantity alone provides only half of the analytical picture. Because of qualitative 
deficiencies, one side could have a ten~ fold quantitative advantage and still be behind. 

He added that analysis of the strategic correlation of forces involved assessments of 
more than strategic nuclear systems alone. The overall correlation depended on other 
factors as well, especially upon U.S. Naval forces such as aircraft carriers. 

"Political Factors lnOuencing Broader Correlation of Forces Assessments in the 
1970s and Early 1980s" 

"External" 

Relations with China: The Soviet MOD was forced to create groupings of forces in 
the Far East. In the late sixties and early seventies the only area that demanded 
significant force buildup was along the Chinese border. China represented a major 
diversion of resources and attention: 

For every one General Staff exercise carried out in the West, three were done in the 
Far East. 

Warming of U.S.·Chinese relations was a major source of concern. 
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Vietnam: The Soviet military were extremely pleased to see the U.S. tied up in 
Vietnam because the war represented such a large diversion of military and economic 
resources away from areas that were more directly threatening to the USSR. 

"Internal" 

Brezhnev showed very little interest in the military area and was "very weak" in the 
urea of military decision making. In exercises he would become very nervous and 
agitated even thinking about nuclear weapons and would physically tremble when 
required to make an exercise decision with respect to their use. 

Because of his aversion to thinking about military questions. he ceded control over 
military decisions to the Minister of Defense. He also gave cane blanche to the MOD in 
terms of defining force requirements. Marshal Grechko, MOD until 1976, focused on 
planning strategic force deployments. Marshal Ustinov, MOD until his death in late 
1984, concentrated on stnttegic force employment. 

Given this political environment, according to Danilevich. forces were developed 
and deployed in the context of the anns race, not necessarily on the basis of any 
compeiHng analysis or intention to achieve a force advantage rhat would enable the 
Soviets to launch a surprise preemptive attack. 

He explained that: 

By 1972 there was already in existence a plan for employment of strategic nuclear 
weapons but that the plan did not envision a nuclear offensive--not an "OVN" (the 
expansion may be Opero.rsUa Vnezapnogo NapadenUa--surprise attack operation). 

SALT I in 1972led the Soviets to freeze all strategic force programs. 

Serious resumption of force building in 1975-1976 was Slimulated above all by the 
desire to get ahead of the U.S. competition. h was not based on careful analysis that 
would support arguments for the utility of lnrge numbers of nuclear weapons. 
Specifically, in force building decisions, no consideration was given to the consequences 
(posledstviia) of actually using any or all of the weapons being built on both sides. (I 
know from Tsygichko that major studies had been done in the General Staff in '68 and 72 
on the various effects, including atmospheric, of strategic and theater nuclear use. 
Danilevich's statement confirms Tsychiko's view that this analysis did not penetrate the 
decision process until the early eighties). "Neither side," according to Danilevich, 
appreciated the complex implications of the anns race for actual war planning. 

"Theater Conventional and Nuclear11 

General Danilevich acknowledged that in the early 1970s the Soviet Union enjoyed 
a significant quantitative advantage in convemional forces over NATO. There was, 
however, no Soviet plan to take Germany nor to take all of Europe. In this connection, he 
pointed out that the General Staff attributed to NATO a significant advantage in theater 
stnltegic aviation and in tactical nuclear weapons. The General staff did have a counter~ 
offensive plan which called for the Soviets to use their conventional superiority to launch 
a powerful strike in the event that NATO uunleashed" a war. 

I9 



Cold War lntervlews DanUevich 

"Changing Expectations About Nuclear Use" 

Early 1970s- Under Kulikov, then: was genuine concern in the General Staff that 
NATO might launch a preemptive nuclear strike against the Warsaw Pact in a time of 
crisis. Barring NATO preemption, the General Staff expected that the conventional 
period of a war would last hours or days depending upon the Warsaw Pact's success 
conventionally. The General Staff expectation was that the U.S. probably would use 
nuclear weapons at the first main defensive line in Gennany and would "always" use 
nuclear weapons to prevent a Rhine crossing by the Warsaw Pact. 

1977 - When Ogarkov became chief of the General Staff the expected duration of 
1he conventional phase extended out to five or six days. 

1979 ~ The General Staff came to believe that the entire initial strategic operation 
"into France" could remain conventional 

1980-81 • The General Staff carne seriously to expect that the entire war might 
remain conventional. 

11 Rationale Behind Changing Assessments" 

The General Staff, by 1981. had come to a very firm, "scientifically derived," 
conclusion that nuclear use would be catastrophic in general and operationally counter~ 
productive. Key in the General Staff expectation that nuclear use could be avoided 
indefinitely was an observable change in NATO's [exercise] behavior. NATO had 
become much mo~ cautious in its treatment of nuclear weapons and clearly contemplated 
a very prolonged period of conventional war. In the opinion of the General Staff, NATO 
probably was responding to Soviet development and deployment of tactical nuclear 
weapons and Soviet achievement of strategic nuclear parity. 

11 Limitcd Nuclear Use and lntra·war Termination of Nuclear Use" 

For most of the 1970s the Soviets rejected all Western theories about escalation 
control as either Western deception or the work of academic theorists whose work was 
not rooted in reality. To maintain strategic~to-theater linkage, the Soviets maintained the 
policy that any nuclear use would n:suh automatically in a full strategic nuclear response 
againsl the homeland of the initiating states. 

1979-80 - By 1979, the General Staff began to contemplate the possibility of lintited 
nuclear use or of limited nuclear war. This represented a new variant in addition to the 
two main existing variants: nuclear war or purely conventional war. The limited nuclear 
use variant did not enjoy much support because of Soviet pessimism about escalation 
controL 

1979 ·Intra-war Termination of Nuclear Use: The General Staff began to explore 
new scenarios for terminatine: nuclear use. Specifically, chey began to evaluate the 
possibility of negotiations after the initial nuclear exchange in theater. 
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Theater Warfare Assessment Work 11 

A great deal of work was done throughout the 1970s in the areas of assessments and 
comparisons of the combat potential of opposing sides. This work was helpful but 
mathematical analysis suffers from important limitations. At the operational and tactical 
levels. or for a.nalysis of an operation or series of operations of limited duration, 
nmthematical analysis generally is unable to predict outcomes reliably. The primary 
reason is that mathematical approaches do not capture effectively the art (or luck) of the 
commander who might make or fail to make the "critical" decision that will tend to 
dominate all other factors in determining the outcome of a given operation. Every 
opcr;nion usually has one such "critical decision poinl'' that simply cannot be reflected in 
such analysis. He cited as example that mathematical analysis would have predicted 
other outcomes for the Russian-Gennan conflict in World War I and for the Pakistan~ 
Bangladesh conflict 

He added that, on a large scale over a long time period, numbers do matter. He 
cited Soviet success in World War II as an example. He said that the Soviets clid not win 
the Great Patriotic War because Soviet generalship and fighting skills were superior to 
those of the Gennans. The Soviet Armed Forces simply overwhelmed the Germans with 
superior numbers of airplanes, men, tanks, and anillery. 

"Assessments and Decisions in the 1980s" 

1980-1985- The General Staff had the general expectation that war was becoming 
more likely during this period but that it was also increasingly more likely that, should 
war occur, it would remain conventional. This assessment led the General Staff to do a 
great deal of work to dc"elop a more complete theory of conventional war. 

Overall, the 1980s were a period of tremendous change for the General Staff 
because of changes in the general strategic situation, the rapid development and 
deployment of new technologies and dramatic changes in the domestic and international 
political scene. 

At least two facton; emerged which greatly complicated General Staff assessments. 
One was concern about the need to calculate the effects of chemical use and the second 
was the introduction for the first lime (after the 1986 Chernobyl disaster), of the 
consequences of the destruction of nuclear and chemical facilities in the event of war. 

All of these factors; political, strategic, technological and operational, greatly 
increased requirements for the General Staff to devise ways to meet "tremendous" 
increases in amicipated wartime demands for control capabilities, logistics and 
infrastructure. 

"The 1982·1983 War Scare in the Soviet Union" 

I iofonned General Danilevich of the publication in the U.K. of KGB defector Oleg 
Gordicvskii's book in which was described a period of extreme crisis between 1981 and 
1984. The general acknowledged that there was a "period of great tension" of which he 
had vivid personal memories, especially in 1983. but that there was never a "war scare" in 
the Gencml Staff. No one believed there was a real likelihood (immediate threat) of a 
nuclear strike from the U.S. or NATO. He felllhallhe KGB may have oversmted the 
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level of rension because they arc generally incompetent in military affairs and exaggerate 
what they do not understand. 
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From the mid-1950s, Soviet thinking about nuclear use evolved gradually and 
interactively with the U.S. (e.g .. Flexible Response made a conventional phase more 
likely). By the mid·l970s, the Soviets viewed nuclear use as futile, because of the 
number of weapons and accuracy. and expected a nuclear exchange to result in 
catastrophe. By 1981, the Soviets realized that employment of tactical nuclear weapons 
would escalate to theater·strategic and then to global strategic nuclear war, which would 
cause unacceptable destruction. 

•Rejection of first use was serious and was based on research. 

•The Soviers assumed that the U.S. would use nuclear weapons flrst. 

The Soviets wanted the U.S. to believe that they would respond massively to U.S. 
use of tactical nuclear weapons because exchanges of even TNW would strike Soviet 
territory. 

Concerns about vulnerability were evident in Soviet actions (e.g., development of 
mobile lCBMs). The Soviets never embraced vulnerability as desirable. 

The General Staff discussed (the purely military effects of) possible responses to 
selective U.S. nuclear strikes in Europe. debating precise reciprocity vs. escalatory 
responses. 

Soviet war games did nm cover the staning of war and dealt with purely military 
lhemes. 
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Q: What consequences did Brezhnev, Ustinov, and other Politburo members expect 
from nuclear war? Did they think that they could survive a nuclear war? 

A: In the early 1970s we conducted three exercises in which we considered the 
consequences of a strategic nuclear exchange assuming a U.S. first strike. In 1972, the 
GS conducted the final exercise in the series and Brezhnev, Kosygin, Grechko and 
several members of the government took pan. We presented to them the results of our 
computer models, as we then saw them, of the consequences of a nuclear first strike 
against the Soviet Union. Brezhnev and Kosygin were visibly terrified by what they 
hc:trd. We explained our conclusions that after the strike the armed forces would be 
reduced to 111000 of their previous strength; 80 million citizens would be dead; 85% of 
the industrial capability of the Soviet Union would be destroyed; the European part of lhe 
USSR would be contaminated by radiation at extremely lethal levels of 3000 Roentgens. 
Given all of this. the consequences of a retaliatory strike against the U.S. would be even 
more lethal to that country. During the exercise 3 launches of ICBMs with dummy 
w:trhcads were scheduled. Brezhnev was actually provided a button in the exercise and 
W<~S to "push the button" at the appropriate time. Marshal Grechko was standing next to 
hin1 and l next to Marshal Grechko. When the time came to push the button, Brezhnev 
was visibly shaken and pale and his hand trembled and he asked Grechko several times 
for assurances that the action would not have any real~world consequences. "Grigorii 
Mikhailovich," are you sure this is just an exercise'!" 

This study was prepared by various authors and organizations, including OS 
officers, members of GS Institutes, Intelligence, o1hers. I personally prepared the 
summary section. However, this summary section was never published, because its 
message was judged too psychologically detrimental to morale and resolve. All of the 
results from this study were "buried". 
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After this study, attempts were made to ameliorate its devastating impact on 
decision makers. For subsequent studies, coefficients were introduced into the models 
which artificially reduced the level of destruction predicted by the results; a certain 
percentage of warheads would fail to explode, not hit their targets, the percentage of 
ecologically "dirty" ground bursts was reduced, etc. As a result rhe picture of nuclear use 
was artificially made more palatable and made 110mewhat more possible a willingness to 
fight a nuclear war in the classical sense. This attitude continued until the early to mid 
1980s. 

One ex.ample of our appreciation of the consequences of nuclear use: In the early 
1980s Fidel Castro pressed hard for a tougher Soviet line against the U.S. up to and 
including possible nuclear strikes. The as had to actively disabuse him of this view by 
spelling out the ecological consequences for Cuba of a Soviet strike against the U.S. This 
changed Castro's positions considerably. 

The 1972 model was based on a U.S. first strike, in which 70% of the U.S. strategic 
arsenal was used, with a Soviet retaliatory strike. This model presented a terrible picture. 
From then on the percentage of weapons used in a lust strike was maximized and a first 
strike was planned because the first to strike would be the one to win. However, 
technology changed this policy. In 1972·most of the targets were counter~value targets, 
since it was assumed that all of the enemy's weapons will already have been used in a 
strike, or would be used before they could be hir. After 1975 MIRVs appeared, which 
:tllowed a single missile to attack several targets at once. 

Brezhnev was not a military~technical man and did not have an understanding of the 
impact of military technology. Kosygin had the best such understanding, and played an 
important role in moving military thought forward. Ustinov had the best technological 
understanding, but not very good military understandin~. The conclusion from all of rhis 
is thn.t there was an understanding at both the milttary and political levels of the 
cams trophic consequences of a nuclear war. The Castro incident confinns this. 

Q: What about SSBNs? How did rhey effect the calculus? 

A: The main fear was to be late for a first strike. Survivability was not important. 
L;uer. in the early 80s, the emphasis shifted to avoidance of a war by finding alternatives 
to a massive first snik:e/reraHatory strike, and creating options on the ladder of escalation. 
This concept led to a series of technical difficulties: how to protect forces: SSBNs. 
hardened silos, etc. Later still, the I st strike was rejected outright and the retaliatory­
meeting posture (otvetno~vsrrechnyi udar), became doctrine. 

In all of these processes, both objective (scientific) and subjective (politicaVpower) 
factors played important roles, 

Q: In the Soviet view, could the USSR increase its chances for survival by gaining an 
edge in nuclear capabilities? 

A: We considered that we held advantages in cenain areas, such as throw~weight, land~ 
based systems, in comrol systems, in silo protection, in number of weapons. so we 
thought that we could win a nuclear war by striking at the Americans and then using our 
general superiority to bring the nuclear war to victory. Regarding the possibility of 
survival, it was accepted up until the beginning of the 1980s. After the rise of Gorbachev 
this assumption was put under question. But it was not just a matter of Gorbachev, 
because by this time we had 12,000 strategic nuclear warheads, it became clear that a 
preemptive strike could not guarantee protection from a retaliatory strike, that a 
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relaliatory strike is absolutely inevitable, under any conditions. A first strike could take 
out 50, 60, 80%, but the remaining 10% would be enough to completely put out of 
commission all elements of the viability of a state. and put that state to death. Under any 
scenario of actions, the damage was unacceptable. This was nat really related to 
Gorbnchcv, but rather to the evolution and development of systems. MIRVs appeared, 
other new systems. the triad was more fully developed, and besides the strategic weapons, 
huge tactical arsenals were created. which were superimposed on the situation, so the 
situation changed. Also all of our estimates regarding the secondary use of nuclear 
weapons also had their impact. What would follow the first nuclear strike, the 
irreversible changes in the world's ecology, came to be perceived as the death of 
civilization and the death of the Soviet Union. So at this stage we came to the opposite 
conclusions from before. This. in turn had its influence on strategy, then on pollcy and 
on the coming together which occurred between you and us. All of the decisions which 
were made at the strategic negotiations· at SV·l, SV-2, SV-3 [SALT l, SALT-2, 
START!· were srrongly opposed by the mililary because the concessions that we made 
outweighed the benefits by 2, 3, 4 times, but we were forced into these concessions 
because we saw that not to concede would not solve the main problem. The picture at 
these negotiations was very complicated and very dramatic. If it were described factually 
and in detail, showing what effect it had on our hearts and minds, it would be a tragedy, 
in the spirit of Shakespeare. We were forced to sign something that our hearts were 
against. 

Q: How did the Politburo and the General Staff come to the realization that nuclear 
weapons had no military utility? 

A: Neither the Politburo nor the GS came to this conclusion. The question was about 
the ratjonal use of nuclear weapons. Large scale use of nuclear weapons really does 
become senseless since it leads to mutual destruction. After this was realized, we started 
looking for ahcmatives ~~ to what levels were reductions acceptable, etc. Gorbachev 
talked about total reductions, but we in the GS did not think that this would really 
happen. We supposed that this could be some far-off prospect, but did not believe it. We 
came from the premise that an acceptable level compatible with mutual deterrence should 
be found. We still maintain that nuclear weapons should be preserved as an element of 
deterrence, given the real possibility of the appearance of nuclear arsenals among third 
countries. And the second questions of finding ways to use nuclear weapons so as to give 
them a role in deterrence. but also the role of a strategic military factor, a facror in armed 
conflict. So that those methods of using nuclear weapons that were envisioned in the 50s, 
60s and 70s are unacceptable and we need other methods. So now we are seeing the 
return of the selective strike(vyborochnyi iadernyi .udar),limited strike (ogranlchennyi 
iac/emyi udar), warning strike (predupreditel'nyi iadernyi udar), disarming strike 
(razoruzhaiushchii iadernyi udar), decapitating strike (obezglavlivaiushchii iadernyi 
udar) ... ~ u whole series of concepts allowing for the limited, flexible use of nuclear 
weapons which, on rhe one hand would not cause global ecological changes, and on the 
other hand gained the given military~strategic objectives. As to the claim that they held 
no military utility, this was not concluded. The conclusion was only that in that form, 
and on that scale. which existed before, nuclear weapons could not be used. 

Q: Did the Soviet Union accept the concept of mutually assured destruction? Was the 
strategic balance considered stable? How did the USSR gauge its vulnerability to U.S. 
nuclear forces? 

A: Itt the late 70s we talked about reaching a strategic balance. In reality, there was not 
and could not be a real military balance, because you had advantages in cenain systems; 
we had advantages in others. You were ahead in SSBNs, in control systems, in 
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protection means. ln weapon yield, in the land groupings of nuclear weapons we held the 
advantage, in early warning systems there was rough parity. But with the massive 
potential we both had, all these distinctions tended to lose their meaning. So one could 
talk about a strategic balance, meaning that under any set of conditions, each side could 
cause unacceptable damage to the other. So in this context one could draw conclusions 
about strategic parity ·equal capabilities for mutual-destruction. But the fact is that these 
were ;til theoretical conclusions. In practice it often happens differently, especially in 
military affairs. If the military an could be reduced to arithmetic, we would not need any 
war.s. You could simply look at the correlation of forces, make some calculations, and 
tell your opponent, "we outnumber you 2:1, victory is ours, please surrender.'' But in 
reality you could outnumber your opponent 3: l and still suffer a crushing defeat, like 
Hannibal defeated the Romans. or like the Gennan victories over us in '41. So the 
correlation of forces is significant, but there is also a sea of specific, subjective factors, or 
even random events, which reduce these objective factors to nil. Therefore, in theory we 
may have the possibility to totally destroy the U.S. and vice versa. But in practice this 
may not happen. In practice the result could be completely unexpected. Because perhaps 
not all of these forces you have would be used. Because in the end you might not find the 
man who will press tha! button. That depends on many, many things. In the military an 
it is impossible to make predictions because things may go otherwise than you had 
planned. Although with nuclear weapons everything is subject to analysis, calculations, 
you can say exactly what damage there will be. etc. But in practice, things may go 
otherwise. And it is the fear of that "otherwise" that forces us to modernize nuclear 
weapons. the control systems, to develop various options for their use, etc. We and rou 
both have tens of options programmed on board our rockets, depending on the situation. 
And to go from one option to another it takes just seconds now. 

Recently Yeltsin gave an order to remove the targeting programs from our weapons 
sys1en1s. But the U.S. reaction to this was very cool, even though the otder removed the 
targeting of cities. You probably did not believe us and preferred to maintain the status 
quo. 

Q: These theoretical and pmctical approaches, to what time period a:re they relevant? 

A: They apply to the latest [Gorbachev] period. 

Q: In your opinion, was nuclear war best prevented by mutual deterrence or by 
developing Soviet nuclear warfighting capabilities? Were the Soviet armed forces 
prepared to fight if nuclear deterrence failed? 

A: [beginning missing] ... On the other hand it played a deterrent role. It is an 
unprecedented historical situation which has not yet been fully understood. If deterrence 
failed, was the Soviet Union ready to fully use ils nuclear weapons? I think that we 
would not have refrained from using them. If we reached a certain threshold we would 
have pushed the button, especially under Khrushchev. Under Brezhnev there was 
already a fear and an understanding of this thing, but under Khrushchev it was absolutely 
well within the realm of the possible, both ideologically and pmctically. For instance, I 
remember being in the Nonhem Group of Forces during the Cuban Missile Crisis. We 
were ordered to stop all exercises, return to our command posts and be ready for action. 
We were completely sure that the war would begin within 24 hours. So the situadon was 
really on the edge of the precipice, and if there were a careless move on either side, it 
could have led to a nuclear war. 

Q: Did the Soviet Union adopt a launch·under·attack (ocvelno-vszrechnyi udar) 
doctrine? 

27 



Cold War Jmerview.,· Dani/evich 

A: As 1 said before. it was considered, and it was the basis for our thinking until 
rccemly, when we moved to new principles for war~ planning. 

Q: Was the Soviet retaliatory strike aimed at U.S. missile silos or only at soft military 
targets and economic infrastructure'? 

A: Yes ]Docs nm specify targets of strike] 

Q: You have said that cities were the most probable targets. Did this strategy change 
after 1972 or not until 1985? 

A: In the 60s and 70s the main targets were cities. After that the correlation or forces 
change, but cities. and economic targets and military targets were always considered as 
targets in a cenain mix.. The proportion of cities was detennined by panicular scenarios 
or Vitriants of strikes. For instance, if a first strike was planned, then military targets 
would be targeted. In a retaliatory strike, when the enemy's weapons had already been 
used, cities were targeted. But bath kinds of targets were always considered. 

Q: Was it technically difficult to change the targeting? 

A: No, it wasn't. It was difficult at first, but later different targeting orders were 
programmed into the systems and it took minutes to change from one to another. 

Q: How did the USSR intend to respond to a selective U.S. nuclear strike at the 
sttalegic level? 

A: At first, the theory of selective strikes was completely rejected. It was considered 
that we would react to .anx use of nuclear weapons, even a single nuclear explosion, by a 
massive retaliatory strike with our full arsenal of weapons. Later this thinking began to 
change. Later we also considered the possibility of limited nuclear strikes, including 
different scenarios of limited strikes. For example, only tactical strikes in cenain zones, 
only cenain categories of targets. So we began 10 accept the American point of view in 
this, which caused changes in our political situation and also changes in our forces. In 
short, as we began to understand the catastrophic consequences of the unlimited use of 
nuclear weapons, we concluded that it was inevitable to have some intermediate or 
transitional period from conventional to partial or warning use of nuclear weapons, 
designed to stop further escalation, but it was always understood that any use of nuclear 
weapons rhreatened its: full~scale use. So it was a very slippery situation. 

Q: Did you believe that the Soviet Union was capable of winning a war in Europe with 
only conventional arms? 

A: Yes, based on the fact that our forces greatly outnumbered the forces of NATO. 
There were differem assessments of our chances. We had some plans which called for an 
advance to the English Channel. Later we limiled our appetites. our goals, but we 
thought it was realistic to achieve victory in Europe using our strategic advantages, 

Q; How would Soviet forces respond to a srnall~scale U.S. strike using tactical nuclear 
weapons? 

A: We always understood that the U.S. held certain advantages in this area and that the 
silUiltion was unequal. With a tactical nuclear strike, you can hit targets on the tenitory 
of our allies: Poland, Czechoslovakia; and moreover, with tactical snikes you can reach 
only targets on European territory. A clearly \lnequal situation. To balance it, we 
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considered limited use of nuclear weapons. but limited not by the size of the charge -­
tactical or operational, but, by the kind and size of the target. So we considered a limited 
bal<mcing strike against certain targets in the United States, not with tactical, but with 
stmtcgic weapons. Of course, this was all tentative and subject to political direction. but 
there was this "dosage" strategy. 

Q: What would have been the response to a limited stnttegic strike from the territory of 
the U.S. on the Soviet Union,limited in terms of the number of weapons? 

A: As I say, and this has been published in the open press, the answer would have been 
full-scule. We took this position because we thought it would play a deterrent role vis-a­
vis the Americans. It would make them afraid to make a limited strike. 

Q: Out U.S. strategists in the late 70s called for initial attacks on the radar locations 
north of the Arctic Circle to demonstrate ... 

A: We don't really understand this position of the Americans. They even said that 
jamming of the early warning system would be considered as a nuclear altack and lead 
immediately to the use of nuclear weapons. This was not a serious statement, given that 
there were numerous occasions when the warning systems gave signals that could have 
been interpreted as a nuclear attack. Therefore, these kinds of statements and actions like 
early warning jamming, could not have led to nuclear war, although they led to an 
aggravation of relations, and malfunctions did happen. But an actual nuclear strike 
against specific targets, even on a limited scale, would quickly have led to nuclear 
escalation on a global scale. But, as I say, all of this was subject to change and 
development, and these views were always changing with time, and with the 
understanding of what would be the global consequences of the global use of nuclear 
weapons from just one side, not to mention both sides. 

Q: Did the USSR have plans to escalate from theater to global nuclear use? 

A: It is less a matter of plans than of the fact that the on-board scenarios allowed for 
the possibility of any actions -- against specific regions, like America, Europe, Asia, but 
to predict all of these scenarios was: impossible. You would have planned 2000 scenarios 
on paper, but the real situation would cert.Unly have been the 200!st. Therefore, at the 
base lay a concrete decision based on a concrete situation. Then, the time needed for 
.such decisions was counted in minutes, and it had to be taken at the highest political 
level. So between the planning and the scenarios of military actions there is a large 
divide. 

Q: Why did the USSR build up its SS-20 and other theater nuclear forces in the late 
1970s and early 1980s? 

A: We had R-12 (SS-4) and R-14 (SS-5) missiles, of which there were stationary and 
mobile variants. These missiles were not fully modem. The SS-20 was a mobile, solid­
fuel missile, which made possible the solution of problems at a totally different level. 
Also, we had a competition ** you were developing the Minuteman, Midgetman, and the 
Typhoon· Trident missile. And we were also developing various new strategic weapons. 
And the SS-20 was a breakthrough, unlike anything the Americans had. We were 
immediately able to hold all of Europe hostage. Therefore, in the strategic sense, this 
decision was justified. And in the technological sense it was a breakthrough. But we did 
not anticipate some of the consequences of their deployment. The Pershing II only 
appeared about 10 yean later, and that made us rethink the original decision. It was of 
enom1ous advantage to us. By the way, in many kinds of strategic weapons. perhaps with 
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the exception of MIRVs, the Soviet Union had the advantage. For instance, we began 
developing submarine-based ballistic missiles at a time when the U.S. never for a minute 
thOllght about developing them. But Khrushchev unilaterally shut them ofr. So the 
scientific and technological ideas were there as a product of the confrontation between 
our countries. Our design bureaus were working in this direction, and so were yours. We 
both knew that if there were a breakthrough, it would take a certain amount of time to 
develop means to counteract it, and that every such time lag gave a temporary 
technological superiority, and that technological superiority allowed political pressure to 
be brought to bear. and all of this was linked into a single chain. So there were 
ted no logical, strategic and political reasons for funher development of systems. But we 
never thought that we would some day have to destroy these missiles. It made sense, of 
course, when, I don't remember which president proposed the Zero Option, of not 
imroducing intermediate·range forces to Europe, because we did not believe that it was 
possible, but in the end we were forced to accept this plan on terms not favorable to us. 

Q: Was the Soviet Union striving for strategic nuclear superiority? 

A: Of course we strove to achieve superiority, just like you did. We chose different 
paths; we emphasized land-based systems; you emphasized sea-based systems; we tried 
to catch up in this field, and actually ovenook you at one point. So it was a natural 
process caused by political factors in the world. 

Q: Was it a competition in quality as well as quantity? 

A: Our primary tendency was to overtake you in quantity. Later the question became 
one of quality also. We were behind in the control systems, in the protection of silos, and 
we tried to catch up. In such areas as MIRVs you put us in a difficult position. And this 
very highly complex technological problem was solved by us in a very shon period of 
time. 

Q: What was the aim of the Soviet arms buildup'! Was the USSR trying to acquire a 
first-strike potential (for political reasons) or the capability to destroy the United States in 
a rewliatory strike? 

Q: Were panicula.r nuclear weapons developed and deployed in order to fulfill specific 
military missions? 

A: Yes, precisely for military missions. It was later that the tenn "deterrence" 
appeared, which was first invented by politicians, but in time we ourselves came to rely 
on it. But they wereweapons, not means of deterrence, but weapons. Later, they came to 
be looked upon as a means of deterrence. 

Q: Did the General Staff have more influence over force structures than the Military 
Dcp;mment of the Central Committee (Voennyi O!del)? 

A; Well, there was no such thing as the Military Depanment of the Central Committee. 
There was the Defense Council (Sover Oborony), which solved military problems, a 
government-Party organ, the military took part in it. Of course, the General Staff 
developed proposals, developed assessments and forecasts, and greatly influenced 
military decisions. But the final say belonged lO the political·military leadership. 

Q: Under what circumstances was the Soviet Union prepared to employ chemical 
weupons'? Wh\lt kinds of chemical agents were contemplated for use? 
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A: Chemical weapons were considered to be a secondary means of armed conflict. 
since with the advent of nuclear weapons chemical weapons had lost their significance. 
We pl:mned for its use only in the sense that if events did not reach the nuclear stage, we 
could adequately respond to the U.S. without resorting to the nuclear potential. Although 
chemical weapons are n means of mass destruction, it is incomparable in its consequences 
with nuclear weapons. It does not lead to rhe death of humanity, but it does carry 
enormously tragic consequences. But they are limited and localized in nature. They were 
developed primarily as a secondary means in the conduct of anned conflict. But it was 
assumed that if we reached the nuclear stage, then we would not spare anything and we 
would use chemical weapons on a scale that would be possible, but we did not attach any 
gre:tt hopes to it. Desptte the relative unimportance of chemical weapons, the Soviet 
Union could not concede to the U.S. superiority in this field and matched all U.S. means, 
including delivery and agents used. We could deliver it by means of aircraft bombs, and 
rockets, in sufficient amounts. The arsenals were on the order of thousands of tons. So 
we were ready for chemical warfare, but only as a retaliatory means. 

Q: In your view, did Pershing-2 and cruise missiles give U.S. forces the capability to 
launch a surprise attack on Soviet territory? 

A: Y cs, both types of weapons were perceived as a very serious threat, since their time 
of flight was only 6 minutes to vitally imponam regions. The flight times to U.S. targets 
were 32~35 minutes. Also, our air defense systems were not designed to detect such 
missiles. And pushed us to such a quick response. You had hardly deployed one third of 
these missiles and we were already compromising. They were considered to be a great 
threat ro our administrative~political centers, and the possibility of a surprise attack was 
very threatening, although we did possess a huge arsenal of medium-range SS-20 missiles 
which could completely destroy Europe in response to such a strike. 

Regarding cruise missiles, these appeared later. Actually, we began work on them 
in the 50s. There was Chelomei, who was the ideologue of cruise missiles, and there was 
a great competition between the two directions: ballistic missiles and cruise missiles. 
Khrushchev was a good friend of Chelomei and he supported him in the development of 
cruise missiles. In shon, we began co develop cruise missiles at nbout the same time as 
you. und we won some measure of technological superiority, but later, during the 60s and 
early 70s, there was sharply more emphasis on ballistic missiles, and work on cruise 
missiles was abandoned. By the late 70s, we again returned to cruise missiles, but we had 
lost time and the U.S. had a new generation of cruise missiles which we again had to 
catch up. There were no warning sys1ems for cruise missiles. There were no and are no 
mcuns to imercept ballistic missiles and whether or not SDI is possible is ... we still think 
that this problem is not resolvable for now. But at least there were means of detection. 
We could detect both the launch and the flight and predict where the missile would hit, 
and thereby activate our own forces. Regarding the cruise missiles, we did not even have 
the means to detect them. Therefore, there was this double jeopardy. Especially 
thre:uening were the land-based and sea~based classes of cruise missiles, which put us in 
a very serious position. They caused serious worries in the OS and in the political~ 
military leadership in general. And so we began intensive research and development 
progmms. But to this day we do not have parity, and this aggravated by the fact that the 
Americans are constantly trying to take these weapons out of the negotiations. Even this 
latest agreement does not involve cruise missiles. And this threatens to upset the strategic 
balance by thousands of weapons. This is a cause of serious concern, although in the 
technolog1cal arena the situation is more equal and in response to your missiles, we can 
now use our own. But the geophysical conditions are such that they give the U.S. an 
advantage in the use of cruise missiles. I mean the naval and air bases which still 
surround the Soviet Union, our distance from you, all give great advantages to the 
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Amcric~ns. Second, cruise missiles can be used to carry both nuclear and conventional 
warbe;1ds. Their use in the Persian Gulf showed them to be highly effective, in 
combination with good targeting systems. This creates a second problem. I think that if 
what happened to the Soviet Union had not happened, this would have reached a balance. 
But now our state does not have the means to develop cruise missiles, and all of these 
considerations become secondary. 

Q: Were decisions on force development and deployment based on expert analysis, 
partit:ulurly on quantitative analysis? 

A: Of course there were various studies made for all kinds of weapons systems; 
different variants and solutions were suggested; different weapons systems were 
suggested. Right now, because of the development of weapons based on new physical 
prindplesM·neutron weapons, low-frequency weapons, and others.~~these began first in 
the U.S., and we also, as a measure of adequate response, began R&D work in Jaser 
weapons, and these other areas, and reached certain successes. I don't know how these 
studies will be conducted now, as now there are not the means nor the scientific cadres, 
nm. most important, the full.fledged financial support to do it. The work i.s being 
conducted in the U.S., and is continuing here to some degree, but the solutions are very 
cornplc)(, the temporal parameters are very problematic in the near tenn, so it is very 
difficult to say when and if these new weapons will appear, and if we will be able to 
create them. I think: that the Americans will be able to create them. Regarding ounelves, 
my personal opinion is that right now we do not have the social and economic resources 
to bring these research and development programs to fruition. But the American 
advantage in these fields will not be of great significance, given the current political­
militotry situation because that situation is such that, to be frank the Americans can reach 
their political goals relative to the Soviet Union freely without any war, and they are 
doing just that. 

Q: The essence of the questions is what roles did research and analysis play? 

A: Well, I have already said, the recommendations of the research organizations and 
design bureaus were taken into consideration, but the decisive word was that of the 
political and military leaders. Whatever they decided. that was the system that was 
developed; that system had the priority; all efforts and financial resources were focused 
on it, etc. 

Q: Did the Politburo inner circle of Brezhnev, Ustinov, Gromyko and Suslov listen to 
the :~dvice of the General Staff? 

A: Suslov participated in the Defense Council, but he had very weak influence on 
miliwry matters because that is not what he did. He worked mainly ideological issues. 
Gmmyko had some influence, and he had his own opinions, although he had a weak 
understanding of military affairs. Ustinov, of course, had great influence, he knew his 
stuff. Ilrezhnev also had a great influence, although he was not current on the issues, but 
he did do a lot of work on missiles and cosmonautics, i.e. he was familiar with these 
issues. There were two kinds of questions: military~technical and political-military. Of 
course, the majority of military-technical programs were developed in the General Staff 
and were put up for discussion in the Politburo and the Defense Council by the General 
Staff :Uld the General Staff had a decisive: significance for the adoption of decisions. The 
decisions were not always supportive of the General Staff for various reasons, but the 
opinion o[ the General Staff was very significant. But not all of the proposals of the 
General Staff were adopted, especially when the contradicted political considerations and 
when they conflicted with the policies of disarmament in the latest period, when 
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Shcvardnadze came into power, when Gromyko also followed this line regarding 
reaching arms control agreements, etc. The General Staff always expressed strictly 
professional views, based on the real correlation of forces, on the advantages that one or 
the other side would receive, based on our strategic military plans, on our operational* 
technk:al plans. We attempted to defend these positions in order to minimize the damage 
to our side. The politicians based their decisions on different considera.tions: the 
rel;t.xation of imernational tensions, the improvement of relations. More often than not, 
they won out. In this case, the considerations of the General Staff were rejected und the 
decision did not reflect them. 

Q: Did Ustinov and the chief designers consider there to be a need for rapid 
technological improvement in Soviet weaponry and command and control? 

A: Yes, Ustinov understood this and ordered many R&D programs in this regard. 
They were conducted with some lag behind the required deadlines. because there were 
many difficulties. Of course Ustinov understood this need and facilitated these efforts to 
a considerable degree, although he played a dual role. On the other hand, he exercised 
considerable influence in the ntilitary~industrial complex and knew all the subtleties. 
Even during the war, when he was the minister for annaments. he never entered a plant 
through the front door, but always from the back, so that he really knew the full story of 
the military industry. It was very difficult to fool him. He was feared, and the 
industrialists and OKBs acknowledged his absolute authority. But at the same time, he 
allO\ved certain weaknesses in relation to them. Orechko, for example, when 
perfom1ance did not meet specifications, or when it was suggested to procure certain 
weapons systems even though they were not fully developed, he categorically rejected 
these suggestions and objected very strongly to the industrialists, and put them up against 
the wall. But Ustinov, even thou~h he also scolded them, in the end he would give up 
and concede to them, because the mdustrialist were closer to him than the strategists. So 
he was full of internal contradictions. He acted as the client, the contractor and the 
customer. In practice his position was such that he was often forced to compromise with 
himself. It seems that he should have played a. tremendous role in military-technical 
progress~~ in a quick leap forward in our military technical capabilities, and there was a 
certain leap. But it did not tum out to be as great as it could have been if there had been 
division of responsibilities. 

Q: Did he represent the interests of the industrialists or of the military? 

A: He stood on the edge of the blade, and waffled in both directions. He stood on the 
border. On the one hand he considered the interests of the military, and on the other 
hand, those of the military-industrial complex. But more often, since he worked there for 
30 years, he sided with the military-tndustrial complex. But he understood the 
requirements. Take Grechko; take Malinovskii. All of them considered foremost the 
military~strategic objectives, the political objectives, which demanded the creation of 
wenpons in order to achieve them. Under Ustinov, we had weapons, and the strategic 
objectives were subordinated and built around the weapons, although this was not quite 
righ<. In this way, he put pressure on Ogarkov, etc. In any great figure, including Stalin, 
including the politicians, the military leaders, you cannot find anyone who is whole, who 
can be characterized in a single word or by a single action. They are all self­
contradictory. It is the same with out military leaders~~their decisions, their actions were 
self-contradictory. It cannot be otherwise-~such is life. 

Ustinov was not a conservative, and he appreciated and understood the significance 
of new technologies, new systems. modernization, etc., and did not simply reject them. 
But the personal relationships with panicular OKBs was also significant. When there 
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wa~ difficult decisions and it is difficult to choose between two technologies that are 
being proposed, and both have positive qualities, and neither has yet been built, and it is 
hard to see the results, then the personal relationships come into the fore. I trust you, you 
are closer to me because of joint work, and 1 tend toward your solution, although often it 
is the wrong choice. And the other technology, which would sometimes prove itself to be 
desirable in the future, was neglecced. There was n time when Khrushchev wamed to do 
away with tanks altogether. And be(:ause of relationship with Chelomei, we fell 10 yean 
behind in ballistic missiles. And if you look for some rational reason, you will be lost. 
When I first came to the General Staff in 1963, I thought that every decision was 
thoroughly worked out and researched until they got the right answer. Later I understood 
that this was not so. Often the leadership will come, look, and simply say. "This is all 
nonsense~ do it this way." And thal's it. 

I assume it is the same with you. Maybe not, because you have somewhat less 
latitude. But with us, these subjective factors had tremendous significance. ahhough of 
course, in the final tally, because of objective reasons, our line of behavior paralleled 
yours. Even in strategic thought and concepts, now you were ahead, now we were, now 
we both made the same blunder, now we both did something useful. Life imposed certain 
borders which limited the stupidities. In the end, reality and practice pointed out the 
voluntaristic errors, which were subsequently corrected. 

J have raised only one side of the story·~the objective and subjective processes 
which operated in the Soviet Union. But you have to add to that the political-military 
situation, the technological policies of the U.S., the breakthroughs that you achieved, the 
struggles that went on there--all of this was taken into consideration. Take the 
intelligence data. You confused us terribly. Remember the group missile basing options 
you considered, and other variants of systems. Or we had infonnation that you were 
developing silos hardened against 1000kg/cm2. We had to investigate it all. All of this 
was superimposed on the whole. 

34 



Subject: 

Position: 

Locnlion: 

Datcfrime: 

Dur:1tion: 

l~mguage: 

Prctmrcd by: 

RECORD OF INTERVIEW 

Gen.-Col. (Ret.) Andriian. A. Danilevich 

Fonner Operations Aide to Chief of General Staff MillS hal 
Ogarkov. A GenerJI officer with 25-years e•perience supervising 
analytical effons in the General Staff. He was a senior advisor to 
fonner Chiefs of the Gener.ll Staff on issues of military doctrine in 
the 1970s and 1980s. 

Institute of Military History, Moscow 

John G. Hines 

September 24, 1992, 12 noon 

Appro•. 1.5 hrs. toml 

Russian 

Ellis Mishulovich, based on audio cassette tape 

Q: Regarding the effect of the development of MlRVs on counterforce vs. 
countcrvalue targeting sttategies. 1st snike strategy, ere. 

A: Regarding the targeting policy and the choice of targets, when the rocket forces 
were first created, they possessed certain technical characteristics. One of the 
shortcomings of these first missile systems, like the R-162, which was one of the main 
imercontinental systems, consisted in che facf that the probable radius of error was from 
2· 3 km. This despite the fact that they possessed fairly powerful warheads, ranging from 
hundreds of kilotons to 8 or 10 megatons. But their radius of accuracy was limited, and 
their number wns limited. When Khrushchev boasted about how we produced missiles 
like sausages, the fact was that we could launch only 20Qw250 missiles. So we planned to 
use them with the maximum possible effectiveness by delivering the maximum possible 
dmnage with this limited number of missiles. Therefore, they were all aimed at the 
biggest cities: New York, Washington, Los Angeles, San Francisco, etc. In order to 
increase the effectiveness of the strike and yield the maximum possible damage, this 
group of missiles had to be increased quickly, and this is one of the reasons for 
Khrushchev's decision to deploy medium-range missiles in Cuba, the so-called R-12. 
These were 60 missiles which allowed us to increase the results of a strike. In effect this 
move targeted practically all U.S. cities with a population of 300,000- 400,000. As for 
the military targets, they would be auacked incidentally (paputno) because many 
communications nodes, airfields, control centers are close to cities. Centers of military 
industry are also in cities. This problem was solved poputno. Although in the main, the 
attack was aimed at population cemers, large administrative centers, and it was 
considered that such a strike would have lethal consequences for the United States. Also 
it must be mentioned that the majority of the strikes were planned to be ground bursts, not 
air bursts. This means that the whole territory of the U.S. would be subject to 
contamination through radioactive fallout, and in the end this would lead to the death of 

2rossibly Korolcv's Rwl6 (NATO description SS..8l of which 23 were deployed. 
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the "Hire population, or the greater part of the population because ground bursts of such 
power would produce tremendous levels of radiation. We did not think at the time that 
this fallout would eventually reach the Soviet Union, and eventually would have dreadful 
consequences for our own country. There was no research done on this subject at the 
time. So this was the basis for our nuclear strategy. 

Whar kinds of missiles were there? They were liquid~fueled. It was impossible to 
keep them fueled continuously. So they were stored empty. Next to them were the fuel 
stores - the oxidizer and the fuel itself. They wen: fueled at the very last moment before 
launch. All of this took 5 ~ 6 hours. Furthermore, in the 50s and 60s most of the missiles 
were land~based. A pan was based in silos with limited protection, but the warheads 
were stored separately. In order to make the missiles combat~ready the warheads had to 
be coupled to them. This took another 2 - 3 hours. So the ready times were quite long 
and it was dif!icuh to talk of a retaliatory strike. The calculus was such that your missiles 
abo had limited destructive characteristics, and therefore a considerable pan of the 
missiles would be left unused [sic ). But the most important thing was to be able to 
strike. The goal was this: not to be late ~ to be the first to deliver a slrike. To stall as 
long us possible, but not to be late. The strike must be first because if it is a second, 
retaliatory strike, the,n it will be practically ineffective because of the long ready~times. 
And not just against missiles, because we would not be able to retaliate at all, since our 
missiles or our control systems would be damaged to some degree. 

But in time our missiles were improved. For example there was the mass­
produccd3 U-100 missile. This was a missile based in a silo, which had protection 
against several kilograms per square centimeter overpressure; it was pre-fueled 
(ampulizirooonaia), i.e. all of the fuel components were contained inside tanks within the 
missih::; and it was stored with the warhead on board. Therefore the ready~times were 
reduced to minutes. This led to other paradigms. As a result, we now had 2 strike 
possibilities: a preemptive suike (uprezhdaiushchii udar), and a retaliatory strike. There 
w;1s al~o an improvement of the tactical~technicul characteristics, because not only were 
the n;ady·times reduced, but the silo protection was also improved. Whereas before we 
had protection of 2 kg/cm2, for incidental nuclear explosions at a range of, say 5 km, 
now we had to deal with close hits. So there were now two options; retaliatory and 
preemptive strikes. 

The majority of our strikes were directed against administrative~political centers. 
Latl.!r there appeared various large targets, large nodes, large naval bases. but mainly large 
area wrgets (ploshchadnye tsell), control centers, etc. 

Q: Were they targeted in a first strike, or retaliatory strike? 

A: Both first and retaliatory. It did not make any difference, because we did not know 
which would survive, which would not ... There remained a reserve of forces so that if the 
most important targets were not desttoyed in a preemptive strike, we meant to destroy 
them in a second strike. 

Now, how did this situation change with the appearance of MIRVs? First of all, the 
number of warheads increased 8 • 10 times. So now cities with populations in the tens of 

3rrob.•bly manufacturer's model number for the missile given the NATO designation~.S5-11. 
Also idCiltifiOO as the RS-10 by the Soviet Strategic Rocket Forces. The missile was deployOO in 
the t:mly St'vcntics. 
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thousands, rather than hundreds of thousands were targeted. A town of 50,000 or even 
less was now a target, because there were 12,000 warheads or some such number. In 
mhcr words, it was now possible to deliver massive destruction of targets on the tenitory 
of tho United States, although not all of the targets were in the United States. They were 
planned all across the world - China, England, Europe, other continents, i.e. on a global 
system of targets. 

llut most important, the control systems were advancing, and the possibility 
emerged of a multi~variant use of forces: preemptive, retaliatory, retaliatory~meeting 
strike (orvetno-vstrechnyi udar). First, there were different variants against specific 
regions: only Europe, or, say, only America, or both Europe and America, or only China. 
There was now also the possibilily of choosing the category of targets: only military, or 
only cities, or both. Bm fundamentally, the planning was to hit borh military targets and 
cilic:s ttl the same time. ahhough the proportion of military sites to cities was subject to 
chanse, depending on the kind of strike. For example, in the case of a preemptive strike, 
it was imponant to reduce the effectiveness of the U.S. retaliatory measures against 
targets on our side. In that case, the majority of targets was to be military. All missiles, 
airllelds, control centers:, naval bases were targeted. But a ponion was aimed ilt cities, 
and. in fact, there was more than enough for every city, and not just one warhead. 

Q: What time frame are we talking about here? 

A: The turning point came in the period between 73 and 75. In the case of a 
retaliatory strike, or a retaliatory-meeting strike, when there has already been a launch of 
your missiles, it was senseless to strike at missiles, and those forces that were aimed at 
your nlissiles were automatically, from a distance, switched to a different program and 
were ;limed at cities. So the effectiveness of destruction of those cities already targeted 
was increased. and in addition, less important cities were also targeted. So this was the 
policy. Thus the changes in technological possibilities were tied to the changes in the 
nuclear strategy itself. There was a shift from the strategy of massive retaliation 
(straregiia massirovanogo vozdeisrviia) which you and we had, to a strategy of a flexible 
usc of nuclear weapons. This involved not only these various variants for strikes, but we 
also came to accept the possibility of a lengthy conventional war, and did not begin and 
end the war with the use of nuclear weapons. We wanted to distance ourselves from the 
nuclear threshold, just as you did. And in this connection there arose the possibility of 
"dosage" (limited) use of, at first tactical, bmlater on strategic nuclear weapons, and still 
later there appeared the possibility of such multi-scenario use. Up until75 or 76 Grecilko 
unequivocally maintained the following position: he rejected all variants for the limited 
usc of nuclear weapons, and assened that we would respond to any use, in any 
geographic region, of even tactical nuclear weapons, with a fullwscale use of our nuclear 
potential, both strategic and operationalRtactical. We did not hide this. Members of our 
military leadership considered it essential that the opponent should know this, and that 
this should act as a means of detem=nce. Moreover, we thou~ht that a limited nuclear war 
is totally unacceptable to us, as it puts us in an extremely difficult position, because the 
theater of its use would be limiced to Europe and the European territory of the Soviet 
Union, while the U.S. would remain outside of the range of tactical nuclear weapons. So 
the asymmetrical consequences of such a war forced us to be critical of such concepts. 
We rejected them and both Schlesinger's and Brown's statements were considered to be 
provocations and we did not yield to them. 

So at first the possibility of a second strike was considered highly dubious. Later 
on, when the possibility of a second strike was guaranteed, and it was clear that 
regardless of whether or not there were a preemptive strike by the U.S. we would have 
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enough forces left to deliver unacceptable damage, this, together with the realization of 
the c:uastrophic consequences of the use of nuclear weapons on this scale. eventuallr,. 
with some time lag, forced us to tend toward your concept of "flexible response', 
although we did not use that tenn. We introduced the term. "new periodization of war". 
At first there was a two..stage periodization: initial period and subsequent period. The 
initial period was the massive nuclear exchange, and the subsequent period was the 
concluding period which was the deployment of operations - land operations and sea 
operations which would use the results of these nuclear strikes. Now we arrived at a new 
stnucgic periodization based on other principles: a period of non-nuclear actions, then a 
period of limited nuclear actions, then a period of unlimited nuclear actions and lastly the 
concluding period. So these were four periods designated based not on the character of 
the use of anned forces, but on the character of the usc of weapons [sic). 

Q: Approximately when did this periodization change? 

A: It was approximately 1976- 77. It was arrived at gradually. It did not change 
overnight But it was finally, officially documented in approximately 1974- 1976 isic ). 
And we remained at this position up until recent times. Although after 1978, or even 79 
and the beginning of the 80s, we renounced the use of a preemptive strike. This variant 
wo.1!-: removed from considetation. 

Q; This happened during Ustinov's tenure in June of 1982? 

A: Perhaps it did happen during Ustinov's tenure. We rejected the preemptive strike 
and moved to a tw~option use of nuclear weapons. i.e. only in a retaliatory~meeting 
strike, when systems are launched based on data from4 SPRN systems, when launches 
have already been detected, and in a retaliatory strike, when the launches have not only 
already been detected, but we have aheady suffered hits and we use our remaining forces 
to retaliate. These were the two options. As for the preemptive strike, it was completely 
removed from all theoretical studies and all exercises. 

Q: Was the retaliatory~meeting strike conceived of only in the 1980s, or prior 10 that 
time? 

A: It was created approximately at the bound.1ry between the late 70s and early 80s. 
Dut it did not depend only on the size of the forces and these other considerations that l 
have already talked about, but also on the creation of warning systems. At first there 
were no such systems. Then there were only above the horizon systems (nadgorizontnye 
sistemy); there were no over~the~horizon systems (zagorizontnye sistemy). [Unclear ... } 
These systems were not sufficiently reliable. They did not allow the reliable detection of 
launches. The only way to reliably determine the beginning of an attack is through 
human intelligence, but it is dubious that such data could be obtained. And, of course 
after the fact [after nuclear hits the attack can be detected). But after the fact you can no 
longer have a retaliatory~meeting strike, but only a retaliatory strike. But when the 
network of over~the~horizon systems was developed and deployed, and after that space· 
based warning systems, artificial satellites1 then it was possible to move to the concept of 
the retaliatory-meeting strike. But, still in the technological sphere, not only this 
technology played a part, but you also needed an automated control system which could 
provide instantaneous ..• [data on the strike] in seconds. With manual control this is 
completely impossible. In other words, a whole range of factors: technological, strategic, 

4 Early waming systelt'\$ (probable expansion- sistemy pre:duprezhdeniia raketnoro napadenii4-~ 
missile nttack warning systems). 
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political conditioned the whole development of this idea and the rejection of one variant 
and the adoption of a seeond and then a third. l think that the same factors played to 
some degree the same roles in the U.S., although your scientists were in a rush and even 
though the necessary conditions did nor yet exist you would adopt the corresponding 
concepts or postures. This baffled us, we could not see why you took such steps. We 
denmmced them. then we would begin ourselves to look for solutions, and thus you 
would push us to further improvements and developments. 

Q: But even when, in the mid-70s, you took the official stand of "all against any", in 
other words that you use all your potential in response to any use of nuclear weapons, 
there was already some understanding in the GS or in the Politburo that in case of a real 
war, you should have 1he technical ability ro react somehow using less than total force? 

A: Well, first of all, the "all against any" concept was the simplest policy; second, we 
counted on the fact that it would be a deterrent, i.e. we would not let you play around, as 
you intended, for example, by using battlefield nuclear weapons in Europe, and other 
scenarios which were very dangerous for us. We did not want you to play out any of 
these scenarios, and so we wanted to deter you {sderzhat'} by frightening [ispugat'} you 
into the realization that you would not be left on the sidelines. that we would strike 
mas~ively against your territory. But how we actually would have acted, I would not 
venture to say. I suspect that if events would have forced an actual decision, they would 
have paused to think: do we need to do it? Are we able to do it? Although officially, 
both theory and practical planning were based on this variant. But theory and practice do 
nol always coincide with real decisions. So these decisions, even at that time might have 
been different. And later on, as I say, after the mid~ 70s, we fully gave up that concept of 
all :1gainst any. We decided that it was not necessary to use nuclear weapons right away, 
that our answer could be a limited "dosage", or could be proportional. For instance, you 
deliver 200 hits, and we deliver 200 bits. Or we respond with 250 hits. You deliver 200 
battlefield strikes directed at our order of battle, and we strike at your order of battle, plus 
an additional number of strikes. In other words. it is a kind of escalation. There could 
also be an inverse proportion: you deliver. say, 20 hits. and we respond with 10 hits. 
Meanwhile there is an exchange of statements, a diplomatic war is being waged with the 
aim of stopping this escalation. So in exercises we played out many different scenarios 
bas!!d on different guesses of how you would respond. But they were just guesses. I 
remember that you had one wargame where different former ~residents and former 
Secretaries of Defense got together, and they played out a scenano of a war based on a 
confrontation around Iran. There were two teams: one side played the Soviets, and on the 
mher side there was a fanner president, 1 don't remember now which one - maybe it was 
Nixon· and actual former Secretaries of Defense. They made the decisions on the U.S. 
side. So they played out this scenario and it was very interesting. But if you could have 
taken those Soviet leaders and forced them to play on one side of this game, it would 
probably have been a big step forward, in the sense that we would have approached the 
situation that we arc close: to now. 

I am thinking that, in reality, we have no adversaries now: you do not consider us an 
adversary. and we do not consider you an adversary. But in a situation such as we had in 
the 70s and 80s when we were afraid ... Although I must say that even despite all of the 
propaganda, we inside the GS did not really believe that you would attack, although there 
were some frightening situations. I don't know about your military, but your politicians 
also probably said one thing, but their thoughts were somewhat more restrained relative 
to the possibility of a real attack:. But the fact that there was no war was due to many 
fuctors: technological. and political. Both played an imponant role. 
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Q: So these plans to retaliate only against Europe, or only against the U.S., e•isted 
until the mid-70s? 

A: They e.isted up until very recently. l told you before that in 1972 there was one 
exercise with the participation of the political leadership. After that, the political 
leadership did not participate in any of these events even once. And the military 
leadership scrupulously developed all of these scenarios of action in exercises, etc., but 
the political leadership did not participate. I don't know about your side, but by the data 
thou I received, the President would very actively participate in such exercises and in the 
development of different options for decisions. But our political leadership just did not 
get around to it. Khrushchev took these questions very seriously. In missile technology, 
for example, he had a lot of input. including some revolutionary approaches. He 
destroyed our whole artillery and began deploying the rocket forces instead at a time 
when !here were vinually no missiles. But he ordered a drastic reduction in artillery. He 
destroyed our whole air force. We had huge fighter aviation and bomber aviation groups. 
But he was able in a very short period of time to create a new branch of forces - the 
strategic missile forces, which were created in 1960. All of this was done by 
Khrushchev. 

Urczhnev also was involved in these matters, but in a different way ~ through the 
Politburo. He understood and was involved in military and space and missile 
technologies. Andropov did not have time to get involved. Although at every session of 
the Politburo military decisions were made, but not in concrete tenns. Chernenko did not 
touch these matten at all. As for Gorbachev, he was involved, but in an incompetent and 
perfunctory manner. We had one exercise in Minsk in which he arrived, gave a prepared 
speech, without seeing the e•ercise itself and left The military doctrine changed at this 
tim!!. We were up against a united front when Shevardnadze and Gorbachev criticized 
us: that we are preparing to fight against the whole world, that we have an offensive 
doctrine, that it has to be changed to a defensive doctrine, and we did change it in the end, 
but in a political way. Then the "new political thinking" was born, that security was 
guaranteed not through military means, but through political means, that war was not the 
continuation of politics, although we disagree with that even now. It is the continuation 
of politics and what we saw in the Persian Gulf confirms it. But all of these established 
c::lllons were rejected, but on political grounds. As for the strategic and military­
technological aspects. here Gorbachev was not sufficiently competent to make any 
decisions. ahhough he thought that he knew nnd understood everything. 

Q: In Minsk did he speak against the solution of problems through military means? 

A: No, in Minsk he gave a different son of speech. He was attempting to find a basis 
for the theory of Perestroika: the condition of the country, why Perestroika is necessary, 
the essence of Perestroika, etc. As regards the military and defense, he did not advance 
beyond the standard~ well-known positions: the strengthening of defenses, the 
technological improvement of the armed forces, the strengthening of discipline~ and 
others. He did not advance any new strategic concepts. Just generalities: that there is a 
threat, etc.: the idea that there can be no winner in a war came later: that the United 
Slates is not an enemy, but a partner in international relations came considerably later, 
around 1989; that the priorities should be on human values also came later. But back 
then in 85 or 86 he was stilt swimming with the stream. Although even then he was 
proposing a more restrained military policy than in the past. 

Q; You said earlier that the GS never came to the conclusion that nuclear weapons 
have: no military utility. Instead, you said that it would be senseless to use 1hem only on a 
very large scale. You also said that, especially after 1980 you had come to a full 
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understanding of the ecological consequences of nuclear use. You then began to think 
about a way to create realistic and rational options. In developing these options, what did 
the GS assume regarding the reaction from the opponent? For example, if one side struck 
in a very limited way, against either the territory or the forces of the other side, how could 
one control the reaction of the other side? 

A: Of course, it is unpredictable. As Clausewitz said, "War is a sea full of underwater 
rocks which ambush the commander at every step." It very difficult to guess. There are 
very many objective factors, but there are also very many subjective factors and random 
occurrences as well, which can tum the course of events in any direction. And in military 
industry, military theory and practice, one usually relies on the most adverse, the most 
difficult scenarios. And this forces one sometimes to keep to the most extreme positions. 
So, for instance, why did we create such an enonnous nuclear arsenal? Or such a large 
number of tanks? It is because we expected the worst • that we would lose them, they 
would be destroyed, etc. If we had counted on reasonable or on the most likely 
outcomes. then maybe such decisions would not have been taken. Our starting point was, 
"What if?" If we are ready for the worst. then we are also ready for a nonnal course of 
events. The events of 1941 showed us what can happen to the country. Because of that 
the worst was expected. Because of that marginal decision were made. Because of that 
we produced more than was necessary. 

MacNamara conducted a very reasonable calculation of the limits of a strate~ic 
nuclear arsenal. but you exceeded it by a large amount. and so did we, notwithstandmg 
the fact that the limit planned by MacNamara was quite sufficient to attain the entire 
complex of strategic objectives that realistically stood before your armed forces. You 
exceeded this limit, and meant to go on further, and if events had not interfered we both 
would have gone on building. And now there are new possibilities to build a whole 
complex of even more destructive weapons, based on new physical principles: laser 
weapons, low-altitude weapons, [unclear] weapons, hell knows what kinds of weapons, 
and they might have appeared. And SDI, with all of its pluses and minuses, and space­
based weapons systemst and super-EMP, and God~ knows what else. All of these would 
have been superfluous, because what we have now is enough to destroy humanity 10 
times over. Lenin taught that we must have all of the weapons that our opponents have. 
So we strove to produce everything that you had. And the same principle operated for 
you. I have already said that we designed SSBNs before you did. But Khrushchev 
rejected them. We began to build submarine-based cruise missiles. Then you developed 
the Pioneers,S I think. But yours had medium ranges. Your range was at first 2000km, 
then 4,000km, 8,000km... But we immediately began to build similar systems with 
ranges of 8~10,000km. i.e. intercontinental sub~based missiles. Then there were the 
Tridents. So there was a competition. We saw what you were building, and repeated it, 
but on a higher level. The U.S. first developed MIRVs, but we later not only caught up, 
but passed you in MlRVed systems, both in quality standards and in control and in 
accllmcy. We strove to avoid an imbnlance. We were not always successful: in 
intelligence systems, in RM systems1 in command and control systems, we were 
cansislently behind you. So this process of competition in military technology was very 
complex and contradictory, not like a straight line. It was rather a pair of ascending, 
imertwining curves. 

5Probably referring to th~ Polaris SSBN. 
6Pnssibly abbreviation of rt.m~tdivafel'no·rulh/yudat'elnye {rcronnaissancc-obscrvation) systems. 
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Q: You said yesterday that in the technological competition in the means of command 
and control and in silo protection the U.S. was consistently ahead of the Soviet Union. 
With regard to silo protection. we thought that the opposite was true. 

A: Well, that is not right because, as I say, at the time when our silos had protection of 
2kg, you were already building silos protected against 2lkg/cm2 overpressure. So we 
thought that we were behind in protection, but we caught up. Later on we had 
information that you were building silos able to withstand 300kg!cm2, and later 
1000kgjcm2 and we started to think about that and decided that this process could be 
reduced to absurdity. We began to look for other basing options and to create a 
guaraxuc:edMsurvivability reserve on submarines and on mobile platforms. So at first we 
followed your lead, but we saw that it would lead to stupidity, because the cost of such 
[protection] measures was enonnous, and it was still useless. because we could eventually 
create silo protection of 1 million kgfcm2, but if the accuracy and the guidance are good, 
you could hit the silo, jam the doors or disrupt the control systems, and all of these 
millions [of rubles) would go to the wind. So we began to look for other means of 
defense. Also, we were receiving a lot of infom1ation, not just from classified sources, 
but from open sources. newspapers, regarding the basing of a hundred MX missiles in 
whhin a limited space, etc. We thought this was stupid, but we tried to look for the 
advantages of this kind of scheme, aJthough there may not have been any sense to this to 
begin with. 

Q: As I understand it, the Americans were planning to use air bursts at a height of 
120m. You, on the other hand planned to use ground bursts on the basis of tests that 
showed that ground bursts were much more effective against missiles in silos. At the 
same time, our estimates of vulnerability differed significantly from yours. Our measure 
of silo destruction was based on the ability to verify the destruction from space. Your 
measure of destruction of a missile was any damage that prevented that missile from 
being launched, even if it was just a jamming of the silo doors. That missile, according to 
your thinking, was considered killed Under this definition, it was almost impossible to 
completely protect a missile from a disabling hit. This is just an observation, and it may 
not hnve played an imponant role. But at the same time, this definition made us think 
that it would take many direct hits to kill a missile with overpressure so that it could be 
verified from space. Conversely, based on the Soviet analysis, a kill was much easier 10 
achieve. 

A: Generally speaking, to disable a silo it is not necessary to achieve a d.i.r«t hit. Even 
if the c•plosion is nearby, the silo itself is deformed and the missile cannot be launched. 
So that now there are all sorts of complex systems built into the silo to absorb the shock, 
because: it is like an earthquake. Now, we do not reject fixed launch sites even now 
because of certain advantages. Take radioactive fallout. Mobile platforms are vulnerable 
to it. Servicing them is very labor·intensive. FL'(ed sites are unmanned, except for the 
guards. Everything else is done by remote control. Next, mobile platforms move around, 
so the whole process of preparing a strike is complicated, while with fixed sites 
everything is in one place. But both the positive and negative factors must be considered, 
and in the end both kinds of launch platforms must be developed in parallel. Now a 
wholesale rejection of stationary platfonns is untenable. I don't know how it will be in 
the future, with all of the deep cuts. But the proportion of mobile platfonns was always 
increasing. 

Q: In the middle of the 1980s there were big changes which made it possible to target 
silos. 
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A: There were two theories which were considered: the theory of the counterforce 
strike, nnd the theory of the decapitation strike. The theory of the decapitation strike 
uimcd at disabling the control systems. This is what you were saying, the super-EM!, 
that is the air bursts, were aimed at disabling semiconductor-based control systems and 
on-board and external control systems. And the counterforce strike was aimed at the 
silos. But here it was assumed at ftrst that in order to disable a silo you needed three 
times the number of hits. But this was not efficient. because it turns out that with an 
equal number of warheads, you would use more in the countelforce strike than you would 
keep. But when we got into the very large numbern of warhead stocks - 10,000, 12,000 -
you could afford it because even with a 3:1 ratio you still had enough warheads left to 
target :ttl other categories of targets. So if at first this presented a problem, in time it 
solved itself. Secondly, 60% of your nuclear potential is on submarines. So we began to 
develop SSBNs. and eventually the number of our nuclear submarines surpassed yourn. 
But we also had problems related to basing these subs. The problem was that our missile­
carrying subs had to get close to the shores of the U.S. But you had an advanced system 
of pussive detection and antisubmarine warfare, CAESAR, etc .• and this made our subs 
very vulnerable, nor to mention the fact that it took a lot of time to send them out and 
bring them back. Plus, we were blocked in by your anti-sub barriers, both in the east and 
in 1he west, which made our access 10 open seas very difficult. So we developed 
intt:rcontinental ballistic missile submarines. But here we also had problems: how to 
defend them? Then there was the idea of launching directly from the bases. But if we do 
that, we lose the mobility. So there are many difficult problems. One more thing is 
significant: you had better hydro-acoustics. So when there is anti-submarine surveillance 
you c:m hear us, but we cannot hear you. This worried and continues to wony us. 

I just wanted to say one more thing. Now we have declared officially that we have 
no ;tdversary. But any politician can declare that. These declarations must be based on 
realistic, material decisions. And in the material sphere. movement is still dubious. Take 
the missile forces of the U.S. and Russia. Where are they aimed at, the moon? At 
Africa'! At Antan:tica? No! They arc aimed at each other. just like they were before. 
What kind of standoff is this, a "friendly" one? So this element is preserved. Ortake the 
armed forces of NATO and Russia. Those whole systems of supply, of technical 
spccitications, etc. Are they designed to wage war against African states, or Saddam 
Hussein or the Chinese? No! They are objectively, technically adapted for war with one 
another, between NATO the former Soviet Union. We prepared them for 70 years for 
such a war, and they have remained that way. Or take the PVO [Air Defense] system. 
Your theater~level PVO system is pointed where? It is pointed to defend against an 
auack from the East. It is politics that has the decisive significance because politics 
deters the use of these systems. But what if the politics change? What if some new 
forces come to power here or in the U.S., <mything can happen. So in that sense there is a 
potential danger that cannot be ignored. So I have advanced the idea of a deep 
"pcres(roika", an extensive integration of our military forces that would alleviate this 
danger. The question of absorbing Russia imo NATO, for example. But what does this 
mean: you will not agree to that because it means giving us access to your strategic 
planning, etc. There are elements of mistrust which will condition your decision. But if 
such a decision were made, it would remove the danger because the whole system of 
planning would change. I don't know about how your planning process has been 
ch;mged, but right now we have no plans at all, because we do not know against whom 
and with what to fight. All of our planning and all of our groups of forces, etc. have gone 
down the tubes. NATO remains and it says that its strategy has changed, but as for the 
concrete plans for nuclear strikes, I suspect that they remain and are maintained at the 
ready to this day. As for the whole system of other operations, I cannot envision it. But 
if NATO were a unified military alliance which would guard against threats to European 
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and global security, on the basis of a partnership and of unified planning, this would be a 
uemcndous step forward. But I guess the time is not ripe for this. 

Now a second thing. Cooperation in the area of early warning systems. Yeltsin 
moved on this, but he received no response. Cooperation in the development of unified 
intelligence systems. Cooperation in the development of, if not unified, then perhaps 
jointly·vetted air defense systems. Cooperation in the area of joint use of naval forces. 
Coopcnltion in other military areas. These are ;~II areas which could remove the lingering 
clements of distrust. 

Kirshin and I have proposed a plan detailing these and other suggestions, entitled, 
"Miliwry Aspects of the New Complex of Security in Europe". We wanted to propose it 
through the German~. but they do not wand to move on ir without U.S. suppon. 

List of Possible Areas of Cooperation; 

I) Joint assessments of stnltegic situation, planning. decisionmaking 

2) Joint intelligence, reconnaissance 

3) Joint warning systems. 

4) Joint air-defense systems 

5) Joint work on anti~missile and space systems 

6) Joint mobile task forces 

7) Integrated combat structures 

R) Integrated systems of preventing accidental launch 

9) Joint eCfons on non-proliferation 

I 0) Joint military-historical research 

ll) Integrated control links over strategic forces 

Q. You said that if the U.S. or NATO had used tactical nuclear weapons either against 
members of the Warsaw Pact. then you had possible responses which had been worked 
out, including limited nuclear strikes against the U.S. In what specific time period were 
:im:h limited options developed"! 

A: It was approximately 1978, 79, 80. And if you were to connect it with specific 
personalities, it was associated with the exit of Grechko. and the entry into the Ministry 
of Defense of Ustinov and the rise of Ogarkov as chief of the OS. But it was connected 
nm only with personalities. and not only with the political situation, but also with 
milimry-technical changes which also occurred in the anned forces, in the condition of 
the ~trategic nuclear arms. 

Q: You also said that tank production in the USSR, as I understood it, was influenced 
by I he fact that the production capacity in the U.S. was so high that in case of a. prolonged 
long war, there would not be enough time to produce the necessary amount. 
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A: Well, during WWII we produced up to 26,000 tanks per year, while our losses were 
approximately 18-20,000. So we could not only replenish our losses, but we could 
:K'tllally increase the size of our anncd. forces and raise the level of our technology. This 
pl;1ycd a decisive role in our victory because the Germans could also produce enough to 
cover their losses, but not enough to increase their rank force, so the correlation of forces 
w;~s constantly changing in our favor. 

I low did we assess the economic situation in analy:dng a prolonged conventional 
war? Take the rates of attrition. Today, with the highly accurate weapons and specific 
anti·wnk weapons, the rate of attrition would be 5 - 6 times higher than in rhe last war. In 
other words, the rate of attrition per operation was estimated at 120%. This means that if 
we had 1000 tanks at the beginning of an operation, we would lose 1200. This seems 
absurd. But the fact is that in the course of an operation there is 25% rate of attrition due 
to repairable mechanical failure. In the course of an operation these tanks would be 
rcp;~ired nnd put back into action. They would fail a second time, and again be repaired, 
and the total would be 120%. But now this rate would rise to 200 - 300%. So you 
needed a tremendous repair capacity within the fonnations themselves. But even a 
tremendous repair capacity could not replenish these losses, so you need a huge industrial 
capacity. But the tanks are much more comple< now. To produce a T-34 you needed 4 
plams: one for engines, one for the main body, one for the control systems ... Now you 
need 340 plants to build a medium tank, say a T-64A. You need all of the above, plus 
nighr vision systems, laser sights, stabilization systems for fire~on~the·run, fire control 
systems, anti~radiation systems, various kinds of annor, etc. 340 plants! Try doing all of 
this during a war. And you cannot use low tech. Well, you can, but if the other side has 
high-tech, it will be a rout. So you need high-tech tanks. Our tank production was 
roughly 10-12,000 per year. But the losses were expected to be 20,000 tanks per year, 
roughly. So every year of the war our tank force would decline, According to 
mobilization schedules, the overall size of our forces was supposed to increase 4·fold, 
new fonnations were supposed to appear. It is because of this capacity that we won the 
last war. All of this was now out of the question · there was no such possibility. We 
could not even maintain our forces at the same level, let alone increase them. If we began 
with 40,000 tanks, by the end of the war we would have 5,000. This, given the fact that 
our industry and all of our territory would be under constant conventional attack, whereas 
the U.S. industry would not be subject to any such attack. The mobilization capacity of 
the U.S. far outstripped ours. So the Americans could not only make good their rate of 
aurition. but could increase their forces ma.ny~fold. If our tank production curve was this 
steep, then yours was much steeper, and the difference was tremendous. So we began to 
look for a way out. We decided to produce a much larger number than what was 
immediately necessary and to use the surplus as a mobilization reserve. If one generation 
of tanks becomes obsolete, we will not remove them from active duty. There was the 
suggestion to remove them from active units and to concentrate them somewhere in 
Central Asia. But this required additional servicing and additional personnel. So it was 
decided to keep them integrated within the units so that the units would have an increased 
number of tanks, and have the same personnel master the new generation of tanks. A 
::>econd point was that we considered our tanks to be our main trump card in a 
conventional war which would give our side a considerable advantage. Many other 
factors were negative. We strove to make tanks which were at a higher level than the 
American tanks. But for this it was necessary to quickly adopt innovations and rearm 
using new systems. One tank is developed and five years later it is replaced by a new 
one. But by that point we had not yet had enough time to equip such a large army with 
the old type of tank. We would rearm 10-20% of our force, and a new model would 
come out. So the old type would be mastered and integrated and would already be in 
mass-production, while the new one was still being produced in single digits. So you had 
to make a decision: to stop the production of the old type or not. We would decide to 
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produce both types. So it happened that we were producing 6 different types of tanks. 
This also added to the total tank force. Now we are scrapping the tank force, and this 
t:1kes money and resources. A portion of our tanks have been moved to the East and there 
the sand is ruining them and turning them into scrap metal. It is a scary situation. As for 
waging war, we are not even thinking about that anymore. 

The mobilization capacity of the U.S. militaty industries was estimated to be very 
high, according to our intelligence sources. Of course you have a very different structure: 
you have private firms and government firms that produce military technology. 
Furthermore you have tested mobilization and shifting to war production many times. 
Because we have always had economic difficulties, we could never conduct a test of the 
mobilization readiness of our whole industry. There was one such attempt in which four 
small plants were tested, and even that experiment was stopped quickly because it hurt 
production. Therefore the real mobilization readiness of military industry, not to mention 
the civilian industry, was never tested. We could only estimate this capacity on paper. 
You, on the other hand. had exercises, and detailed test, so there were some big 
differences in this respect. 

Q: Regarding the combat-readiness of NATO, what were your estimates of the length 
of time necessary for NATO to prepare for defense or offense? 

A; You would know this better than I, but all of the exercises we conducted were based 
on the assumption that NATO would attack first. Grechko would always ridicule the 
West by saying, 'The West? Defending? Defending against Whom?" So the assumption 
was always that today you attack, and tomorrow we go on the offensive. Later we be~an 
to approach it more soberly, as NATO's capabilities changed, and the period of defending 
against the attack kept getting pushed back to 6 days, 8 days, then almost a month and 
only after that we would start the counteroffensive. At some point in the 70s there were 
offensive, as well as defensive plans, i.e. a preemptive strike. Later these offensive plans 
were rejected, forgotten. it was ordered to destroy them, and the only option left was this 
one of retaliatory actions. 

Q: Was it assumed that you could rely on your allies in Eastern Europe? 

A: Well, I assume that with the reunification of Germany all of our plans have been 
revealed, although they tried to destroy them before unification. But all of the internal 
plans remained. All of the armies of the allies were included in the overall system of 
operations, although the majority were involved in operations on the flanks. The 
Hungarians, for example, were included in the order of the corresponding Soviet fronts as 
army formations. There was a Czech front, Polish fronts, fonnations, which were used in 
the second echelon, and so forth. They were all included in the general system of our 
opcmtions. The planning was centralized within the GS: it refined the plans, controlled 
their fulfillment, ensured combat·readiness, etc. 

Q: Was it assumed that they would take part both actively and responsibly? 

A: Yes, I think that they were fairly well-prepared armies. They were supplied with 
Soviet arms, they confonned to Soviet operational views and doctrine ~ they did not have 
a doctrine of their own to speak of ~ a single system of control, a single system of 
trnining, since the bulk. even the whole of the corps of Generals were graduates of our 
military academies. Therefore, neither in operations nor in the technical sphere did we 
have any problems. There were some language problems, but they were practically non­
existent, except at the lower levels. Otherwise, the political leadership was united in its 
approach. Despite some of the criticisms coming out now, I never saw any contradictions 
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within the military leadership. There was some criticism, but we had full confidence in 
the military leadership of these countries, and likewise, they had full confidence in the 
Soviet leadership. Of course, we sometimes went a little tOO far, pressed them too much, 
nnd this sometimes raised national feelings and resentments, that we did not consult them, 
but these were trivialities which did not play a decisive role in the unified military policy. 

Q: You said before that at one point the Soviet Union equaled the U.S. in naval 
systems, perhaps in submarines. But it is unclear when this point was reached. Perhaps 
tht! Typhoon was similar to our Trident. However, you also said that the U.S. was ahead 
in acoustic detection systems. Do you think that there was a point when the Soviet Union 
was at the same level as the U.S. in naval systems? 

A: In naval nuclear strategy, there were several stages. We had different approaches to 
naval forces in general. Before and during WWIJ) our main adversary was on the 
Continent· Germany. Our naval forces were secondary, and anyway, they were held in 
check by the navaJ forces of Great Britain and Germany, and were used in a limited way 
in our northern communications. But these naval forces did not present any threat for us. 
Therefore our whole thinking was aimed at the creation of powerful land forces. The 
naval forces played an important, but ancillary role, although we did Cfl:ate a powerful 
Northern Aeet, and a Pacific Fleet, and a Black Sea Fleet. But their primary role was to 
support the land forces. 

After the war there was a reassessment. We considered our primary opponents to 
be the U.S. and Britain, strong naval powers, possessing huge fleets. There was a need to 
re:~ssess the role of our own fleet. So we began to create not a coastal defense fleet, but 
an oceangoing fleet. a missile~carrying fleet, an atomic fleet. A totally different strategy: 
instead of supporting land forces, our navy acquired the ability to achieve its own 
autonomous strategic objectives. to conduct strategic operations in ocean theaters. This 
had not existed previously. Befofl:, the fleet was intended largely for combat with the 
enemy's fleet. Now the fleet took on all of the elements of the military-industrial 
sm1cture of the enemy. The main objective became the destruction of the military­
industrial potential of the enemy. The fleet's primary efforts now extended not to actions 
ag:1inst the oceans, but to the whole globe, to all the continents. Therefore the question of 
the creation of a missile fleet arose. At the first stage, we were the first to create missile 
submarines - submarines carrying cruise missiles. These cruise missiles were not 
intended for use against land targets, but aga.inst sea targets at long distances, on the order 
of lOOkm. Later these missiles were adapted for the destruction of coastal targets. Later 
a ballistic missile for submarines was created. When Khrushchev saw a mockup of this 
submarine, with these rockets inside it standing vertically, as opposed to the cruise 
missiles which lay horizontally behind a lid, he called it the "Dragon's Teeth" and 
criticized the system so that it was terminated. At the same time you acquired the 
Pioneers [SIC-polaris] with a range of 2000km. We also scrambled to create subs with 
b~1llisric missiles, but ones with intermediate range ~ 1200km. One of these subs sank off 
Hawaii, and there was some question of whether or not the Americans raised it or not. 
Anyway, it was difficult to get close enough to the U.S. with these subs. Later, gradually 
we raised the range to 2000km and increased the number of missiles. But you jumped to 
4()()()km with the Pioneer II [SIC], We decided that if we would race after you like that, 
we would never catch up. So we decided to immediately create an intercontinental 
underwater system. So we created a 20-silo sub, a 12~silo sub, project 607, different 
projects that you know about. Our thinking outpaced our industry's ability to put it into 
reality. Thefl:fore ther!: were many different designs. When you had a new design, you 
would put the new missiles on an old platfonn. We, on the other hand, did it differently. 
When :l new missile was designed, a new submarine was designed to carry it. This was 
not economically sustainable, but we did it in order to create a powerful missile fleet. So, 
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as I said, we were the first to create intercontinental ballistic missile submarines. We also 
were ahead in control systems at a cenain stage. Later you began to overtake us and 
created a more effective system, say, in accuracy. The accuracy of our missiles is lower 
than yours. Then also in control and in noise. Our greatest vulnerability is high noise 
related to engines, ball-bearings, etc. We cannot reduce noise to the same levels as you. 
So tht! competition also existed in this field. Now 60% of your nuclear potential, as 
opposed to our 30%, is on submarines. Our main efforts were directed at ground· 
launched missiles. We created the R-367 missile that scared you to death. They carried 
almost l8 megatons in their warheads. Most importam, they could be launched in either 
global direction, and thereby all of your warning systems could be rendered useless, 
bct.:ausc it was not easy tocreale a warning system which looked in the other direction. 

The latest doctrine stated chat the missile submarines constituted our strategic 
nuclear reserve. In other words, after the ideology of a retaliatory strike was adopted, the 
que:aion arose of how to guarantee an unacceptable level of damage after the first nuclear 
strike had already occurred. To do this you must have a group of forces with guaranteed 
survivability, which would launch missiles at the most important targets under any 
scenario of hits. They did not carry flight programs lpoletnye zadaniia), but they could 
be programmed remotely to attack the most important targets still remaining ~ cities and 
milit:1ry targets, laking into consideration the real situation. The basis of our strategic 
nuclear reserve was this volley from nuclear submarines. 

Q: Revisiting the question of whether the GS had more influence over the structure of 
the anncd forces than the Military Depanment of the Central Committee[ CCI. 

A: Well, you see, you do not know what the Military Department of the CC was. 
There was a Department of the Administrative Organs of the CC. It was headed by 
Savinkin. This department guided (kuriroval) the armed forces, civil defense, the KGB, 
MG [l, the Prosecutor's office, DOSAAF, things like that. But it mainly prepared the 
cadres. Then rhere was also a Military~lndustrial Depanment of the CC which was 
headed by Sablin and someone else was the last one, I forget his name. Its main concem 
was the military~industrial complex, the military industry. 

Q: Was Smimov the head? 

A: No, Smimov was the head of the VPK8and the Deputy Chairman of the Council of 
Ministers. But they [in the CC] were mainly concerned with the selection and placement 
of cadres. They had no influence on the development of strategy or policy. And 
therefore the Military Department of the CC ... The GS did all of that, and the military 
structures of the Central Committee had no influence on it. But, who did it report to? To 

7Jdcntifil .. -d in one souKc as the ''Tsiklon" space launch vehicle, a space-launch variant of a 
previously developed ICBM. General DanUcvich is almost certainly referring to the SS.18 (the 
olficial Soviet designation for the military missile was "RS020"). Sec Lieutenant Colonel I. 
Safronov, "19, November is Missile Troops and Artillery Day: Both Shield and Sword," Voyennaia 
Zmmiill, No. 11, 1993, reprinted in translation in JPRS, ]PRS-UMA~94.()13, 13 April1994, p. 11. 
This conclusion is supported by comments made by General Danilevich in a subsequent 
interview (sec Dnnilevich, page 59?) He commented that "By the end of the 70s the development 
of the R~t8 [SIC·fuU Soviet designation RS.-18, NATO designation SS.19] and R·36 gave theSovicts 
a throw weight of over 20 tons, surpassing U.S. capability." Both the SS.19 and the 55--18 carne on 
lin~ at the cud of the 70s. The throw weight of the 55-18 was 8.8 tones, the SS-19 was 3.35 tons 
cxcl.'Cding the lift of any Soviet ICBM deployed before or since 1979, Safronov, ilrid, p.tO. 
SvPK-Voyentlaf)Q Promysldentlia Kommilisiia *(Military Industrial Commission). 
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the Defense Council. The Defense Council consisted of 8 • 10 people: the General 
Sccrcwry, the Chainnan of the Council of Ministers, the Foreign Minister, the Defense 
Minister, the Head of the General Staff, the Head of the VPK, Smimov was included· a 
sm;lll group of individuals which decided on defense issues. Here the decisions were 
takt;n. But this was n government, not a party structure. 

Q: And the Military-Industrial Depanment was not influential? 

A: No. it worked on questions related to the selection of cadn::s [SIC]. They discussed, 
rcj~o:ctcd, awarded ranks, they decided a lot of questions of discipline, sometimes they 
corrected the political aspects of documents, orders regarding the training of forces. But 
regarding military strategy, they did not know anything about it. They wen:: mostly 
politic:~ I workers who did not undentand military mauers. 

Q: What about the VPK? 

A: The VPK, Smimov, they did work on questions relating to the development of 
technical policy· the development of concrete systems, OKBs, their management· all of 
this did take place. But this was a State strucrure under the Presidium of the Council of 
Ministers of the USSR. 

Q: And the VPK had more influence on the selection of strategic and conventional 
defense systems than, perhaps, the GS? 

A: Well, there was competition here because we argued from operational-strategic 
grounds, they argued based on military-technical grounds, they argued based on the 
possibilities, and we were forced to agree with them sometimes. But the decisive voice in 
the development of military-technical policy belonged to the GS. 

Q; What about the relative influence of the various anned services? 

A: This had gn::at significance because they served as the customers for their own kinds 
or anned forces, as their ideologues. They reported to the GS ... On most issues, the GS 
had its own opinion. Of course they [the services] tried to get the most for themselves, 
just like the case was with you, to get the biggest budget possible. We [in the GS] always 
approached it in a balanced way, so we rejected some items. We approached it from 
general, global positions, from the general, overall plans for the conduct of war, while 
they approached it from the point of view of the interests of their own branch of the 
armed forces. So perhaps they understood more about the technical details, but, again, 
the GS played a decisive role because. in the end, our positions ... Well, of course, the 
position of the Minister of Defense was of great significance and it was very important 
whether or not he would suppon a panicular program or project. 

Q: So the branches of the armed services played an important role in the choice or 
weapons systems? 

A: We:ll, yes, in the formulation of the problems, they had very close interactions with 
the VPK. So did we, but at the level of the OKB9 the various branches of the anned 
services were interacting more closely and concretely. They had their own institutes 

9oKD-Opytno·Konstruktorsk.oe buro -(experimental) Design Bureaus. These were R&D facilities 
in the military-industrial sector that originated major weapons designs (aircraft, missiles, etc.) 
nn~i followed their development through to mass production and deployment. 

49 



Cold War Interview.\· Dan.ilevich 

which conducted the research and development for all of these systems. Industry had its 
own institutes which conducted concrete 1echnical development of systems. But they 
worked in very close contact with each other. These industrialists showed up a[ the GS 
maybe once a month, while lhese others (the services) worked practically every day, they 
would show up, the one, the other, going back :md forth, resolving problems, etc. That 
wa~ the system. 
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Q: Based on what you said earlier, there was no acceptance of the notion of selective 
strikes prior to the 1980s. But after 1980 the notion that it was possible to respond with 
IC$S limn full nuclear force, or even with selective strikes, gained currency. ls this 
accurate? 

A: Yes 

Q: And when we met in October (SIC] you said that if NATO fooces had struck Soviet 
territory whh 3, 4 or 10 warheads, the leadership would have at least considered 
responding with selective strikes on the tenitory of the U.S. 

A: There was a time when our thinking was: retaliate with full force to even one hit. 
Lat~r we adopted the concept of a dosage nuclear response - a limited use of nuclear 
we;tpons. But this was only after we rejected the policy of preemptive strikes and 
replaced it with the policy of meeting strikes and retaliatory strikes. 

Now, we never discussed or developed at any of the exercises the option of using 
selective strikes frrst, in a premeditated way. The ex.ercises always developed scenarios 
of retaliatory actions. h was never planned for or envisioned. The plans involved only 
massive use of nuclear weapons on a regional or global scale. There were no plans for 
selet:tivc strikes. It was assumed that decisions would be based on the particular situation 
at hand. So all exercises involving strategic weapons were conducted based on panicular 
scenarios and decisions. We had concrete scenarios. For example, the enemy attacks 
with. say. 5 strikes against our uoops, 3 against Gennan cities, I strike against Brest, etc. 
The leadership would meet to decide what to do. First there would be a warning to the 
American president and a strike would be delivered. There were various options. For 
example a strike using tactical forces. If the U.S. delivered 20 hits, we might have 
responded with 15. There were other times when you struck with 15 and we retaliated 
with 30. Mainly the targets would be military. l don't remember an exercise where we 
de vi! loped the option of targeting U.S. territory~ although in principle this was considered 
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possible. But because your limited strikes were always limited to the Theater of 
Operations and we did likewise in our wargames. But there were no general plans. The 
principle was that we must have adequate actions at our disposal, as well as preemptive 
and deterring actions, which included a larger number of strikes than the opponent. But 
this was considered less desirable because if we used less, then the Americans also may 
usc less. Otherwise there would be escalation. The best option was considered to be an 
equnl number of snikes against analogous targets. 

Q; Even on U.S. territory? 

A: We never considered a scenario where you hit the Soviet Union immediately. [In 
our scenarios] you hit the anny fonnations, the nuclear forces, control centers. etc. But I 
don't remember any scenarios where you hit Soviet territory. So the question of hitting 
the U.S. never came up. But as to further, massive strikes, this was considered. In that 
ca~c we would strike indiscriminately. 

Q: Based on some interviews here in Moscow,! know that in one exercise, the U.S., in 
order to demonstrate resolve, launched three or four warheads at targets on the tenitory of 
the Soviet Union. 

A: Yes, in theory such a possibility was considered possible. But in practice. in the 
conduct of exercises, of which there were not many during those years, and I was present 
at all of them, I do not remember any where this possibility was played out. It all 
depended on the people who designed the scenarios. They could do it one way or 
another. The Chief of the General Staff could make cenain adjustments. Akllromeev did 
that a lot. Ogarkov did too. But Al<hromeev especially got down to the details of the 
launches, the work at the command centers, the process of decisionmaking, the 
development of preliminary orders, fina1 orders, the playing out of the scenarios, like in a 
movie. 

Q: In our exercises, only the highest level staff officers panicipated. When we 
developed options and strategies. it was done at the highest levels. Was it the same with 
you? 

A: The thing is that we did not conduct this kind of wargame using maps during that 
period. All of the strategic training exercises were conducted at the command centers. 
There were four people at the controls: the Minister of Defense, the Chief of the General 
Staff, the Chief of the Main Operations Directorate, and I was present also be<:ause I 
wrme all of the analysis. The group commander was not always present ~ sometimes he 
would participate by telephone. It was a very narrow circle. There would be a colonel 
with a telephone link to the President or the Chairman of the Supreme Soviet who would 
be pre~ented with various options for action. 

Q: Was the dosage strategy applicable only to the Theater of Operations, or did it also 
apply, at least nominally. to intercontinental exchanges? 

A: After 1980 this strategy became dominant. On the tactical level the process of 
decisionmaking was not thoroughly worked through, but the background for army 
exercises was not to go to nuclear war in1mediately, but to stan with a conventional 
pha:;e, then limited nuclear use, which would range from 3 or 5 to 100 warheads. The 
exercises were conducted against this background. The process of decisionmaldng itself 
did not concern the theater-level forces. The methodology of decisionmaking was 
worked out here, at the top: what are the targets. when to react. in what form, how to give 
warning, and so on. Usually, at the last stages before retaliation, there would be political 
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statements and warnings, both from your side and from ours. lt was a game, a theater. 
Dut as for the actual war plans~ none of this was precisely envisioned. It was impossible 
to develop plans for every situation. You may develop 1000 scenarios, but the reality 
may turn out to be the lOOlst You must have principles, but the actions have to be based 
on the situation at hand. The main targets for selective strikes were: troop formations, 
airfields, control centers, and missile fields. As for ciries, as a rule they were not 
targeted. Sometimes, in the course of more massive exchanges, up to 100 warheads, 
some cities were also hit. And as a rule, all strikes were delivered by means of air bursts. 
When we were developjng earlier options, almost 80% of the hits were ground bursts, 
bmh ;.tgainst military and non~military targets ~ it did not make any difference. The 
imponant thing was the contamination that followed. 

Q; This is an important source of misunderstanding. ln general, the Soviet Union 
employed ground bursts until the end of the 1970s? 

A: Yes, approximately. We used a combination of both, but the proportion of ground 
bursts gradually decreased because as the strike grew more and more massive, and the 
number of bursts grew, the consequences grew more unpredictable. Also, we tested our 
prcdiclions of the spread of contamination during several exert:ises. We had maps and 
slide rules, and we made computer calculations of fallout zones to forecast the radiation 
sprc~1d. But when we actually exploded the weapons, the shock wave and everything else 
would often not go where it was forecast. So there are many dangerous and unpredictable 
factors. 

Q: So during the 60s and 70s the rocket forces planned to use mainly ground bums. 
especially, or exclusively against military targets? 

A: Yes, against hardened military targets. But we planned air bursts against 
unprotected targets. 

Q: Even during the 60s? 

A: No, then 80% were ground bursts. But in the 70s we had a more reasonable 
approach. 

Q: And your approach changed because of your assessments of the fallour and 
contamination caused by ground bursts? 

A: Well, ar first our understanding of the contamination was very simplistic. We 
thought that it would drift somewhat, but that would be all. Later we came to the 
conclusion that it travels much fanher than we had thought earlier. It was like that with 
Chcrnobyl. There are even some areas near Moscow which are contaminated from it, 
\"v·hile regions closer in have no contamination. This unpredictability gradually began to 
be taken into consideration. Also, before we did not have enough warheads ~ only 200, 
250, which could reach the U.S. This was not thought to be enough to destroy the 
country. Later when it became possible to target cities with populations of 50,000, then 
10,000, then this was no longer an issue. 

Q: Before 1972, while most of the missiles in your silos had liquid fuel, the leadership 
had a very narrow window of decision in case of a crisis. It took hours to get a missile 
ready. In a crisis, it would not be possible to plan for multiple options. 

A: That's right. To fuel the missiles and attach the warheads it took 5 - 6 hours. At 
1his time ~ the 60s • the strategy was different: the earlier and the more you launch, the 
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better. Therefore the strategy was to preempt. You cannot have a retaliatory strike if you 
have to ready your missiles for 6 hours after the strike. But when we acquired missiles 
with imemal fuel tanks, which had ready times of I • 2 hours, now there was also the 
possibility of a retaliatory strike. So both the political-military, and the military-technical 
aspects of the strategy changed. 

Q: When did you acquire your first missile that was completely ready to fly? 

A: The R-IIJOlO. This was one of our primary missiles. It had intemalliquid fuel tanks 
and had a ready time of I ·2 minutes. This was in 1970. In the 60s our main ICBM was 
Korolev's R-1611. The main intennediate range missiles then were the stationary R-12t2 
and R-1413, half of which were in silos, and half on open ground launch platforms. For 
this second half, the missiles were stored in hangars and had to be taken out, installed on 
the launch pads and fueled before being fued. This was the missile we brought to Cuba. 
They were detected when we placed them on the launch pads and the fueling equipment 
was brought in, etc. It was a complex: .system which encouraged one to strike fU'St. 

However, we in the OS never for a minute thought seriously about it. Recently 
there have been rumors and questions floating about: is it true that you had cenain plans? 
What were these plans? Was there a plan in 1957 deliver a fttSt strike against the U.S.? 
We never had a single thought of a fltSt strike against the U.S. I mean in a practical, not 
theoretical sense. Theoretically rhere were mountains of plans and writing, and exercises. 
But in practice, to hold discussions at the political level to decide such questions. this was 
absolutely out of the question. The ministerS of defense and the GS were very careful 
with respect to these issues because they understood the consequences. There wa.s one 
officer, Tolubko, a commander of the rocket forces, who made extremist speeches in 
favor of such an attack. But he was not taken seriously by anybody. Khrushchev also 
made threatening noises. But the question of a fust strike was never considered at the 
political level. Even during the Caribbean Crisis, when nuclear war was a real 
possibility, the question of a preemptive strike was not considered. Then the issue was 
that if the U.S. made a strike against Cuba, then we would respond. So we understood 
what it all meant and what the danger was to us. Then there were also the calculations of 
damage I told you about. 

Q: What is the difference between your concepts of first use and of the preemptive 
strike? 

A: There is no difference ~ first use is a preemptive strike. The meaningful difference 
is between f"lrst use and simultaneous use, as soon as your remote EW sensotS detect an 
attack within the first 5 or 10 minutes, and the command is immediately given, in order 
not to be too late. But this approach was considered to be problematic because of false 
warnings caused by flocks of geese, etc. So a new decisionmaking procedure was 
created, involving several individuals. Later on we created a nuclear briefcase, the same 
as you, with codes that the president had to dial in. So the procedure became bener 
developed and standardized. Before there was no special procedure to speak of. Looking 
back, there was a cenain unseriousness on this subject. The thinking was, "we've got 
nuclear weapons and we will use them if we need to." Khrushchev took the most hard~ 
line position. because of his personal character. Brezhnev was quite different. After 
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Brezhnev there was a power vacuum. As for Gorbachev, he did not even take part in any 
of the exercises at the command center, like Khrushchev and Brezhnev. 

Q: So until the mid-70s it was not practically and technologically possible to make a 
retaliatory-meeting strike? 

A: Before we had satellite EW systems we had land-based above-the-horizon radar 
systems, like your BEMEWS system. There was the Riga array, which looked out 5000 
km and provided 5 or 10 minutes warning, which was very little time. Later there were 
over4hewhorizon radars, but these did not work very well. The most imponant advance 
was when we began building systems of EW satellites. Then the automation of the 
[unclear], control displays, launches, controls, etc. 

Q: Other people who took part in this process, described an automated system of last 
reson called the "Dead Hand", that would automatically launch missiles which were to 
give commands to JCBMs and which was triggered by overpressun: or radiation. 

A: Well, you had such a system. At fltlit we were working on a system to pn:vent 
unauthorized launches of nuclear weapons. This was a whole complex of organizational 
and technical means to ensure that no one could launch a weapon. This was considered 
imponant and it was done. Then the next question was how to guarantee that they would 
be launched ~ the opposite question. We developed a system of automated transmission 
of commands which was made redundant across several means of communication and on 
many channels- by telephone, by radio. Then they built (sic( this system with missiles. 
In the event of a hit, a missile was launched which gave a signal for the automatic use of 
the remaining nuclear weapons. But only after the hit had already taken place and the 
seismic activity indicaled that a massive hit had taken place. The same as you had. But 
you had it earlier and we built the same type of system. 

Q: As I understand it, our system was called ERCS. 

A: Yes,! remember the name ... we called our system something different. 

Q: ... But in our system, someone had to push a button to launch the rocket which 
would then give launch signals to the automatic equipment. 

A: Yes, that's right. The missile was launched and the signal was transmitted 
automatically. Now we are facing a different threat~ super~EMP weapons ~very high~ 
altitude nuclear bursts which can knock out control equipment This is what we are afraid 
of and we are developing systems to protect control centers from this kind of weaponry. 
But whereas before our two sides were developing parallel weapons systems, and each 
side gauged its progress by the other side's successes and failures, now all of these 
advanced technology programs have been put on hold. There is no money, we are not 
allocating anything for research and development, the research institutes are barely 
surviving, only the most urgen~ tactical problems have priority: to guard the new borders, 
to deploy border guards, to build air bases fot long-range aviation, since we have lost all 
of our airfields, to build testing grounds, to build living quaners for all the officers- there 
are 200,000 or 300,000 of them - and the leadership is afraid of rebellions and mutinies, if 
not by the officers themselves, then by their wives. Like in the Baltics. where we were 
forced to halt the pullout because the children were living in tents. All of our 
expenditures now go for this. And the high-tech development frojects have been 
abandoned. They may recover some time, but maybe they won't - do not know what 
their fate will be. 
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Q: It would be interesting historically to explore me difference between the Soviet and 
American approaches to automatic systems like Dead Hand, which would have 
guaranteed a retaliatory strike even if the leadership and the command centers have been 
destroyed. 

A: I know that you had such ideas, and so did we. But this is a dangerous business 
because automation is automation... Anyway, today such systems don't make any 
difference because with modem early warning systems and missile readiness measured 
not in minutes but in seconds, a whole quorum of decision makers can be gathered 
together, rather than having only one or two minutes 10 make a decision. But be that as it 
may. But. if one were to create such a system. and, as I say, there was such an idea, .. and 
it is [unclear- not being realized?] by !he way· but it is very dangerous because it can 
cause accidental nuclear war with unpredictable consequences. So this idea was rejected 
and it was not developed in practice. 

Q: But if it were possible to tum such a system on or off, it would at least be possible 
to defend the Soviet Union ... 

A: Well, now there is a different approach. You create a reserve of absolutely 
protected weapons, like mobile missiles and SLBMs, which practically cannot be 
destroyed. with a corresponding system of automated signal transmission, as well as with 
autonomous capabilities. We had a redundant system of command centers: you could 
send the command from the GS, from the central command center of the Rocket Forces, 
from the central command center of Strategic Aviation, from the ccnaa.l command center 
of the Navy. from !he central command center of me Army, and finally from the system 
of automauc missiles. And the command and contrOl system continued and continues to 
be refined and its readiness is not a cause for concern. Also, it was thought that a n:serve 
of just 1/10 of the original nuclear potential would be sufficient to cause unacceptable 
damage. 

Q: One of the most difficult questions to analyze is !he differences in the understanding 
of "deterrence" on the pan of the Soviet Union and !he U.S. Under Gorbaehev the Soviet 
Union rust accepted the principle of deterrence. Before Gorbachev the official position 
rejected deteiTCnce. But your force development. the development of cenain systems. 
including Dead Hand, had an effect on American decision makers which depended on 
their understanding of the fact that these systems already existed and that it would be 
useless and dangerous to stan a nuclear war. This is the essence of deterrence. We are 
trying to understand to what extent there existed in the minds of political and military 
leaders the expectation that their American counterparts knew that, in case of a nrst 
strike, a retaliatory strike was inevitable. To what extent did Soviet leaders understand 
that this was a very imponant component of Soviet security? 

A: You are right. We tried to convey !his [message]. For example, me threat that we 
would respond with full nuclear force to !he use of a single nuclear weapon on the pan of 
!he U.S. This message was repeated at all levels, from the Minster of Defense on down. 
But these statements had purely propagandistic and politieal targetS. If it ever became 
reality, we would not have acted like that. If !he U.S. did make such a strike, we would 
have gathered together to discuss what to do, even though we officially and loudly 
proclaimed the opposite, and it was written up in documents, etc. So by doing this we 
wanted to convey the message that retaliation was inevitable. Also, we had the capability 
because of various systems. For example, our systems of early detection, although less 
reliable than yours, still provided !his capability. This included all three ldnds: over-the­
horizon radar, above the horizon, and the third one. Then, !here were the protected 
hardened silos. We thought that it was impossible to destroy all of them. Then the 
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mobile missiles: as their number grew we gradually phased out the "Pioneer" missile. 
That was a powerful missile and we were sorry to see it go. The railroad arsenal and the 
SS-25 mobile arsenal had some drawbacks: they were complicated to control because 
they were so unwieldy, required special roads, and maneuvering was very complex. 
Finally, they carried single warheads, and had many shortcomings. So right now there 
are many in military circles, and in military publications, who oppose this latest [START] 
agreement because it puts us in a difficult position. They feel that the elimination of silo­
based MIRYed ICBMs would give the U.S. a big advantage. It would also leave 
untouched the sea-based missiles and takes a convoluted approach to counting bomber­
based warheads. Some think !hat our concessions are unfounded. But our politicians 
were firmly convinced that !he agreement is sufficiently justified. And our military 
leaders are such that if they are ordered to do something, they will. The main point is 
that, although the concessions were unequal, we would still have enough in our arsenal to 
deliver an unacceptable level of damage. 

Q: Several times during the interviews you have said that one can plan for 1000 
scenarios, but the reality will be scenario number 1001. Nevertheless, much energy and 
resources were spent on finding the best strategy for fighting a nuclear war, even though 
by 1970 everybody understood that it would be very difficult to reasonably ... 

A: You see, before the 1960s we had a different point of view. We thought that if there 
were ever a nuclear exchange, we would have an advantage: more rerritory, less 
concentration of industry, of population, certain spiritual arguments w we thought that in 
the event of an equal exchange the U.S. would be destroyed but we would survive. But 
by the 1970s we had concluded !hat there was no chance in hell that we would survive. 
By the 1980s we concluded funher that we would be destroyed by our own strike, so that 
we could not strike at all. As our nuclear arsenal grew, the political environment changed 
and our views changed. The scientists also gave us a scare with their Nuclear Winter and 
Nuclear Night forecasts. I don't know about your military circles, but most of ours do not 
trust these sons of calculations. But a large number do believe it 

Q: The last question. In the U.S. Army, artillery is a very important branch and even in 
the 1950s we were building nuclear arrillery. Why did the Soviet Union not develop 
similar weapons until as late as the 1980s? Was this a political decision, or a 
technological decision? 

A: We had a 17-fold advantage in tactical [nuclear] means in Europe. So Bush's 
proposal to destroy tactical nuclear weapons was correct, but it affected us very 
disproportionately. Regarding nuclear artillery, we did have it · 203mm as well as 
special weapons. We did not consider it essential to build it. But when you began 
building it, we thought, "Why don't we also build some?" So we did. We built nuclear 
shells for ordinary artillery· 152mm guns. We don't have a special nuclear artillery, but 
we do have nuclear shells which can be fu:ed from dual-use guns. So the atomic guns and 
160mm atomic mortars appeared. Allhough their missions could easily have been carried 
out by means of tactical missiles. 

There was also another factor - our acceptance of limited suikes. We needed 
weapons we could use mainly on the battlefield, and mainly against front~line troops. 
Tactical missiles wen:: not sufficiently accurate and in this situation we needed prcctse 
hits. Because of this we decided to create nuclear shells. Consequently a great number 
were built and right now we surpass you by 2 or 3 times. And now !hey are being 
destroyed, along with nuclear land mines. You developed nuclear land mines faster than 
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we did, and we fell behind. They were created as a means of defense, to create a nuclear 
belt along the borden. So at first we aimed at overcoming this obstacle, and afterwards, 
when we accepted strategic defense ourselves, we began to build our own nuclear land 
mines. 
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Gen. Danilevich painted a broad picture of the evolution of Soviet military 
docnine from World War II to the collapse of the Soviet Union. This history falls 
roughly into five stages, which are outlined below. 

I. Full Mechanization: 1945 • 1950 

The immediate post· WWII period was devoted to completing the mechanization 
and modernization of all branches of the armed forces, absorbing the lessons of the war, 
and consolidating them into a doctrine. Soviet strategy emphasized the use of massive 
conventional annored land forces to gain a 3~ ro 6~ fold advantage over the opposing 
forces, and to defeat them with fast. decisive offensive ground actions. Air and naval 
forces were modernized and strengthened through the introduction of jet aviation and 
modern air defenses, but continued to play a supporting role. 

D. Acquisition or Nuclear Weapons: 1950 • 1%0 

By 1950 the Soviet Union had acquired the atomic bomb. At fust, nuclear weapons 
were seen primarily as anti-city weapons. but their strategic and tactical imponance was 
quickly recognized. By 1955, nuclear weapons had supplanted the tank as the central 
strategic weapon. 

Despite the central role of nuclear weapons, their acquisition did not immediately 
lead to a revolution in military thought. Rather. at ftrSt nuclear weapons were absorbed 
into the existing structure of WWII sttategic and operational thinking. Like the tank 
before it. nuclear weapons would be used to achieve a strategic breakthrough on the 
battlefield, which would be exploited by a massive conventional steamroller advancing at 
20 - 30 km per day. The new doctrine was even more clearly offensive in nature. 
Strategic defensive plans were non-existent. 
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III. "Nuclear Euphoria": 1%0 ·1965 

The revolution promised by nuclear weapons arrives with Khrushchev. A strategy 
emerges based on global and theater preemptive nuclear use. Nuclear weapons gain in 
imponance almost to the point that all other weapons are seen as superfluous. Strategic 
Rocket Forces are created as a separate military branch. Aviation, especially the massive 
fighter force, is sacrificed, as is artillery, which is replaced by tactical nuclear forces. 
Khrushchev even considers reducing the armored forces because they are deemed 
unnecessary. Defensive actions, including front and army~ level defense, are now totally 
and explicitly rejected. Defense is seen as possible only on the level of tactical 
maneuvers. 

The new thinking found its most vocal advocate in Marshal V .D. Sokolovskii, who 
lectured on the new strategy at the General Staff Academy in 1962 and edited the 
influential book, MOOsm War. These: ideas were embraced as docuine at a Ministry of 
Defense conference in the same yeat and were put into practice during exercises in 1962 
and 1963. The con: of the strategy was an attack in two phases: 

I) An intercontinental preemptive strike against the U.S. The plan to use Cuba as a 
base for intermediate range missile attacks on the U.S. had backfired during the 
"Caribbean Crisis". However, the new R-1614 missiles gave the U.S.S.R. a limited ability 
to strike U.S. territory. 

2) A single, strategic offensive along the entire front. with the use of preemptive 
nuclear strikes, followed by a decisive, unintenupted land advance. R-1215 and R-1416 
medium ran'e stationary missiles would be used to anack suongpoints in Europe. 
Although the!t numbers were relatively small, these missiles carried powerful 1.8 and 2.4 
megaton warbeads. Following the nuclear strikes, land annies would sweep west, using 
envelopment, cleanup and other offensive operations. The rate of advance was now 
planned to be 40 · 100 km/day and the entire strategic operation was expected to take no 
more than 10 days. 

Such optimistic forecasts were made based on the assumption that the opponent 
would be preempted in his use of nuclear weapons. Missile teChnology of that era put a 
heavy premium on preemption because the long time required to fuel the missiles and 
auach their warheads made a "retaliatory-meeting strike" impossible and a purely 
retaliatory strike highly unlikely. 

IV. "Des<ent to F..arth" and ICBMs: 1965 • 1975 

With the ouster of Khrushchev, conservatism and realism returned to military 
thought. Their return was marked by the realization that the usefulness of nuclear 
weapons had been overestimated, and by the acknowledgment that the enemy has a large 
number of nuclear weapons which could cause "unrecoverable losses". The new thinking 
proclaimed that a single type of weapon cannot be relied upon to achieve victory and that 
each type of weapon. including conventional weapons, has an appropriate role in war. 
Conventional forces, decimated during the Khrushchev period, began to be restored. 
Greater attention began to be paid to strategic theater operations~ which were broken 

"Possibly 55-8. 
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down among several fronts and included expanded naval and air operations, as weU as 
strategic anti~air operations. It was no longer thought possible to conduct a one~stage 
strategic operation. The strategic advance was divided into two operations ~ the advance 
to Gennany's western border, and the advance to La Manche. The rate of advance was 
scaled back, with the projected time for the conquest of Europe pushed back to one 
month. Defense was gradually revived, fm;t on the level of army, then front, and finally, 
around 1972- 1975, on the strategic level. 

Despite the changes, war was still seen to be ultimately nuclear. A purely 
conventional war was not seen as a realistic possibility. However~ technology and 
experience bred a gn:ater sophistication of thought regaJding the use of nuclear weapons. 
The growth in the strategic arsenal and the beginnings of a secure second strike capability 
on SLBMs, made possible options for Strategic Forces operations. Instead of a single 
massive salvo. multiple nuclear strikes were now planned. 

Also during this period a clean:r appreciation of the devastating consequences of .a 
full~scale nuclear exchange began to emerge. At a nuclear exercise in 1972. Brezhnev~ 
Podgomyi, and other high-ranldng Politburo members were presented with the results of 
a simulated U.S. first srrike using ground bursts against the Soviet Union. The simulated 
damage shocked the leadership: 100% of non-strategic aviation wiped out; 100% of 
ground forces wiped out; 80% of strategic aviation destroyed; 100% of naval forces 
destroyed; the European pan of Russia suffers radiation contamination from fallout with 
levels of 400 - 3000 Roentgens. 

Meanwhile, ferment in strategic thought in the U.S. yielded new theories of 
escalation. flexible response, limited usc, etc. At ftrst the Soviets considered these 
theories to be unrealistic and strongly rejected any notion of a limited nuclear war. 
Officially, Soviet policy was to respond with a full nuclear attack to even a single hit. 
However, from 1970 to 1975 the position shifted away from rejection toward the 
necessity of a "controllable conduct of nuclear war". In concrete terms, this shift 
manifested itself in three docrrinal changes: 

1) Preemptive strike is not the only option. Retaliatory¥meeting and retaliatory 
srrikes become valid options. 

2) Multiple-scenario strikes: either global, or regional, depending on military 
situation, 

3) "New Periodization of War". The course of the war was expanded to four 
stages: a non~nuclear phase. a nuclear phase_ follow~ up actions. and concluding actions. 
Of these, the most imponant addition was the non-nuclear phase, which gradually grew in 
length from several hours to 7-8 days. Still later, it was planned that the fm;t frontal 
operations would remain non~nuclear up through the advance to the Rhine. Strategic 
operations, however, remained nuclear. 

V. Strategic Balance: 1!175- 1991 

This long period was characterized by rough parity in strategic systems between the 
two superpowers, rapid growth in both sides' nuclear arsenals and bitter technological 
competition. Although the Soviets still lagged behind in c3 and silo protection, a series 
of technological advances greatly expanded Soviet strategic capabilities. A new, more 
efficient method of "direct drilling" was developed, which allowed 200 silos to be built 
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every year. Missiles with self-contained fuel tanks (ampuli:irovannye rakery) and, later 
on, solid fuel missiles reduced ready times to I - 2 minutes. Strategic bomber aviation 
was advanced with the deployment of the Tu-16 aod Tu - 22 bombers. The Soviets very 
quickly matched and surpassed U.S. MIRV technology. By the end of the 70s the 
development of the R-18 aod R-36 gave the Soviets a throw-weight of over17 20 tons, 
surpassing the U.S capability. 

The period cao be broken down funher into three pans, each of which saw profound 
changes in the Soviet military doctrine as a result of technological and political 
developments: 

75- 80 Limited nuclear war was still officially rejected, but it was now considered 
possible to conduct the war at the conventional level from beginning to end. 

80- 85 Limited nuclear war now accepted in documents and planning for options 
presented to the political leadership. Different options became available for use of 
nuclear weapons during the new limited phase: only on the battlefield; only against 
military targets; limited strategic strikes; proportional retaliation to limited strikes (either 
with escalation or de-escalation). Gradually, the projected length of the limited phase 
was expanded from hours to several days. 

85 ~ 91 Adoption of a defensive doctrine. Realization that a nuclear war cannot be 
won. Preemptive strike ruled out - only retaliatory strike. The new foundations of 
doctrine becomes: deterrence. war prevention, and limited war, if war must be fought. 

17The R-18 was the RS-18, NATO designation SS-19. The R-36 almost certainly r<fers to the SS-18 
{see Danilevich interview and notes, p. 46?) Danilevich co~~ in the earlier interview that the 
R-36 could cany 18 megatons in its warhead. The "20 tons", iiJSel1ed here may also refer to the 
poienlial mega tonnage of the warhead. The lhrUUI W<ighl of the SS-18 is listed elsewhere as 8.8 
tons. (SeeSafronov, ibid, p. 10.) 
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Q. Did the Soviet Union have a policy or strategy of deterrence (sderzMvanie)? 

A. We did not use the word "deterrence" (sderzhivanie). We really didn't discuss what 
we were doing as deterrence. Instead, we consistently spoke of "not allowing" (ne 
dopustit) the U.S. to believe it could strike the Soviet Union first without experiencing a 
devastating retaliatory blow. We said we would not allow (ne dopustit) the U.S. to 
exercise its will in Europe with impunity and without fear of consequences. We would 
not allow the U.S., on a broader, global scale, to feel such a sense of overall military or 
nuclear superiority that U.S. leaders would pursue adventuristic policies in the various 
regions including the Third World. 

Q. Did the Soviet Union ever consider the use of selective nuclear strikes on a global 
or theater level? 

A. I can only say that we at TsNII-4 never to my knowledge looked at the question of 
making selective nuclear strikes in any scenario. We did not analyze it as a variant. 

Q. Why did the Soviet Union begin to develop mobile ICBMs in the 1960s? 

A. Primarily to improve swvivability. Our silos were hardened to only 2 kgfcm2 and 
hence were very vulnerable to a U.S. first strike. Later in the 1970s. we hardened our 
land-based ICBM facilities much more thoroughly, some to 400 kg/cm2. We expected 
the U.S. to strike first and therefore survivability was a critical consideration. 

Q. Did the Soviet leadership consistently assume that the U.S. would strike fl.rst? 

A. That was our basic planning assumption in our mcxlels and testing. Once, in the 
early 1980s, however, Defense Minister Ustinov asked us to model a depressed ttajectory 
launch of ICBMs agains[ your silo fields to detennine the probable destructive effect. 
We found that the angle of attack and depression of our missiles would be such that the 
strike would not be very effective against your ICBMs. We recommended against such 
an attack mode. 
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Q: When was OMG" decided upon? 

A: Ogarkov and Gareev implemented the idea of the OMG during 1979 • 1980. 

Q: Did the Soviel side ever plan to use selective strikes against NATO? 

A: In theory. a selective strike was considered a possible option for a response to a 
selective srrike from NATO. The Soviet Union took steps to ensure that selective strikes 
were technically possible. This was not a nivial task, because it required replacing the 
older "all or nolhing" command and control system wilh a sophisticated control system 
which allowed launches from individual silos. However~ in practice the Soviets did not 
believe that selecdve strikes were possible. Soviets believed any nuclear use would lead 
to uncontrolled escalation. 

Q: Who were the inside opponents of lhe OMG? 

A: Opponents included Kulikov and Danilevich. Opponents generally thought that 
individual divisions were capable of ellploiting their own successes on the front line. 

Ogarkov believed that the military should be modernized and made more 
competitive on the high-tech battlefield. He favored professionalizing the services, 
reducing spending on infantry. civil defense. air defense units not located near the 
periphery, aircraft carriers, etc., and closing unneeded academies. Savings would go 
toward developing modem high-precision weapons. 

l80perativnaia MQnt'Vt'tnaUI Grupp:z-Opcrational Maneuver Croup. The OMG was a highly 
mobile division~urarmy-sizcd force designed to preemptively disrupt and destroy the enemy's 
~r-area control, tines of communkations and nuclear capabilities very early in any theater 
conmct. 
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The Soviet Union did not possess the technological base to compete with the U.S. in 
developing high-tech, high-precision weapons. In this sense Ogarkov's opponents were 
not entirely incorrect in their opposition to his proposals for restructuring the military. 
Instead the Sovie1s concentrated on developing cheap, effective counter·measures to 
NATO's technology. The OMG was one such counter-measure: if you are highly mobile, 
your opponent's precision weapons are ineffective, since he never knows your position 
with cenaimy. 

NATO's combined arms strategy was conceptually close to the thinking behind the 
OMG. However, in implementing its straregy, NATO kept its existing units and simply 
reorganized them to combine coordinated air and ground operations. The mission of each 
individual unit remained the same. By contrast, the Soviets developed the OMG as a 
special group with its own mission ctistinct from other units. 
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Q Why did the General Staff decide to put nuclear warheads on operational-tactical 
and tactical missiles? 

A Because it was possible. The General Staff thought that tactical nuclear weapons 
were a good idea once their yield was small enough w avoid friendly casualties. No 
serious disagreements re,arding tactical nuclear weapons arose between defense 
industrialists and the operational military. 

Q Was the employment of tactical nuclear weapons in Europe expected to slow down 
a Soviet advance? 

A The General Staff conducted quantitative analysis in the early 1970s on the effects 
of battlefield nuclear weapons and found that if those weapons were used, all significant 
movement would cease for several days. Before the 1970s, the GS expected the rate of 
advance to be 20-30 km per day with only conventional forces and 40-50 km employing 
nuclear weapons. 

Q East German NV A documents describe nuclear use, including nuclear preemption, 
in Warsaw Pact exercises before 1981. Was this evidence of the Soviet intention to 
iniliate nuclear use in the European theater? 

A No. Soviet anned forces did not plan to use nuclear weapons first and were 
forbidden to exercise initiation of nuclear use. All exercises, tactical to operational­
strategic, passed through my hands from 1974 to 1988. Before that I was assigned to 
high level staff and command positions in various Western military districts, and I would 
almost certainly have known if such a scenario were used. 

Soviet forces exercised for many reasons: (l) to train command, staff, and troops; 
(2) to test new operational concepts; and (3) to prepare forces for execution of war plans. 
In training, we often included nuclear strikes in scenarios because we assumed that 
NATO would employ nuclear weapons and that we must be prepared to respOnd and to 
continue operations under nuclear conditions. In most exercises we would train people in 
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all possible requirements in the evem of war and most annies of the world 1hat I'm aware 
of do that. 

Q Was "dosage use" considered an option against the U.S. or only in Europe? 

A Intercontinental selective use might have been considered but would be very likely 
to lead to a general nuclear exchange. The level at which "dosage use" was given any 
serious thought was within the TVDI9. 

Q If the U.S. had launched a selective strike on one or two radars in the USSR, how 
would the Soviet High Command have reacted? 

A Any initial selective nuclear use by the U.S. against Soviet missile attack-detection 
radars as a signal to the Soviet leadership would be extremely dangerous. The Soviet 
military almost certainly would regard such an attack as a precursor strike against Soviet 
radars to be followed immediately by strikes against central systems. We very likely 
would assume we were under general attack and would launch massively. 

Q Are there specific examples of weapon systems that were developed despite 
objections from the General Staff or were produced in larger numbers than the GS 
wanted? 

A First, many in the GS opposed development of aircraft carriers. Second, the 
Ministry of Defense opposed the development and deployment of mobile ICBMs but 
ultimately was overruled by the defense industrialists. Third. in 1964, as a division 
commander. I had major problems with high failure rates of tank engines and demanded a 
programs overhaul from the Ministry of Defense Industries, but to no avail. 

Q In what year was the "all or nothing" command and control system replaced by a 
system that allowed launches from individual sites? 

A In the early 1970s when MIRVs were deployed. 

Q In the 1960s, did Soviet plans for a preemptive strategic nuclear strike envisage 
panicipation of naval forces? 

A No. SLBMs onLy had accuracy for use against econo~c potential ~nd indu~trial 
infrastructure and therefore was a very poor weapon for anythmg but tetahatory stnkes. 
Communications to SSBNs were not sufficiently responsive to rely on in an initial 
response or a retaliatory~meeting slrike. Even in a retaliatory strike, there was a high 
enough probability that the control system to the submarines would be damaged that 
SSBNs were not a very reliable retaliatory system. 

Q: In your written comments prepared in April you noted that the military was not 
represented in the final phase of key defense decisions such as, for example. tht:; 1_00ve 
into Afghanistan. You said that Ustinov was involved. but that he was not mtlnary. 
What effect did Ustinov have on the military's role and influence when he became 
Minister of Defense in 1976? 

19fegtr Voyennykh DeysWii-lheater of (Strategic} Military Action, for example, Central Europe 
from Ukraine to the the Western shore ol Ireland. 
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A: At first, for the first year to yeat and a half, the effect was positive in the sense that, 
as the most influential industrialist he was able to cut through the bureaucracy and 
disag<eements between the MOD and the industrialists and get things done. After all. 
they were his people. Then we realized that we had been taken over by the enemy. He 
really wasn't representing the interests of the military. 

Q: Throughout the late 1960s, the 1970s and early 1980s several military and civilian 
military-industrial institutes, using quantitative analysis and models of various kinds, had 
canied out extensive analysis of the likely fonns of warfare and the forces that would be 
needed to carry out such warfare. Did this analysis actually affect decisions taken at 
higher levels? 

A: Not really, because nothing ever changed. The industrialists kept producing what 
they wanted to produce and the desires of the military customers (zakazchikJ) continued 
to be ignored. 
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Dr. Ikle pointed out that none of the Reagan administration's documents provided a 
definitjve interpretation of Soviet actions. Individuals in the administration had their own 
views on Soviet military intentions. 

The Soviet Union was not preparing to initiate war but was planning, if war broke 
out, to fight and win. The Soviets were serious about nuclear warfighting. They believed 
that nuclear weapons had military utility, as evident from their investment into nuclear 
forces, such as SS-18s and SS-20s. 

The USSR built up its nuclear arsenal in order both to deter and to fight. In Dr. 
Ikle's personal opinion, the Soviet buildup was intended mainly to deter U.S. first use of 
nuclear arms. Soviet weapon programs were not influenced much by U.S. force 
deployments. The USSR had its own seven~year cycle and track for anns procurement. 

The Soviets did not :share the U.S. view of mutually assured destruction. Instead of 
settling for a SALT-like approach, they sought an edge. Their force deployments created 
the image that they wanted more than parity. Dr. lkle tried to silence talk of a "window 
of vulnerability" (though U.S. concerns about C3 vulnerability were real). By his 
assessment, the Soviet Union wanted a coercive (not a first strike) capability, but some 
administration officials genuinely thought that the USSR was out 10 acquire a first-strike 
capability. 

Dr. Ikle also made the following points: 

• The Soviet Union. due to its growing strength, was moving toward acceptance of 
limitations on nuclear war. 

• The USSR could win a war with limited objectives using only conventional 
forces. 

• The U.S. government was concerned aboul the possible Soviet employment of 
chemical weapons. 
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• The Soviet Union probably would not escalate from theater nuclear to global 
nuclear use, but the Reagan administralion had no sharply chiseled views on this 
questions because when deterrence failed, thinking stopped. 

In Dr. lkle's personal view. first use was a useful doctrine for NATO in 
peacetimebut would be dangerous in war, because London and Bonn would do 
everything to prevent nuclear first use and would thus leave NATO open to Soviet 
blackmail. Secretary of Defense Weinberger probably did not accept Dr. lkle's argument 
that the NATO decision process, which was slow and which the Soviets could listen into, 
would give the USSR time to preempt. The Soviet Union was geared to preempt. 

The analysis which Dr. lkle received was of mixed quality. Mr. Andrew Marshall 
produced good stuff. The analysis from the acquisitions pan of the Pentagon was poor. 
Dr. lkle relied much more on the data than on the analysis provided to him. 

Dr. lkle tomplained that too much attention was devoted to anns control. In his 
view, the Reagan administration also made too much of the MX missile. Secretary of 
Stare Haig pushed for the MX in order to prevent the USSR from acquiring a coercive 
nuclear potential. If the 0·5 had been ready earlier. the U.S. could have done away with 
the MX. 
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During the late 1940s and early 1950s, several Main Directorates for special 
technologies were created within the structure of the Council of Ministers of the USSR. I 
was quite familiar with the Third Main Directorate (TGU), which dealt with air defense 
technology. The Design Bureau-! (KB-1) was created to design all air defense systems. 
At first this was a relatively small research organization with its own experimental 
production plant. Later on it grew into a huge scientific research organization, which 
developed almost all air defense ntissile systems. The ftrst project ofTGU and KB-1 was 
to create the Moscow air defense system. This was an enonnous fixed-site construction 
consisting of two large rings designed to combat American "flying forts" A the newest 
bombers ~ and to protect Moscow and the Moscow industrial region. This system had a 
code designation S-25. 

During the early years KB-1 had working for it several German specialists who had 
worked on air defense systems in Gennany during the last year of the war. They worked 
in KB~ 1 with a small group of our own specialists, chief designers, but all the rest were 
isolated. The system was very large and expensive, but since we had no experience of 
this sort, we decided to build it. As a result. several years later the system was built and 
put in place. TGU existed for a relatively short time and in the 1950s all of its divisions 
were turned over to the ministries. It should be noted that TGU employed civilian 
specialists from all branches of industry who could take part in the development of such a 
large system, as well as military specialists who later on moved into the Ministry of 
Defense to work on the operation of the system. 

The TGU had considerable rights and the decisions it made were signed by the 
Council of Ministers without any discussion. It was allowed to use any ministry and any 
production facility, and use funds from any source. It was not limited in anything and 
this speeded up the development process considerably and created an atmosphere in 
which work was relatively easy and fast, which cannot be said for the ministries. In the 
ntinistties you had to ftght with GOSPLAN, GOSSNAB and the Council of Ministers 
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every time you introduced any Hu.Je innovation a new, relatively simple design. All of 
this took a lot of time and slowed down work. When the TGU was eliminated, a 
department called the Military· Industrial Commission (VPK) was formed inside the 
Council of Ministers there. The task of this Commission was to coordinate all 
development of military technology, planning and pn:paration of Council of Ministers 
decisions on these questions. The VPK played a very imponant role in directing new 
R&D efforts, and thus, was responsible for conducting the anns race from the Soviet side. 
In later years it also worked on questions of arms reductions and prepared materials for 
our delegation at the arms reduction negotiations, together with the Ministry of Defense 
and other government bodies. 

We were always behind the U.S. in the development of nuclear missiles, and 
because of this a first strike was not even discussed. I don't know of a single document or 
discussion in which a first strike doctrine was adopted. But individual highly-placed 
officials sometimes stated that if we did not keep up with the U.S. in annaments, then in a 
crisis, upon observing U.S. preparations for a nuclear sttike, we would have to preempt. 
But I repeat that officially there was no such doctrine in the documents with whtch I was 
familiar. During the Khrushchev era and prior to it I was not in the center of international 
affairs and cannot say rhat such views did not exist then. The retaliatory-meeting strike 
doctrine began to be worked out in the late 60s and early 70s. Confen:nces held under the 
chairmanship of the MOD (Grechko et. al.) and conferences involving the Chief 
Designers (Ustinov, Riabikov, et. al.) came to the conclusion that at the time we did not 
have the capability to conduct a retaliatory launch before the enemy's warheads hit our 
missiles. There were many debates and calculations, but the doctrine was not worked 
out. One of the most difficult and labor intensive tasks was coming up with a decision at 
the highest level of leadership. The commander in chief-- Khrushchev, and after hirn 
Brezhnev -- did not want to take on the personal responsibility, and a meeting of all of the 
top-level officiaJs, discussion and taking of decisions would require not minutes and 
seconds, as would be required by the time of flight of a missile, but hours. 

During this time development began of the second generation of ICBMs with 
MRVs as a counterweight ro the American Minuteman~2 missile. In consideration of the 
special importance of this system, Ustinov and Smimov, on the instructions of the 
Ministry of Defense, assigned the preliminary development to 2 design bureaus •• those 
of Yangel and Chelomei. Both designs wen: completed and discussed at a meeting of the 
Defense Council. There was a difference of opinion: the MOD backed the Chelomei 
design, while the VPK (Ustinov, Smimov) and the Academy of Sciences (Keldysh) 
preferred the Yangel missile. Afanas'ev, The Minster of General Machinebuilding. sided 
with the MOD, but inside his ministry the chief of the head Scientific Research Institute 
(Nil) Mozzhorin, and the First Deputy Minister Tiulin did not go along with him. The 
meeting of the Council was held in Crimea, in the mountains overlooking Yalta in a 
forest clearing near a small cottage. The people who lived in the cottage had been 
temporarily moved out and replaced by workers of the 9th Main Directorate of the KGB. 
The number of participants in the meeting was quite large: ministers of the branches of 
defense industry, the top ranking military men, general and chief designers, heads of the 
Central Committee and Council of Ministers apparatuses, academicians from the 
academies of science of the USSR and UlcrSSR. In all there were at least 50· 60 people. 

The meeting of the Defense Council was chaired by Brezhnev. The Secretary of the 
Defense Council, M.M. Kozlov, played a passive role, kept a thick folder full of 
documents and took notes. Seeing this, Ustinov sat me and the head of the Defense 
Department of the Centml Committee down next to Kozlov to take careful and accurate 
notes. and to make sure that Kozlov did the same. 
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Yangel and Chelomei made their presentations. Chelomei was usually very self· 
congratulatory, always exaggerating the capabilities of his designs. By contrast, Yangel 
and Piliugin. who designed the missile's connol system, were cautious and always gave 
themselves a margin for error. Chclomei, knowing that Brezhnev and Grechko were 
predisposed towards him. as Khrushchev and Malinovsldi had been before them, lavishly 
praised his brainchild. Yangel emphasized the innovations of his design: SUl'Vivability, 
etc. Although he did not state it directly, it beeame apparent that Chelomei considered 
protection of missiles and silos against nuclear blast to be superfluous. The uniformed 
military did not pay particular attention to the details of the presentations and focused 
instead on the quantitative characteristics. Yangel had 4 MlRVs,l0 and Chelomei had 
6lt. Most of those who spoke and who depended on Grechko and Afanas'ev for one 
reason or another supported their position. Mozzhorin, the chief of the leading NH22 of 
the Ministry of General Machinebuilding gave a detailed comparative analysis of the two 
missiles which clearly showed that Vangel's design was preferable. The president of the 
USSR Academy of Sciences Keldysh touched on questions of doctrine, as well as 
technical questions. He proved that all debates regarding missiles stemmed from 
questions of doctrine ~- (trst sttike vs. retaliatory strike ~- and that ccnain circles still held 
on to the vain hope of destroying the opP.?nent with a single strike. lnslead, he argued, 
we should use all of our technical capabtlities to guarantee a retaliatory strike, as this is 
the only way to deter the U.S. from first use of ICBMs. Afanasiev declared with pride 
that the Ministry had carried out the instructions of the Pany and government, had 
developed both missile designs, and had begun preparations for production. He took the 
side of Chelomei saying that he suppons the position of the Minister of Defense because 
most of the specialists had spoken u'l favor of this missile. For the firSt time he spoke 
against Usrinov. He said to Brezhnev, "Unfonunately, Leonid ll'ich, Dmitrii Fiodorovich 
has become an opponent of Chelomei and greatly hampers our efforts.'' Before this 
meeting he had always sworn allegiance to Ustinov and was fond of saying, "Dmitrii 
Fiodorovich, you are our teacher and we~~ your students." 

Tensions were very high. Despite the tents that had been set up, the July sun had 
made it very hot. Bre•hnev announced a 20 minute recess. We all got up and split up 
into groups, continuing the discussion in the shade of the trees. Brezhnev called Ustinov 
and Grechko over to him and talked to them in a fairly loud and agitated way. I could 
hear phrases like, "What kind of position have you put me in? Why was it nm possible to 
discuss these questions beforehand?" They replied that they had discussed this problem 
many times, but were unable to reach consensus. Epishev came over and said to 
Brez.hnev, "Leonid Il'ich. since when have the industrialists begun to dictate to us in the 
military what kind of weapons to buy? We know better than they what we need." l could 
not hear the reply to this of the others, but it seems that he was ignored. 

After the break there were no more speeches, and the chairman Stated that 
objections had been raised to the draft decision prepared by the Council. The problem 
would need to be reworked by Ustinov, Serbin, Keldysh and Kozlov. Usually meetings 
like this ended with a traditional dinner and toasts to the leadership, but I don't think that 
happened this rime. Maybe they had a dinner down in Yalta, as all of the main 
participants quickly left to go down from the mountain. Ustinov, Keldysh, Alekseev, 
Serbin and l stayed behind. We discussed how to prepare the draft decision and what to 
put in it. Keldysh played the most important part. His suggestions were adopted. He 

20Vangcl's missile probably was an early version of the SS-17 (Russian designation RS-16). 
21Chclomei's design became the 55-19 <Russian designation RS-18). 
22NJI-Muchno-lsledm~trl'nii institut-Scicntific Research Institute. Mozzhorin's institute, 
Tsniimash, employed over forty thousand scientists and engineers. 
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proposed to outline the requirements for a strategic missile system •• practically a military 
doctrine for the country. Also, to write a compromise~ to produce both missiles. This 
decision, which was very hannful to the country's economy, was made because of 
Brezhnev's indecisiveness and unwillingness to quarrel with his closest friends. The 
decision was wrinen by Keldysh and Ustinov, and the rest helped. When the si~natures 
were collected, Grechko tried to delay the decision and even hid from Serbin at hts dacha 
when Serbin arrived with the documents. The Manhal left his dacha through the back 
door and did not return for several hours. Ustinov and Keldysh liked working together 
very much and switched to the familiar form of address •• ty •• in their conversation. 
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Q: Could you discuss the role of the Military-Industrial Commission (VPK) at the time 
of the July 1969 meeting of the Defense Council in Yalta and Dmitrii Ustinov's position 
at that time. 

A: The VPK was responsible for the formulation of military-industrial policy. 
Specifically, the commission had responsibility for defining what weapon systems and 
equipment were necessary and in what quantities. who would build them, etc. The VPK 
also was responsible for saving resources on arms building where possible. 

By 1969, relations between the Military·lndustrial Commission and the military 
were hostile. There were continuous battles over weapon systems. This was true even 
though the Ministry of Defense was represented on the VPK by a First Deputy Minister 
of Defense. 

In 1969, Dmitrii Ustinov held no state positions. He was CPSU Party Secretary for 
milita.ry~industrial cadres and armaments where, among his responsibilities, was the 
definition of the probable enemy and the enemy's present and future capabilities and 
objectives. Before he assumed the Party position as Secretary, he was First Deputy 
Chairman of the Council of Ministers, and before that, Chairman of the military 
committee within GosPlan. the state economic planning agency. For much of his career. 
up until he became Minister of Defense, Ustinov held the military rank of General· 
Colonel, but he was not military. 

Q: Could you please expand on the nature of the issues and personalities that were 
debated. Who was on which side of the main issues? 

A: The debate concerning intercontinental missile systems focused on the differences 
between the proposals for missiles by Vangel and Chelomei. Early in the history of 
missile development, Chelomei had received Khrushchev's blessing (Chelomei had 
concentrated on the development of cruise missiles, and Vangel on ballistic) and such 
suppon gave Chelomei an advantage vis~a-vis other chief designers for some time. 

Of the two missile systems presented in July of 1969, Chelomei's was the less 
survivable and less reliable for a retaliatory strike. At the sanne time, Chelomei's design, 
which was for a MIRVed system, included 6 warheads whereas Yangel's system, 
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admittedly more reliable and systemically more survivable, had only 4 warheads per 
miss Be. 

These contrasting characteristics led the participants in the Yalta Defense Council 
meeting to take sides. The military, especially the Minister of Defense Grechko, liked 
Chelomei's design because it provided more warheads per missile and because Grechko 
didn't care about survivability. Others on Cheloroei's side included Minister of General 
Machine Building (MOM) Afanasiev, his deputy Tiulin. 

Supporters of Yangel's system tended to include those who believed that 
survivability was an important factor. Most of Vangel's supporters were from the VPK or 
people associated with the VPK. This included Ustinov, Smimov, and Keldysh, the 
President of the Academy of Sciences. For slightly different reasons, Mozzhorin, the 
Director of TsNUMash, the Central Research Institute for MOM, opposed his boss, 
Afanasiev, and supported Yangel. 

Q: Was the concept of survivability defended on the basis of any concept of 
deterrence? 

A: No, there was no formal concept of deterrence. If we had accepted a concept of 
deterrence in which survivability of a smaller number of missiles was the logic we would 
have to follow, we would be forced to reduce radically the number of missiles in our 
inventory. We did not fonnally accept that logic. We did consider survivability, 
however. including the possibility of missiles launching in time to avoid destruction by 
an incoming nuclear attack. We called this a "retaliatory~meeting strike'' (otvttno~ 
vstrechnyi udar) which is what would happen under such circumstances. The July 1969 
Defense Council meeting was the first rime retaliatory~meeting strikes were discussed 
seriously as something we might be able to do. It was clear that it would be preferable to 
simple retaliation where we would absorb a first strike before launch. 

I would say, however, that Grechko himself did not really care about survivability. 
Grechko canceled the mobile ICBM program in 1968 and he prevented the hardening of 
silos beyond 2kg/cm2. He alone, a simple cavalry officer with very little ability to 
understand technical and Strategic questions, was able to hold back much of the MOD 
and the technical analytical specialists in the military industries and military~political 
staff, in making progress in improving systems and systems survivability. He overruled 
many including the Chief of the Strategic Rocket Forces (SRF) who relied for advice on 
his own military~technical committee (NTK-nauchno~rekhnkheskii komirec rak.ernykh 
voisk.). We understood that Grechko took such a position because he did not really 
believe in retaliation nor in retaliatory-meeting strikes. He believed in first strikes even 
though it violated our official military policy (voennaia politika) of not initiating nuclear 
strikes. 

Q: Could you comment on the relationship between Marshal Ustinov and Nikolai 
Ogarkov? 

A: That is a very difficult, uncomfortable question. I would prefer that you ask 
Ogarkov himself. 

Q: Marshal Akhromeev in the book he wrote with Komienko, which was published 
posthumously, explained that when he (Akhromeev) left in 1980 to be the representative 
of the Supreme High Command in Afghanistan, Ogarkov and Ustinov were getting along 
very well. When he returned in 1982, relations between the two officers were terrible, so 
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bad, in fact, that the work of the General Staff and the Ministry of Defense were very 
negatively affected. Routine work and decisions would be prepa.n::d in the General Staff 
and never be approved, or not even transmined, to the Minister of Defense because of the 
hostility between the two senior Marshals in the Armed Forces. 

A: Yes, rhat sounds like an accurate description of what it was like. 

Q: Was it personal or professional? 

A: Well, Ustinov liked the high-technology and nuclear strategic systems and 
strategies, and Ogarkov thought conventional war, the ground forces, and preparation for 
war in the TVD (Tearr Voennykh Dei.stvii-Theater of Strategic Military Action) were 
more imponant. In 1980, Ogarkov even argued for a cut in strategic forces and an 
increase in conventional forces. But that was not the main problem. The major 
differences seemed to be personal. 

Addendum to June 23, 1993 Interview on July 1969 Crimea Meeting orthe Defense 
Council 

The opposing blocs according to Illarionov: 

Che!omej design CSS.J9l: 

Favored by Ministry of Defense specialists and uniformed military 
weakly protecredlfirst strike weapon 
6 warheads 
Principal supponers: Grechko (MOD), Afanasiev (MOM), Epishev (Deputy MOD for 

Political Issues) 

Vangel desjgn <MR~ 100/SS~ 17> 

Favored by VPK/industrialists 
high protection, survivability/retaliatory-deterrence weapon 
Principal supponers: Ustinov, Mozzhorin (head of ToNI !Mash), Keldysh (Acad Sci), 

Serbin (head of defense depanment of Central Committee), Alekseev, lllarionov 
(assistant to Ustinov) 

Although as a compromise Brezhnev put both types of missiles into production, the 
Yangel bloc won the doctrinal argument, leading to tbe formal adoption of the 
retaliatory-meeting strike doctrine. 
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Both the U.S. and the Soviet Union always stressed the vulnerability of strategic 
and tactical nuclear weapons, especially fix.ed. land·based missiles, which can be 
successfully desrroyed using conventional weapons. Therefore the Soviets continually 
improved the protection of silos, de~concentrated and dispersed silo groups, and created 
mobile ICBM systems which could roam the vast territory of the country. The principal 
Soviet strategic advantage was this vast territory • 22 million square km. The principal 
U.S. advantage was its access to warm water, of which the Soviet Union had virtually 
none. Even when Soviet submarines came out into open waters they were immediately 
detected and tracked. It order 10 fully exploit their advantage Soviets created mobi1e 
land-based systems. By contrast, the U.S. had only approx. 1000 land-based Minuteman 
3 launchers and 54 Titan 2 launchers. But in general the U.S. based its missiles away 
from its territory in order to draw the flre away from its territory. 

Tactical nukes. 

Kalashnikov was member of the military·technical council of MOD: Kalashnikov 
argued that it was a grave mistake to outfit operational and tactical missiles with nuclear 
warheads. However these arguments were in vain because it was the industtial complex. 
that dictated proeurement and production. 

First Dennition of Missile Role and Silo design. 

1950 . 1961 Kalashnikov worked at Kapuslin Yar as head of First Testing 
Directorate testing virtually all ballistic and cruise missiles designed during that time. 
After observing a test on Sept. 14, 1958, Khrushchev commented that in the future 
missiles would be the sword and shield of the country. The following day Kalashnikov 
was directed to draft a highly secret repon on options for silo designs to increase 
survivability of Soviet missiles. The report outlined 3 options: 
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I) single launch dispersed silos 

2) groups of 4 silos 

3) reflre: single silo containing missile drum 

The first option was selected for prototype testing using an R-122l missile. The first 
launch occurred in spring of 1959. Kalashnikov considered the type of basing to be the 
single most imponant detenninant of system effectiveness. 

Threat from NATO countries. 

The following technological developments particularly threatened security: 

I) Technological achievements of the U.S. generally, panicularly the ever 
increasing accuracy of U.S. missiles. Accurncy doubled every 5 years: 

1960 Minuteman lA 4 km radius 

1965 Minuteman 2 2.1 km 

1970 Minuteman 3 1.2km 

1975 Minuteman 3A .8km 

1980 M3 (single warhead) .5km 

1985 MX (self-guided) .25km 

1990 MX (self-guided) .15km 

2) Cruise missiles with self~guiding warheads 

3) reconnaissance·strike systems with separate self~guiding elements used as anri~ 
tank weapons in Europe. 

Threat from Warsaw Pact countries. 

The following Warsaw Pact systems were the most destabilizing: 

I) The Tern 2-S [probably SS-16] mobile missile system· had an astounding effect 
on the U.S. 

2) The Pioneer SS-5 [SS-201 mobile missile system 

3) Silos of the .. Oss .. type with super-hardening for SS-18 liquid fuel missiles 

4) Nuclear tactical/operational missiles and nuclear anillery 
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Regarding periods of high tension and danger. 

Crises were primarily manufactured in the highest echelons of party and 
government leadership, some for political, some for economic or other reasons. An 
••ample. In June 1966 Kalashnikov was assigned to oonduct a demonstration test of the 
R-1624 missile for De Gaulle. What De Gaulle saw had a profound effect on him. He 
lurned to Brezhnev and asked, ,You've got quite a lot of missiles. Where are they 
aimed?" Brezhnev replied, "At cities, including Paris." At that time NATO headquarters 
was located in Paris. After the exercise De Gaulle cut shon his visit and left the country. 
This story illustrated how the high leadership periodically deliberately brought about 
political tensions. 

Mutual Assured Destruction. 

Soviets did not accept the concept of mutual destruction. But the doctrine of 
reraliatory~meeting strike [RMS]2S in effect produced the same result - mutual 
destruction. This {RMS] was a senseless doctrine. The targets of retaliatory strikes for 
bmh U.S. and USSR were administrative·lndustrial centers, air bases, C3 centers, and 
others, which resulted in the destruction of the industrial and military potential and of the 
population. The targeting of launchers did not make sense from our point of view 
because RMS relieved the launchers of their missiles and it did not make sense to hit 
empty silos. It was impossible for either us or for the Americans to destroy warheads in 
night. 

Protection from surprise first strike. 

Soviets had several concrete projects for protection against a surprise first strike. 

I) Silo protection was continually improved. 

2) More attention began to be paid to the early warning system. This was done 
primarily by organizations subordinated to the Radio Industry Ministry, headed by 
Valerii Dmitrievich Kolmykov. Kalashnikov was a strong advocate of a sophisticated 
early warning system, including introduction of "noise-like" [scrambled] c3 signals. His 
arguments were resisted by Kolmykov who got bad advice from his chief designer and 
consultants. The need for a strong EW system was finally made clear by Pleshaltov, an 
anns control negotiator in Geneva and Kolmykov's deputy, who claimed that Radio 
Ministry's resistance to modernizing the system had put the Soviets far behind c.he 
Americans and undercut the Soviet negotiating position. 

The situation regarding EW prolection against a surprise attack was quite serious. 
In 1975 a commission. of which Kalashnikov was a member, was set up to study the 
problem. Kalashnikov, after consulting with bright young specialists whose views were 
often suppressed, pointed out that Soviets could not keep up with the U.S. in tenns of 
accuracy. However, as U.S. accuracy increased, the velocity of the reentry vehicles also 
increased, and their size decreased. This leads to the possibility of disabling the RVs by 
putting ordinary chaff in their way. This idea led to preliminary R&D on the SAMBO 
system led by Kalashnikov in conjunction with Sergei Pavlovich Nepobedimyi, who was 

24rrobably the SS-8. 
25Referred to elsewhere in interview records by the Russian phrase, otvetrurvstrtchnyi udar. 
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designing a similar system for protection of tanks against missiles. The preliminary work 
led to 4 or 5 abstracts (avtorskie svidete/'stva). The outlines of the system: burst 500 • 
1000 m above the silo or c3 center scattering "ordinary elements" in a horizontal plane 
with a velocity of 2000 kmls (in addition to the speed of the RV itself). 

Support was found for this idea. and it was proposed to Ustinov and presented to an 
MOD Collegium in April 1980, which included Gorshkov (VPK-Smirnov's first deputy) 
and members of the industrial complex. Gorshkov was opposed to the idea because PRO 
was developing its own anti~ missile system, under the direction of the Nudelman KB at 
the time. However, eventually the protocol was signed by all the members of the 
Collegium and Nudelman's work was subordinated to this project. This was a serious 
project, which continues to undergo development and has yielded some positive results. 
Work is now continuing in the KB headed by Nikolai lvanovich Vushchii. The work 
involves both radar/radio and optical detection methods. including a phased array system 
for electronic scanning. If the system is built and deployed~ it will eliminate the 
possibility of a surprise attack on our silos. 

Right now the emphasis continues to be on precision weapons which can deslroy 
silos and other targets with reasonable accuracy. Weapons are not developed in a 
vacuum, but in response to something. 

Scenarios for limited global nuclear war. 

Scenarios for limited global nuclear war were not developed. NATO's medium 
range missiles (with ranges to 2000 km) did not present a threat to us. Ous medium range 
SS-20s had a range of 4500 km; the SS-4, SS-5 have ranges of 2500 and 4500 km. 

Stralegic superiorily. 

The Soviet Union did strive for strategic superiority. It achieved superiority in the 
following areas: 

I) Number of launchers 

2) Silo protection 

3) yield of warheads 

4) range and power of missiles 

However, Soviets were never able to create a. sophisticated, survivable. integrated 
command, control and communications system. This was their "Achilles' Heel". 
Kalashnikov produced an analytical repon for the General Staff comparing Cl systems of 
the US and USSR. This analysis had a devastating effect on the OS because it nponed 
that the U.S. possessed 8 command and control centers which were absolutely protected, 
while the Soviet Union had none. This report created some movement toward 
modernization. Kala.shnikov calculated that after sustaining an all-out nuclear strike 
Sovlet would be able to launch only 2% of their missiles. This calculation was based on 
data supplied by several industrial Nils, including TsNI!Mash [the Research Institute of 
rhe General Machine Building- Missile- Ministty) (which reponed a figure of 6%) and 
NII4 [the Research Institute of the Strategic Rocket Forces] (10%). However, a figure of 
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2% is most realistic - out of 100 surviving silos, only 2 would be able to launch their 
missiles. 

Kalashnikov produced an avtorskoe sviderel'srvo co build two spherical command 
centers inside mountains: one for the General Staff, one for the SRF command. 
However, a major difficulty was the lack of an adequate communications infrastructure. 
Soviets had [have] only one military communications cable linking Moscow with the Fa:r 
East. By contrast, the U.S. has a network of command centers linked by a computerized 
communications system. If one region or sector of this communications net was knocked 
out, bypass links could be set up in a matter of seconds. 

Therefore Soviet superiority in the number of launchers did not give them any real 
advantage. This numerical superiority reflected a mechanistic, wasteful approach to force 
building. 

The Soviets had amassed a superior fttSt·Strike arsenal. But they were not able tO 
desrroy an aggressor in a retaliatory strike because they did nor have an adequate c3 
system for launching their surviving missiles. 

Nuclear war in Europe. 

Soviets tried to plan for nuclear scenarios, however they were all senseless. The 
main threat for NATO was the large number of Soviet tanks located in Europe. The 
Soviets had no incentive to escalate the war to the nuclear level because the consequences 
would be equally devastating for Europe and for the European part of the Soviet Union. 
The leadership believed, with good reason, acconding to Kalashnikov, that Soviets could 
cenainly win a strictly conventional war in Europe and advance at least to the English 
Channel. The ban on tactical nuclear weapons has without question drastically reduced 
the level of the Cold War. 

Economic competition. 

Soviets were not on even ground with the U.S economically. U.S. GDP in 1981 
equaled $2,924,800,000,000 1981 Soviet. GOP equaled 939.16 billion Robles. But they 
spent more on weapons, which led in the end to the ruin of the economy and the 
pauperization of the people. The arms race and instability were aggravated by military 
bases outside the borders of the two superpowers, considering that they reduced flight 
rimes. etc. 

1972 Exercises. 

During this time there were tests held at Semipalatinsk to detennine the nuclear 
survivability of all existing silo and command center deslgns. For this underground 
nuclear tests and above ground tests using conventional explosives equivalent to 10 
kilotons were used. For the above ground tests many kinds of equipment were used, 
including mobile missile platfonns. SS~20s. planes. tanks. other kinds of annor. etc. 
Kalashnikov was deputy in charge of missiles on the commission conducting the tests. 
Findings: ground bursts were generally effective at disabling silos. but results were 
somewhat mixed. Air bursts were very effective against planes, tanks. ere. 
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Deployment of SS-20. 

There were several reasons for the deployment: 

I) Obsolescence of existing medium range missiles. Existing missiles were: R-12 
(SS-4]- deployed March 1959, unprotected, above ground launchers, with range of 4500 
km and carrying a .5 megaton single warhead; R-14 (SS-5]· above ground, unprotected 
with 4500 km range and I megaton warhead. Both were liquid fuel missiles with low 
combat readiness. These two systems were deployed in the European and Central Asia 
parts of the USSR, first on unprotected above~ground launchers, then, as a result of 
Khrushchev's decree of 30 May, 1960 (mentioned above) in group silos, hardened to 
withstand only 2kg/cm2. Deployed in silos 1964. Soviets wanted to eliminate these 
obsolete systems and replace them with solid-fuel missiles. 

2) Soviets wanted to deploy a mobile missile system 

3) By this time the Tem-2S mobile ICBM (probably SS-16], using the MAZ-500 
mobile launcher, had been developed, and was in production, but it was banned by the 
SALT II agreement Kalashnikov pointed out that it was technically a simple matter to 
conven the 60 existing ICBMs into the Pioneer (SS-201, which was permitted by the 
agreement: simply remove the second stage of the missile. Thus the SS-20 was born. 
The Central Committee decree was prepared in a matter of days. The creation of the SS-
20 caused a great uproar in the West, panicularly in American military circles. 

Strategic superiority revisited. 

The Soviet Union did strive for strategic nuclear superiority. In 1975 the U.S. had 
1710 launchers operationaL We had 2558. After 1968 the U.S. practically did not add 
any launchers. 

Soviet megatonnage per warhead was 2 M 3 times that of the U.S .. However, the 
11del'naia mlJshchnost' of the U.S. warheads (warhead size in proponion to weight, thrust 
and range of the missile) was 25% greater than Soviet. Soviet missiles had far greater 
launch weight than U.S. e.g. the Minuteman weighed 35 tons, carried 3 warheads and 
had a 10,000 km range. Soviet missiles compensated for the inadequacy of their designs 
by their great launch weight and throw weight. The pressures in their bum chambers 
were lower because of less sophisticated materials. Even the Soviet solid fuel missiles 
had far greater weight than their U.S. counterpartS. 

NATO threat. 

The Soviet Union perceived a threat from NATO behavior. The main goal of the 
U.S. during the Cold War and the arms race was to force the Soviet Union to commit the 
maximum resources to nuclear and other weapons in order to destroy its economy. This 
strategy was in the end successful because when the Soviet Union was committing 60~ 
70% of its industry to defense needs, the economy crumbled. 

During a meeting involving Central Committee Defense Secretary Dmitrii F. 
Ustinov and Chief of the General Staff Zakharov. Kalashnikov argued that industry was 
overextended and committed too much to annaments. This economic over extension was 
driven by the arms race and by the growing complexity and sophistication of medem 
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weapons. During and after WWll4 industrial plants were required to build a tank. Now, 
after the arms race at least 150 plants are needed. This means !hat many industrial plants 
which under normal conditions would be non-defense, were deliberately and 
systematically drawn into defense production. The U.S. was much stronger 
economically. U.S. indusuy was working at_75% capacity throughout the Cold War 
period, while Soviet industry was working at full capacity. The U.S. GOP rose 
consistently. From 1967 to 81 real GOP actually declined in Soviet Union. 

Every year since 1969 the U.S. produced 280..300 missiles. Soviet Union produced 
540-570. This vast industrial base devoted to the production of missiles destroyed the 
national economy and pauperized the people. Most important, the Soviet Union had 
more than 20 types of missiles serving essentially the same roles. The military's ambition 
had always been to eliminate this redundancy and have just 2 or 3 types, e.g. 1 heavy and 
I light ICBM. Kalashnikov repeatedly made proposals to this effect. But these 
arguments were always rebutted with !he question of what would happen to the workers 
if KB Chclomei or KB Vangel, which operated the Yuzhnoe facility, were closed down. 
During one particular meeting of the Defense Council held by Brezhnev in Crimea, the 
redundancies were clearly demonstrated and !he proposals for design of MR-!()026 and R· 
3727 were also presented. Brezhnev made the militarily senseless and economically 
destntctive decision to keep all designs in production, 

At this meeting Kalashnikov argued for the design of a solid-fuel missile to replace 
the SS-18 to be known as the SS-21 and developed at Yuzhnoe. The SS-18 was not 
canceled. but Kalashnikov's proposal was received favorably. Some of these missiles 
would be rail-based. Grechko was strongly opposed to the rail option because he thought 
that the railroads. which are the Soviets' lifeline, would be seriously disrupted by rail­
based missile launches. Kalashnikov headed the development team for this missile 
[ultimately produced as the SS-24]. 

Closing remarks. 

Kalashnikov is convinced that throughout the period of the development of nuclear 
missiles, especially when Soviets began their production in earnest, the U.S. was~ 
afraid of Soviet nuclear power, and of the possibility of accidental or unauthorized 
launch. The fact that Bush agreed to equal numbers of warheads for each side in the 
recent START II agreement, even though Russian warheads are of much higher yield, 
reflects this concern, esp. in view of the political instability in Russia, and constitutes a 
great concession in favor of the Russians. It would be a great loss for history to lose a 
civilization like the United States. History shows that advanced civilizations have always 
been desU'Oycd by more primitive ones (Rome, the Moors in Spain. etc.). 

2&fne MR-100 is probably the manufacturer's number for the SS.17, Yangcl':s four~warhcad 
missile proposed in July 1969. The Strategic Rocket Forces <SRF> designation for the same missile 
was the RS-16 (missiles often were known under two or three designations; the manufacturer's 
number, the SRF number and, for some systems, a number for general space applications). 
27 Almost certainly a general space system number for Chelomei's SS-19 known also by the SRF 
number RS-18. 
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The communications system was the Soviets' Achilles' Heel in the late 60s and early 
70s. The U.S. cable communications system is very survivable because it consists of a 
computerized grid with many nodes that is difficult to knock out completely. U.S. 
command centers are very well protected and employ long~wave communications. By 
contrast, the Soviet cable communications are very weak, leacling to poor survivability in 
models. This vulnerability has not been corrected to this day. A new cable system 
linking Moscow with the Far East has not been put in. 

The Soviet Military*Industrial Complex was very resistant to change and innovation 
and there were ''titanic battles" for the quality of weapons. For example, there was great 
resistance to introducing scrambling devices (shumoobraznye signaly) into Soviet naval 
communications. Kalashnikov became convinced of the need to introduce these devices 
in the early 80s after talking with Adm. Lobov, commander of the Nonhern Aeet. Lobov 
described shadowing a U.S. fleet on maneuvers and not hearing any radio traffic. A 
tremendous battle ensued involving the Minister of Radio Industry Kolmykov. Such 
baules were commonplace during the Brezhnev period, when the Military·lndusttial 
Complex became entrenched. 

A great tragedy for rational weapons development was the closing of the General 
Staff Scientific-Technical Council (NTK) by Grechko. The NTK was an independent 
body not responsible to any of the ministries. It was therefore difficult to muffie. After 
Grechko disbanded it the only NTKs left were ones belonging to the services of anned 
forces. However, they were greatly weakened. 

Q: Did the Soviet Union conduct tests to compare the effecrs of ground-bursts vs. height 
of bursts? 

A: When the first silos were built Soviets needed data for building shock absorption. 
The first tests to assess the effectiveness of shock absorption were conducted in 1963*64. 
At first these tests used conventional high explosives, but later on more elaborate tests 
using nuclear blasts were conducted. These later tests were made using silos and a 
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command center. Later still, above ground tests were conducted using conventional 
explosives to measure the effect on equipment Hke tanks, planes, etc. A series of tests 
was conducted in Novaia Zemlia in 1961, but only to measure warhead yields. 
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Since the times of Stalin decision makers worked in very close contact with the 
chief designers. Most chief designers were very erudite. capable people who understood 
well the problems facing the country, the economic constraints. and the scientific aspects 
of the problems. The military industrial complex absorbed the best technical and 
scientific capabilities of the state. The benefits and privileges inside the complex were 
also greater. In the end these circumstances gave the complex its own life which 
consisted in the fact that, despite the lack of necessity for massive series production of 
armaments, and without any military actions in which these arms were depleted, arms 
were stockpiled and the industry continued to grow independently of military needs. In 
the 70s and 80s certain branches of industry, such as the munitions industry, grew at 3 or 
4 times the rate of the defense industry as a whole. 

The defense industry never accepted simple solutions. Changes were made only in 
favor of the growth of the complex. All intelligence assessments of the probable 
opponent were skewed in favor of the maximal threat when they were made available to 
the leadership. The principle was always that it is better to overestimate than to 
underestirnare the opponent. Our retaliatory measures were always taken in response to 
the opponent's maximal capability. 

The directors corps [comprised of directors of major defense conglomerates or 
"NPOs"] also helped to maintain high production levels. When the military was fully 
saturated with heavy strategic missiles. there were concrete instances when directors of 
production facilities. such as the director of YuzhMash, Makarov. would visit Minister of 
Defense Ustinov and would say: "Dmitrii Fiodorovich, please take a few dozen missiles." 
And Ustinov would r<:ply, "But what will I do with them, Aleksandr Maksimovich?" To 
which the dir<:ctor would reply, "But if you don't. how will I feed the working class?" 
And Ustinov would take the missiles, which the army did not really need. But they wer<: 
produced, and the Ministry of Defense had to buy them. 

The army and the industry had a common interest in producing more and more 
powerful systems in greater and greater numbers, independent of changes in the 
international environment. And the pressure to produce was greatest on the most 
sophisticated kinds of systems, especially on the strategic systems. So, in the structure of 
the defense industry, space_ missile building, and aviation accounted for 34% of all 
specialists; communications and radio electronics took up 20%; shipbuilding took up 9%; 
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artillery, munitions and small anns took about 12%. Only 55% of the capacity of the 
defense complex was employed in the production of military goods. 40% was employed 
in the production of civilian industrial and consumer goods. For example, at the Ural 
Railroad Car Plant in Nizhnii Tagil • the largest tank plant in the world · the proponion of 
defense production was 64%; at the Votkinsk missile technology plant, the proponion 
was also 64%; at Volgograd"s "Barricade" works, which produced missile launch 
equipment and anillery, it was 72%; some of the shipbuilding plants were 80 • 95% 
dedicated to defense production. 

Although generally speaking the defense industry was a monolithic structure, there 
were occasional rifts. While some designers were onhodox in their thinking. othe~ were 
not. For example, the question of protection of strategic missile complexes led to a 
drawn~out debate. Yangel and some others designers proposed to create silo-.based, 
protected strategic missile complexes, with protection of at least 100 atmospheres. This 
proposal was opposed by some designers, including Rudiak, who insisted on retaining the 
old silo design, with in~silo engine stanup, and which were not well protected against 
nuclear attack. As a result of Vangel's, Glushko's and Peliugin's lobbying, Rudiak was 
removed from his position. 

The need to get ahead was not always determined by military necessity or by the 
scientific capabilities of the design bureau. It was largely determined by the military~ 
technical leadership. In the early 1960's the well~known Miasishchev aviation design 
bureau was transferred to the Chelomei missile design bureau, where Khrushchev's son 
was working. Khrushchev relied on the infonnation supplied by his son, which gave 
Chelomei great advantage. His missiles were not bad. and were highly esteemed by the 
troops for their reliability, ease of use, and good design. In order to avoid slighting the 
other design bureaus, their missiles, which were of the same class as Chelomei's. were 
also put into series production simultaneously. This caused some difficulty in the Rocket 
Forces, which at one time had more than 10 different missiles seiVing the same mission. 
This led to a kind of internal arms race inside the defense industry, which did not always 
adequately reflect the country's defense requirementS. Of course, rhis arms race was 
defended on a theoretical basis, found expression in mini~doctrines of development of 
one kind of technology or another, and was supponed by those members of the military 
who always believed that there could never be enough weapons. 

The defense plants never stopped production of defense goods, but rather aimed to 
increase production, independent of the demand, which led ro stockpiling of expensive 
technology. For example, there were at different times up to 4, 5, and, in the case of 
particular systems, 8 nuclear basic loads (boekompleklov) of naval strategic missiles. The 
submarines themselves permanently carried approximately 0.7 nuclear basic loads, which 
was quite sufficient for all sorts of testing. etc., as was also the case with the American 
side. Not more than 1.5 nuclear basic loads would have been sufficient. 

While working in the Defense Department of the Central Committee, I attempted to 
bring these facts to the attention of the leadership, but was simply told nor 10 concern 
myself with these matters. The work of the Defense Department aimed constantly to 
increase weapons production. to make sure that the technological level of the weapons 
being produced did not fall behind that of our probable opponent. The role of the 
Defense Depanment was limited to the development of new kinds of weapons, 
organization of their series production, and their transfer to the active forces. Use of new 
systems and their incorporation into the force structure was entirely the role of the 
military. What the army did with their weapons was not under the control of the 
specialists inside the Defense Industries Depanment. The traditional approach inside the 
Defense Industries Depanment, which dated back to the days of Stalin, was that the 
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customer, that is to say the MOD, is always right. However, what was meant by the 
MOD was often the view of rhe Minister of Defense. This subjective view was the 
decisive one in the creation of new weapons systems and in the arms race in general. So, 
for instance, in the early 1960s the Yangel design bureau suggested to respond to the 
Americans' increasing accuracy by designing mobile missiles which would in effect 
counter accuracy by creating uncertainty about the location of our missiles. It should be 
noted that with the appearance of the highly precise MX missile, we faced a significant 
gap in retaliatory capability using silo-based missiles. Bringing on-line the mobile 
missiles eliminated this shortcoming. When the science committee of the Rocket Forces 
agreed with this view, Minister of the Defense Grechko disbanded the committee and 
unilaterally rejected the rail mobile missile complex, thereby stalling itS development by 
10 - 12 years. If the decision to develop these mobile missiles had been made in the mid-
1960s, as was planned, it is doubtful that the U.S. would have invested in the MX. In this 
case we [Soviets) would not have invested in various other countermeasures to lhe MX. 

ln practice, our government did not have a structure for making important political­
military decisions of this type. Such decisions were made by rhe top three or four 
leaders: the Secretary of the Central Committee, the Minister of Defense, the Central 
Committee Secretary responsible for the defense industry, and the Chainnan of the 
Military~ Industrial Commission (VPK). However, these decisions were not always made 
based on a balanced discussion of options. For example, the decision to build the 
Krasnoyarsk radar site was made by this troika or foursome in violation of the ABM 
Treaty. But this was easily demonstrated, and in the end led to the liquidation of this site. 
A similarly thoughtless decision was made reganling the deployment of Pioneer [SS-20) 
missiles in the European part of the USSR. In response to this we got the Pershings, 
which led to a complete strategic destabili•ation in Europe and we later had to liquidate 
these missiles at great political and economic loss to us. 
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Also present: Viktor Popov 

Q. In your narrative discussion, you indicated there was no formal structure for 
political-military decision-making but that a "troika,'' or perhaps a foursome of top 
officials actually made such decisions; the Defense Minister. the Central Committee 
Secretary for defense industries, the Chairman of the Military Industrial Commission 
(VPK), and the Secrtlaty, I assume General Secretary, of the Cenll'lli Committee. In our 
earlier discussion you and Viktor Popov mentioned the "piaterka" Lthe five] who had the 
final say on defense issues. The five you mentioned were: Smimov, Chainnan of the 
VPK: Ustinov, the Minister of Defense and Secretary for Defense Industry; Gromyko, 
Minister of Foreign Affairs: Andropov, the head of the KGB, and Brezhnev, the General 
Secretary. 

A, The broader "Piaterka" with Andropov and especially Gromyko was more likely to 
be involved on defense questions that went beyond the interests of only the military or rhe 
industtialists, questions related to doctrine and high level. international decisions related 
to arms-limitation negotiations. 

Q. It has come up in earlier discussions that Chelomei's missile presented for decision 
in Yalta in July 1969 was assessed to be less reliable than Vangel's. What determined the 
reliability (ustoichivost) of a missile system? 

A. First of all, Chelomei's missile had a low survivability (zruhchimost) rating, low 
reliability (usroichivosc) rating. and an overall reliability (obshchaia nadezhnost) rating of 
90%. (The Minuteman was rated between 70% and 80%.) The overall reliability is the 
product of several factors~the missile's inherent stability and the hardness of onboard 
control and launch syStems. the silo, the local control system, the central control system, 
especially to include its survivability and the survivability of the control links to nuclear 
attack (including Electromagnetic Pulse, EMP)-that would affect a missile system's 
ability to launch and strike its target in the aftermath of a nuclear attack. Karaev made 
clear that, by Soviet criteria, the Minuteman was systemically less reliable under or after 
attack than the SS-19 (even though, in the late 1960s, Minuteman was hardened to 20 
kg/cm2 versus the Soviet Union's 2 kg/cm2). 
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Q. In your calculations, what assumptions did you make about U.S. intentions and 
capabilities to launch against the Soviet Union? 

A. We assumed that the U.S. would launch ftrst and, given your focus on accuracy and 
relatively smaller yields per warhead, !hat you intended to strike our weapons and control 
systems in an attempt to disa:nn us. 

Perhaps the single most important factor affecting our calculations was the accuracy 
of your strategic missiles. In our estimation, the U.S. began its pursuit of very high 
accuracy in 1963 in what we called !he MX program. Your detennination to increase 
warhead accuracy led us to be more and more concerned about the survivability of our 
systems. By 1965 we had decided to develop mobile ICBMs. By the early 1970s, we 
were to have tested the first rail·mobile system. Grechko, however, canceled the mobiles 
program. 

Nuclear power (iodernaia moslat;h'), in our assessments, is a function of yield, 
number of weapons. and accuracy. Accuracy can have a decisive effect as a multiplier to 
greatly increase the effective power of a nuclear missile. Several factors, especially 
accuracy, for example, increased the power of the U.S. nuclear arsenal by a factor of 3 in 
the years leading up to difficulties associated with RlaN(raketno·iadernoe napadenie-­
nuclear missile attack) in the early 1980s.Z8 

Q. Could you expand on the role of the "Dead Hand" missile communications system? 

A. "Dead Hand" represented one of two trigger mechanisms on a basic system of 
command missiles (komandnye rakery) designed to launch Soviet ICBMs. The basic 
command~missile system is comprised of a command missile or missiles deployed near, 
but not in, clusters of silos. The command missiles are well concealed, physically 
hardened well beyond the hardening of weapons launch platforms and especially well 
hardened against damage from electro·magnetic pulse (EMP-e/ektro·magnitnyi 
impul's ). Each command missile is linked in its communications package with a specific 
set of launch platforms. Upon command, the missiles are launched into near space from 
which each missile transmits launch orders to that cluster of ICBMS to which it is linked. 
(The scenario under which the system would be used assumes that all ICBMs are 
retargeted from enemy missiles to objectives that have economic and infrastructure 
value.) 

There are two means by which each command missile might be launched to 
transmit its message to the ICBMs. The ftrSt is under positive control from the central 
control system. The decision is taken to launch and the time before impact of the enemy's 
strike is seen to be insufficient to permit normal launch procedures. The second is the 
"Dead Hand" launch mechanism. Under the "Dead Hand" mechanism, the decision 
maker at the center unblocks (razblokirovat') the no--fue mechanism at the center, thereby 
releasing launch control to local automatic triggers associated with each command 
missile. The triggers, fed by numerous sensors. will launch its local command missile 
and, in rum, its associated cluster of tCBMs once the sensors are excited by the light, or 
seismic shock, or radiation, or atmospheric density associated with an incoming nuclear 
strike. 

28RJaN was an acronym that the Soviets used to describe a spcdal period of tension between 1980 
and 1984 when they reported greatly heightened expedations of a nuclear attack from the US. 
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It is imponant to understand that unblocking of "Dead Hand" assumes the scenario 
of a situation that is extremely thnatening to the political and military leadership of the 
state. The basic expectation is that all decision makers are dead when the command 
missiles automatically fire. 

Q: I would like to touch, once more on the question of selective strikes. 

A: We never accepted a limited strike o!!;tion, not in the Central Committee, not as an 
element of the military policy of the CPSU [Voennaia Politika KPSS]. 

Q: But very well informed generals in the General Staff claim that they analyzed 
limited options of various kinds, and, under some conditions, would be prepared to 
implement them. 

A: Of course the military played with this inside their own little box to which they 
would then pull down the cover, shutting themselves in the dark away from expOsure to 
what was really going on. [He formed a box around his eyes with his hands and then 
pulled an imaginary cover out and down over his eyes). Even though the military looked 
at limited options I know, personally. that they were not accepted. I attended many very 
high-level [The Defense Council supported by Central Committee military-industrial 
department) meetings where major weapons and other development and procurement 
decisions on missile systems were debated and made. At many if not most such 
meetings. the doctrinal and strategic rationale for such force development decisions were 
reviewed and sometimes challenged. At such meetings selective use was occasionally 
raised as a possible option and was always rejected. Selective use was not approved, 
even for the tactical level. 

Q: It seems to me that holding on to a position that "one little nuclear weapon from the 
enemy will end the world," was designed to deter(sderzhat') The U.S. 

A: (Kataev and Viktor Popov, with recognition and enthusiasm): Of course. Exactly 
so! 

Q: All right, what if for some reason deterrence failed and the Americans did what 
General Korobushin said we exercised in the mid~ 1980s. two or three nuclear missiles on 
remote military facilities in Siberia~ or even seven to twenty tactical nuclear strikes from 
NATO in Europe against Soviet Forces in the course of an ongoing war'! What would the 
Politburo do • in the 1980s or 1970s? End the world by retaliating with a massive strike? 
Ignore the strike? Respond with limited strikes and negotiate? 

A: [After a fairly lengthy and very serious pause! I just don't know. That would be a 
very tough decision. [Viktor Popov also thought that the actual response would be very 
difficult and very hard to predict. Both seemed to be caught by surprise by the question · 
as if they actually had never considered it before.) 

29rhe VOtntutiR PolitikR. KPSS represented the most authoritative, IUgh--level e)(J'ression of the will 
of the Communist Party with respect to issues of state security and defense. 
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I met General Kirshin for the first time at a conference on East-West security issues 
held at St. John's College, Cambridge University. At an informal meeting toward the end 
of the conference, General Kinhin and I became better acquainted and he answered some 
of my questions related to his work with General of the Army Makhmut Gareev and 
Marshal Nikolai Ogarkov. 

I recommended that Marshal Ogarkov impressed me as a very thoughtful, 
intelligent officer who had written a great deal of interesting articles and monographs. 
General Kirshin countered, almost dismissively. "on ne pisal, on podpisyval" (He dtdn't 
write these things. he signed them). 

I asked then, that if Ogarkov had only signed these writings, who wrote them? 
Kirshin replied that the miliWy theoretician and author behind Ogarkov for many years 
was General-Colonel Danilevich. Danilevich, he stressed, was a major military thinker 
and presence in the General Staff but not well known nor widely published. He was well 
known, however, within the General Staff. He said that Danilevich was retiring at the 
end of the year. I asked if Kirshin could arrange a meeting. He promised that he would. 

Kinhin added that, even though he didn't always write his own material, Marshal 
Ogarkov was a very intelligent, active Chief of the Genentl Staff who closely reviewed 
and critiqued everything that went out over his signature. When asked what happened 
that caused Ogarkov to be reassigned in September of 1984, Kirshin replied that Ogarkov 
was fired, personally, by Minister of Defense, Marshal Ustinov. Kinhin, seemingly on 
the basis of detailed knowledge, added that the fuing was carried out abruptly and with 
considerable rudeness. Ogarkov had gone on vacation to the Crimea in Augnst of 1984. 
Ustinov telephoned Ogarkov in the middle of his vacation and informed him that he 
could extend his vacation because he had been fired (uvolen) and given a new 
assignment. Ogarkov returned immediately to Moscow to confront Ustinov who refused 
to change his decision and who assigned Ogarkov to the l:ligh Command of Forces of the 
Western TVD. He said that the events in August of 1984 repmsented the culmination of 
months and years of bad and deteriorating relations between Ustinov and Ogarkov. 
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I mentioned General Gareev and Kirshin volunteered that Gareev was a serious 
thinker Md scholar. Gareev, he said, wrote his own books Md anicles. 
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I mentioned to General Kirshin that I had heanl that General Danilevich, as part of 
his responsibilities in the Main Operations Directorate of the General Staff, had been 
responsible for preparation of a major work on strategy for use, in the event of war, by 
the Armed Forces of the USSR. I mentioned that it was a large, three volume book. 
General Kirshin corrected me. It was not a book but rather a nas:avlenie (directive) of 
the General Staff for the conduct of strategic operations in the event of war. It was years 
in preparation under General Danilevich's direction and covered every aspect of strategy; 
intercontinental and theater, nuclear and conventional, in space and at sea. I asked if it 
ntight be possible to obtain a copy of the directive. Kirshin laughed and said that the 
enure set was top secret and protected by restricted access. 

I asked about the relative knowledgeability of various general officers on questions 
of strategic nuclear doctrine-issues such as first strike and use of selected nuclear 
strikes. Kin;hin asked me to be specific. I asked who would be better informed on such 
questions, General Varfolomei Korobushin or General Danilevich? Kirshin responded 
that General Korobushin, while technically very knowledgeable based on his many years 
in the Strategic Rocket Forces (SRF), would not necessarily know the context within 
which he was carrying out orders in training and exercises. The services. including the 
SRF, were not privy to the most sensitive details of scenarios and doctrinal questions 
which were developed and resolved among a relatively small group of officers within the 
Main Operations Directorate (GOU) of the General Staff. General Danilevich worked as 
special assistant to the Chief of the Main Operations Directorate for over fifteen years and 
worked in sensitive positions in the General Staff for twenty-six years. He had long been 
a major influence on questions of strategy and doctrine as witnessed by his responsibility 
for preparation of the most comprehensive document on strategy ever prepared by the 
Soviet General Staff. He believed that in the area of questions on strategy Danilevich 
would be among the best informed in the Soviet Armed Forces. 
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The Soviets. in Ambassador Komer's view. were reluctant to wage war because they 
were not sure that they would win. The more they developed theit nuclear capabilities, 
the more aware they became of the destructiveness of nuclear war. 

The Soviets thought that the United States had strategic superiority into the late 
1970s. They had achieved parity and were striving for superiority. Mutually assured 
destruction was too sophisticated a concept for the Soviets. They built up thetr nuclear 
arsenal in order to enhance deterrence and also to gain leverage over the U.S. They spent 
a great deal on intelligence to copy U.S. nuclear weapons programs. 

The U.S. government hoped that limited nuclear strikes would work but was unsure 
whether the USSR would back down if the U.S. fired nuclear warning shots. There were 
no hard indications of what the Soviet leaders thought 

The Soviets would try to wage war with conventional weapons, but if lhe U.S. were 
about to use nuclear arms, the USSR would preempt. The advantage gained from 
preemption would be large in a theater war. 

The Soviets considered chemical weaP.ons more useful than the U.S. did. 
Nevertheless, they were deterred by U.S. stockpiles of CW. 
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Vitalii Kataev panicipated in the exchange. 

Throughout the mid-70s and up through the mid-80s I fmnly believed that the U.S. 
was willing aod capable of a first strike against us. NATO's official stance, which did 
not rule out this possibility, only affirmed my belief that this was possible. We were very 
much afraid of this possibility. 

I was responsible for control systems for Strategic Rocket Forces. Because our 
main fear was of a U.S. first strike, our main objective was to design a system that was 
capable of launching as soon as launches were detected. I believe that we reached lhis 
objective. 

As for our side, I am deeply convinced that no one on our side was capable of 
initiating a fust strike. 

Q: Even at the theater level? 

A: At the theater level, in case of a war in Europe, we would have crushed NATO 
forces in a conventional conflict, and NATO would have been forced to use nuclear 
weapons fU'St. 

Q: Our relations with Europe were always very complicated. In discussions with 
former Secretaries of Defense it was clear to me that nuclear use would have been 
unlikely. 

A: In the mid-80s the U.S. held exen:ises in which it used 3 • 5 preventive selective 
nuclear strikes against the territory of the Soviet Union during an imaginary conflict in 
Europe. This was done in order to demonstrate U.S. willingness to use nuclear weapons 
if necessary. Conflict in Europe was possible. 

We came closest to nuclear war dwing the Cuban crisis. This was Khrushchev's 
adventure and 1 did not agree with what we did there. But we in the military did our job. 
Marshal Biriuzov, the commander of Soviet forces in Cuba infonned us of the decision to 
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couple our existing nuclear warheads to our missiles. We had very few missiles at that 
time capable of reaching the U.S. There were some in Plesctsk. But in Cuba there were 
around 40 missiles, including 9 R-5 missiles with a 5000 km range and carrying I 
megaton warheads. (According to Danilt:vith, the missiles based in Cuba carried two 
types of warheads: /.8 and 4.2 megatons.] If it had come to war, we would have wiped 
out Europe, Africa, Israel, Turkey. 

We never planned any selective strikes (vybarnye udary). As Grethko stated on 
more than one occasion, we would answer with full force to any use of nuclear weapons 
on the part of the Americans, no matter how limited. We never conducted any exercises 
using selective strikes, and I know because I participated in all our nuclear exercises. I 
suggested to Akhromeev that we conduct exercises using limited strikes, but he rejected 
this idea. We never considered using selective strikes even in theory. There were never 
documents or studies suggesting their use. Up until the 70s we never even considered 
that the Americans might usc limited strikes, so we did not consider how to respond to 
them. Limited nuclear use only occurred in American exercises in 82 - 85. 

Q: What led to fears in the early 1980s that a U.S. attack was imminent? 

A: All U.S. actions pointed in this direction: the deployment of more Minuteman 
missiles, the deployment of MlRVs, the deployment of the L-492 flying command 
centers which used the recorded voice of the president to activate launch commands. 
These command centers began development in the early 70s. In 1977 we developed a 
similar but better system which could order missile launches. 

Q: Did the issuing of Presidential Directive No. 59 (PD-59) influence General Staff 
perceptions? 

Yes, but your PD-59 would have been futile. Right now we have a system in place 
which would automatically launch all missiles remaining in our arsenal even if every 
nuclear command center and all of our leaders were destroyed. This system, called the 
Dead Hand (Mertvaia Ruka) would have been triggered by a combination of light, 
radioactivity and overpressure and would cause several command rockets to be launched 
into orbit, from where they would send launch codes to all our remaining missiles. These 
special rockets were protected in special hardened silos with protection to 240kg/cm2. 
Thus, there was no need for anyone to push a button. All of our ground-launched 
missiles are protected to over 100 kg/cm2. Your missiles are not as well protected. We 
assumed this was because they were meant to be ftrst strike weapons. 

Q: What about accidental triggering, by eanhquakes, for example? 

A: The system is not on. It is to be activated only during a crisis. 

Kmev: We in the Central Committee's Defense Department considered the early 
1980s to be a crisis period, a pre-wartime period. We organized night shifts so that there 
was always someone on duty in rhe Central Committee. When Pershing lis were 
deployed. there appeared the question of what to do with them in case they were in 
danger of falling into Warsaw Pact hands during a war. These missiles had to be 
launched. This made them extremely destabilizing. Furthermore. the only possibl~ 
rargets of these missiles was our leadership in Moscow because Pershings could not reach 
most of our missiles. 
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A: I offer one more piece of evidence that we had no intention of initiating a ftrSt 
snike. In case of a conventional attack against us, we always planned to destroy all our 
missiles and silos, rather than use them to launch missiles. This was standard operating 
procedure. We had on hand mines and destruction devices which we would have 
emplaced in our silos if they were ever in danger of being overrun. 

Q: Were there also provisions for destroying mobile missiles in Europe? 

A: Yes. The same was planned for theater weapons. 

I argued with Akhromeev that because of our nuclear shield, we no longer had any 
need for East Germany and that we needed to negotiate directly with the FRG, not with 
the U.S. reganling the withdrawal of all our troops from Germany. I argued that it did 
not matter how many men the Americans had in Europe. I did not care if they increased 
their forces in Gennany. We had to get our. But Akhromeev was solidly against this 
kind of move. 

Karaey: Shevardnadze and the Foreign Ministry argued thar the number of U.S. 
troops and our troops in Europe should not be linked. However, the military and the 
political-military leadership were against it. 

Kombushjn: We were very afraid of the Americans. If we were not afraid, why would 
we need missiles and silos with ready times of 60 seconds!? Our EW satellites were able 
to detect a strategic missile attack upon launch, approximately 30 minutes from impact 
but we did not consider the attack confinned until our radar confinned the trajectory to 
target approximately 14 minutes prior to the first splash. Yet our control system was so 
well prepared that this was more than enough time to launch a retaliatory sai.k.e. even if it 
took the leadership over 10 minutes to make a decision. It took just 13 seconds to deliver 
the decision from Moscow to all of the launch sites in the Soviet Union. This shows that 
we were preparing only for a retaliatory~ meeting strike (orvetno~vstrechnyi udar). Why 
else would we have spent billions of rubles to design and build such a sophisricated 
command and control system? 

Q: Was such a tenn as Deterrence (sderzhivanie) ever used in regard to strategy'! 

A: Maybe among the leadership there was such a concept. But speaking as a military 
man I have to say that all of our calculations for force building were based on the 
scenario of the retaliatory w meeting strike, not on the idea of deterrence. We calculated 
that a 40 - 45% destruction of the U.S. GOP would be enough to be considered 
unacceptable damage. Likewise, we know that the Americans calculated that 30 - 40% 
destruction of our GOP would be considered unacceptable. 

Our early missile, the R-4, was not capable of a retaliatory- meeting strike. It had a 
ready time of 20 minutes. It was only in the mid 70s that we had acquired a generation of 
missiles with retaliatory ~ meeting capability. 
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Q: Were you aware of a meeting held in July 1969 in the hilis above Yalta and 
attended by Brez.hnev and vlnually all senior industrial directors and military officers 
involved in the force development process'! 

A: Yes. I did not attend the meeting. We (the SRF) were represented by Marshal of 
the Soviet Union (MSU) Krylov, CINC of the SRF, but I am very much aware of the 
meeting because I had staff responsibility after the meeting for working out how to 
implement in the SRF decisions taken at Yalta in July 1969. The 1969 Yalta meeting was 
attended by the entire senior military~industrial leadership to include all PoHtburo 
members with any interest in force development (voennoe stroitel'srvo). The meeting 
was a very special meeting of the Defense Council (which nonnally met every four 
months or so) whose purpose was to establish a fifteen-year plan. or at least guidelines, 
for development of the Armed Forces of the USSR. The meeting was called specifically 
to get arms building under some kind of central direction. This was driven by the 
realization, at the highest levels, that arms building in the Soviet Armed Forces had 
become an unguided process (neupravliaemyi prorsess), with each service (vid) pushing 
for its own systems and for as large a part of force authorization as possible uncontrolled 
by any central concept, and such a concept and overall plan was to be established clearly 
by the Defense Council at the Yalta meeting. 

General Kravets added that he was personally very familiar with the process in the 
missile-building industries. He complained, for example, that the general designers 
(glavn.ye konstruJuory) and military industrialists created a complicated and wasteful 
situation because. in the continuous aggressive internal competition among various 
designers and industrialists, each participant ultimately had his own way. That is to say, 
competing missile systems would be developed and tested and all variants, usually two 
but sometimes more, would be accepted for production and put into the forces. This led 
to a situation where the USSR had 12 types of ICBMs, which created a situation of great 
waste of resources, time. and research and development effort for the Soviet Union. "The 
U.S.," he said admiringly, "has only three types of ICBM, a more rational arsenal." 

Q: When did the mobile ICBM program begin? 
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A: We swted by developing operational-tactical mobile missiles in 1964 in Chelomei's 
design bureau. Vangel tried to put together a longer range mobile missile by combining a 
liquid-fueled first stage and a solid-fueled second stage. He tested it in 1968 with tetrible 
results-there was a massive explosion. The program was canceled. I believe in 1969. 
Another mobile ICBM program was initiated in 1968 as we improved our competence 
with soJid fuel. 

Q: Were any of these systems what NATO called the SS-16, or some other 
designation? 

A: No. NATO never had a designation for these two systems. They were very closely 
guarded programs that we hid successfully from many, certainly from NATO. 

Q: Why did the USSR invest in intercontinental mobile missile programs? 

A: Because or Minuteman. You had a solid-fuel missile with a 10,000 km range. It 
was responsive, simple and accurate. We had nothing like that. 

The second reason is that our silos were hardened to only 2kglcm2 and yours were 
hardened to 20kg/cm2- Our silos weren't improved until somewha1later into the 1970s. 
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.. Purpose of Interview" 

Explore questions of forecasting future force suuctutes given the impact of new 
military rechnologies and the increasingly imponant role of space in warfare. Invite Gen. 
Krivosheev to Washington for informal RAND~hostcd discussions about long-range 
military forecasting and nuclear proliferation. "General" 

The meeting was arranged by General-Major Victor I. Filatov, Editor-in-Chief of 
Military Historical Journal I have known Filatov since December 1988. He is extremely 
open and friendly and invited me to address him in the familiar, (na ty]. He is also 
extremely conservative in his views and quite well connected in the General Staff. He 
had offered to arrange a meeting with Krivosheev when I met him in October in 
Washington and he kept his promise in December. I explained to Filatov my reasons for 
wanting to speak with Krivosheev. Filatov passed them on to Krivosheev with, 1 am 
convinced, a great deal of suppon and persuasion. As I discovered later. Krivosheev 
discussed the general concept of an infonnal visit to the U.S. with Yazov and received 
agreement in principle to the visit as well as pennission to let me into the General Staff 
building to discuss my proposal. Filatov infonned me before the interview that 
K.rivasheev had already agreed. in principle. on the idea of an informal visit. 

General Filatov took me over to the General Staff in his Volga at 10:40 a.m. We 
arrived at the main entrance to the large white General Staff building at 10:50. General 
Filatov esconed me into the building, displaying his J.D. to the guard who saluted and let 
us pass without challenge. We went by elevator to the founh floor and walked an 
additional fifteen or twenty meters to General Krivosheev's office. The General Staff 
building is bright and extremely well maintained. The ceilings are high, twelve to 
founeen feet. the hallways wide, at least ten feet, the walls painted a light beige and many 
of the floors, including rhe hallways, are covered with orienlal carpets. All windows, 
doors, baseboards and ceilings are trimmed in carefully stained wood that appears to be 
oak. The offices that I saw are trimmed in wood of similar quality and all office 
furnishing were of wood and appeared to be well made. The bright, clean, well­
maintained appearance of the General Staff building contrasts sharply with the generally 
shoddy state of most of the civilian institute buildings l have visited. 

102 



Cold War Interviews Kri~osheev 

General Krivoshccv occupies a suite of offices (No. 8074) comprised of a reception 
room perhaps twenty-five feet square, his adjutant's office, somewhat larger than the 
reception room and located to the right of the main entrance to the suite, and the General's 
office itself, which is the size of a medium~to~large sized conference room. General 
Krivosheev came out from behind his desk, greeted me very wannly, and took a seat 
across from me at the conference table (that could accommodate fifteen to twenty people) 
located in his office. General Filatov sat to his right. Seated to my left was a young 
Soviet lieutenant colonel linguist whom I used twice to clarify statements made by c.he 
General. The lieutenant colonel also seemed to function as a notetaker with the mission 
of making a record of the exchange. 

I came prepared to deliver my proposal very quickly and succinctly and to leave 
with his response. It soon became clear to me that the General was prepared chat~-at 
length. It also became clear that he was not entirely comfonable with the forecasting 
agenda I proposed and was more interested in addressing more pressing [llll.ltoia.shchit •• 
which means both "current" and "real") problems related to force organization. force 
mnnning. industrial mobilization potential and general issues of force mobilization. 

"General Krivosheev's Proposed Agenda for U.S. Visit" 

The General said that he would prefer to discuss: 

Issues of force building, force organization and force manning. He would like to 
discuss his plans for the Soviet Anned Forces and to hear from us about our past and 
present experience with an all-volunteer force. Of special interest is the recruiting and 
maintenance of an all-volunteer force and integration of reserve components into the 
active force. 

2. Issues of the industrial mobilization potential of the state. He said he realizes 
that this may be a sensitive area but that he is prepared to discuss it 

3. A range of questions about recent events in Europe and the results of :recently 
completed arms control talks. I would list these questions under "venting"··the general 
seems to feel that ir would be useful to explain to us in person the impact of recent events 
on the whole process of force planning in the Soviet Union. His presentation of these 
questions to me was amicable but firm: 

The basis for NATO continuing to identify the USSR as the main threat. He 
pointed out that the Warsaw Pact collapsed several months a'o and that the strategic 
structure in Europe had changed markedly. He explained that th1s was imponant because 
the General Staff must take seriously this pronouncement by such a powerful coalition 
located on the Soviet doorstep in Europe. 

Perceived inequities of the CFE agreement. He invoked Supreme Soviet deputies 
reactions to bolster his case. Subissues include: 

Asymmetrical cuts · He clearly felt CFE was unfair in the distribution of forte 
reductions. He cited 80 NATO tanks to 8,000 Soviet as an example. 

Destruction of old equipment fi"t by both sides · He indicared that he was hearing 
complaints from the U.S. about this and claimed to be puzzled because the U.S. was 
doing the same thing. 
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New equipment east of the Urals and in the U.S.- He again claimed that the U.S. 
was saving and hiding equipment in the U.S. and elsewhere and was excessively self~ 
righteous on this question. 

The U.S. Navy's evasion of Arms Control constraints. He stated that the U.S. Navy 
has at least three times the combat potential of the Soviet Navy against a Soviet threat 
that is diminishing measurably. 

Continued concern about Germany. He seemed genuinely to fear German 
irredentism in Poland and even Kaliningrad. His greatest concern was that they would 
get back former German lands without war because of weakening European and 
American resolve vis~a~vis Germany. 

He indicated that many of these questions, especially the German question, were far 
too sensitive to put in an official wriuen agenda. Consistent with this auitude, he was 
concerned that the visit be informal and unofficial and not widely advenised. He asked 
for an invitation from the Deputy Secreuuy of Defense to MoD Yazov but he did not 
want any publicity for his visit. General Filatov told me later that he was especially 
concerned about European reactions. 

Despite his preference for a quiet visit, the General volunteered to make a 
presentation at "the instirute" where we prepare our officers for planning industrial and 
force mobilization and to give a talk in the Pentagon. 

General Krivosheev and General Filatov both made it clear that panicipation in the 
visit by general officers from the Center for Operational~Strategic Research and from his 
own directorate was acceptable but not welcome. Filatov promised a much more open 
General Krivosheev if he were not accompanied by younger generals- and officers . 

.. Krivosheev on Future Force Manning Option 11 

General Krivosheev e•plained that the USSR is still in a demographic hole [iama] 
with respect to 18·19 year old males. Recovery is e•pected by 1994-1995. Many of his 
solutions are affected by this situation. 

He indicated that he planned to move toward a professional contract force 
incrementally and that the process would be monitored to help to determine the nature 
and direction of subsequent changes. As a first step toward changing force manning 
practices he plans to: 

Draft young men for six months of specialist training, e.g .• equipmenr operator. 
PYO specialists, etc. At the end of the 6-months training period, the soldier would be 
offered two options: 

1. Sign a contract for 2 (or more) years additional service at better pay. 

2. Or serve out the remaining 18 months service without a contract at a conscript 
salary level. 

By 1994 the total length of conscript service would be reduced to 18 months (in 
anticipation of gening well demographically). By 1994·1995, he expects. the Armed 
Forces to be 50 percent professional. (He believes it is 30 perce~t prof~sstonal today, 
taking into account all officers, warrant officers~ and extended~servtce enhsted men.) He 
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will augment the professional force by accepting a larger number of women into the 
Armed Forces than is now the case. Based on experience with a 50 percent professional 
force, decisions on further changes will be taken. 

''Plans for Reducing Force Levels" 

General Krivosheev stated that: 

The current strength of the Armed Forces is 3.8 million men. This number 
includes: 

MVD (Internal Security), Civil Defense Forces, consllUction troops, DOSAAF and 
what the General called the real military--the combat, combat support and combat service 
support troops who would actually defend the Soviet state. 

By May 1991, the Armed Forces will be reduced to 3.6 million men. By the year 
2000, strength will be ac 3.0-3.2 million. 

Forces are being reduced through attrition, early retirement. and. an area very 
important to him, elimination from Anned Forces accountability of civil defense and 
consllUction troops, DOSAAF personnel, and others. General Krivosheev explained thai 
he was charged, for e<ample, wich the members of "hunting clubs" who made no real 
contribution to the readiness of the Anned Forces. 

The General stressed thac the presenc figure 3.6-3.8 million far exceeds the number 
of real soldiers who would actually defend the Soviet state. He almost gave me the real 
number, looked askance al che silent Soviec interpreter by my side, and said that the 
actual scrength was restricted. I proposed that the figure might be approximately 2.6 
million and he responded thacl was probably "right," or at least very close. 

The General spent a great deal of time venting his frustration at the proliferation of 
civilian "defense specialists" such as Georgii Arbatov who had the temerity to publish the 
"real" strength of the Soviet Armed Forces in foreign journals. The numbers, he said, 
were absolutely incorrect but that he was unable to correct him openly. I suggested to 
him that it might improve the quality of the defense debate if the General Staff were to 
find a way to participate more openly and actively. He responded that there was 
movement in that direction already. He then ciu:d the fact that I was in the General Staff 
building in his office as indicative of major changes in the MoD's approach to dealing 
with ''outsiders." He said that my visit was unprecedented and that he had received 
permission from Yaz:ov himself to see rne in his office. This event, he offered, reflected a 
new type of Soviet-U.S. relationship based on dialogue which he fully supported. 
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11 Purpose of Interview" 

•To review with the inrerview subject's his expectations about the course of military 
refonn from the perspective of the Genernl Staff. 

•To discuss the influence of the development of new weaponry on future force 
strucrure. 

•To solicit his views on the likely outcome of the struggle for control over force 
development and procurement between the Defense Ministry and the Military 
lndustties/Design Bureaus. 

•To discuss the political-military games and role playing planned for the June 1991 
Joint Simulation confenmce m be held in Garrnisch, Germany. 

"Military Reform" 

Contrary to comments by others I interviewed in April and May. the interviewee 
said with considerable conviction and authority that the military refonn plan receiving 
primary attention within the General Staff did not differ substantially from the one 
published by Mmrao Thou~hr in November of last year. The principles on which the 
work is based remained unchanged. These include: 

.One Anny ~~ The Soviet Anned Forces must function as an integrated organization 
at the federnllevel. 

•Mixed conscript and professional (contract) force -·The Genernl StaJf refonn plan 
does not even hold out as a goal eventual total professionalization of the Army. 
According to the General Staff plan, conscription will be preserved as one of the chief 
means for manning the Soviet Anned Forces "over the next ten to fifteen years." 
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•The Armed Forces must be adequate to counter. but not to exceed, the scale of the 
threat to the Soviet Union. 

•There must be a reasonable balance between research and development and force 
procurement (overcoming previous excesses on the side of procurement). 

The issue of conscription is key for military planners. The interviewee conveyed on 
to me the dominant General Staff justification for retention, indefinitely. of a conscription 
system on some scale. The Soviet Union. he explained. is surrounded by potentially 
hostile states that individually or collectively could some day threaten the USSR. As a 
consequence, the Soviets could be forced into a wa.r at a time and on a scale not of their 
choosing. To hedge against this unfortunate possibility. the Soviet Armed Forces must 
maintain a reserve mobilization base on which to expand the Armed Forces in the event 
of a national emergency. In contrast, according to the General Staff argument. the U.S. 
sits behind two oceans and very secure land borders that vinually assure war will not 
come to the U.S. The U.S. can choose the: wars in which it wants to become involve 
tenns that do not seriously threaten the basic security of the state. 

Conscription, in tum, is closely tied to the relative level of centralization of the 
future Soviet Anned Forces. According to the interviewee, the nine republics (all except 
Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia, Georgia, Moldova, and Armenia) that signed a preliminary 
agreement on the nature of the future union with the Center on April 23, agreed to the 
concept of "one (central) anny" and continuation of conscription. The republics would 
retain police forces appropriate for maintenance of security within each republic. The 
key detenninant of the nature of republic~ level forces would be the capabilities of the 
weapons and equipment assigned. Republic-level forces would be restricted in their 
equipment to armored troop transport vehicles {BTRs and modified BMPs) with heavy 
machine guns. No republic would be allowed anillery, tanks, combat helicopters, or 
high-performance combat aircraft. 

The key concession the republics have gained from the center thus far, according to 
the interview subject, it is the right of each republic to detennine how it will generate the 
conscripts levied by the Center. Laws on exemptions, age limits, etc., governing each 
citizen's vulnerability to conscription would be determined at the republic level. The 
interviewee indicated that concessions would not be made on extraterritoriality since 
insistence that each soldier must be allowed to serve in his native republic would 
eliminate, in effect. the possibility of truly centralized. unified Anned Forces. 

The interview subject indicated that the size and structure of the Armed Forces 
would be responsive to any new anns control or general political agreements reached by 
the Soviet Union and other major powers such as the U.S. At the same time. he indicated 
that considerations beyond arms control were tending to strongly influence future force 
planning. For example, internally imposed budget and force sizing constrnints led him to 
predict that the Soviet Ground Forces west of the Urals would be limited to fifty-two 
divisions (with an upper limit of fifty-eight divisions). Included in the fifty-two divisions 
would be si)l:teen to eighteen tank divisions and ··several" machine· gun artillery divisions. 
The machine~gun artillery divisions were considered to be limited in their operational 
mobility and would be assigned to locations where relatively static defense was expected. 
The interviewee identified mountainous regions of the Transcaucasia. the far north and 
far east as probable deployment sites for such divisions. He commented that differences 
between tank and combined.anns divisions would be maintained but that the difference 
in the number of tanks in each type division would be relatively small. 
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"The Military-Industrial Complex (VPK), the Ministry of Defense and the General 
starr• 

The interviewee confmned that the Ministry of Defense is fighting for control of the 
entire ntilitary budget to include ntilitary procurement. He stated that to date the MOD 
has controlled what he called the anificial budget of approximately 20 billion rubles 
representing salary, quaners and "housekeeping" expenses for the armed forces. The 
MOD is now striving to wrest control over military research and development and 
procurement from the militarywindusnial complex. 

To make dear the significance of MoD's current struggle, the interviewee explained 
how the weapons procurement process has worked in the past. Force development was 
carried out within the military-industrial complex (VPK), specifically the major design 
bureaus, in a process that operated essentially independently from the Defense Ministry. 
The MOD, moreover, had relatively little control over either the R&D or production 
processes. The VPK system was optimiled for continuity of production rather than for 
innovation or force rationalization based on operational requirements. The design 
bureaus and military industries were rewarded for plan fulfillment and production 
stability rather than for conformance to operational demands generated by the General 
Staff or even the services. There were absolutely no incentives for the VPK to explore 
radicall¥ new designs or technological depanures that involved high risk of failure or 
production delays, which were to be avoided at all costs. The ntilitary (MOD, General 
Staff, Services) were unable to exert any significant pressure to counter this extremely 
conservative, self-serving military production complex. 

The interviewee cited several indicators to bolster his argument. He claimed that 
the Ground forces, the service with which he has the most experience, has been forced 
over the years to take thousands of tanks that were neither ordered nor required. 
Moreover, the Ground Forces were issued three to four variants of various weapons rather 
than a single, carefully designed and produced weapon of each type because each design 
bureau produced its own variant to ensure continuity of production regardless of the 
needs of the service for which it was nominally produced. He added, angrily and 
resentfully by way of example, that the Soviet system couldn't produce an MX tank in 
which designers disappeared for a decade and began with a "blank sheet" to produce a 
tank that captured the most advanced technologies available. The Soviet ground forces. 
in contrast. received large numbers of marginally improved. unnecessary different tanks 
with essentially the same capabilities. 

'' Josim Poi .. MU Games" 

I mentioned to the interview subject Albrecht von Muller's interest in having the 
"red" side work out in some detail its estimates of probable "blue" threat assessments 
after completion of CFE implementation. The interviewee reacted by rejecting the idea 
of even continuing to consider scenarios built upon the assumption of possible conflict in 
Central Europe. He advocated moving on to other types of considerations of common 
security requirements and abandonment of such "useless" exercises. 
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The view held by Henry Kissinger, cenainly in the late sixties and through the 
seventies, was that the Soviets were ambitious expansionists whose ideology prevented 
them from acting like a normal country. The United States had to reach the best deal 
possible with the USSR. Kissinger was concerned about the Sovier Union converting its 
increased military power into political influence. 

In the prevailing view under President Caner_ the USSR was not anxious for war. 
but if war broke out, the Soviet military would be serious about warfighting. Soviet 
forces had made provisions for conducting operations in a nuclear war. For example. as 
part of the targeting review (run by Mr. Marshall and Walter Slocombe) connected to PD· 
59, DlA found extensive facilities built to protect the Soviet leadership, which reinforced 
the warfighring posture of the USSR. 

PD-59 was developed to reinforce deterrence by making it clear to the Soviet 
leadership that they would not escape destruction in any exchange. the objective was to 
clarify and personalize somewhat the danger of warfare and nuclear use to Soviet 
decision makers. Publication of selected elements of the contents of P0~ 59 was an 
integral pan of the Strategy, and Secretary Brown directed and personally cleared certain 
articles and discussions of the directive to ensure that Soviet leaders were made aware of 
some of it.'i most imponant aspects. Walter Slocombe, deeply involved in the preparation 
of PD-59, drafted one of the key articles prepared under the program to "communicate" 
with the Soviets. 

The Caner administration was spilt over whether or not American accommodation 
would encourage moderation on the part of the Soviet Union. Harold Brown observed 
some relation between U.S. moves and Soviet actions, but he expected the Soviet arms 
buildup to persist even if U.S, modernization stopped. His conclusion was based panly 
on the Sovie1 investment in power projection capabilities and the Soviet weapons 
modernization rate which exceeded that of the U.S. 

The United States did not have a policy for forcing the Soviets to spend their way 
into economic defeat. In fact, the Joint Chiefs were worried that the USSR could always 
spend more than the U.S. because the Soviet armed forces did not face the sort of budget 
constraints placed on the U.S, military. 
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The fli'Sl Reagan administration undertook a large effon to carch up with the Soviets 
in strategic military power. Senior members of the adminisrrarion intended to make up 
for the previous years of reduced U.S. defense expenditures. 

President Reagan believed that the Soviet economy was in trouble. In contrast, 
Casper Weinberger refused to believe in Soviet weakness. 
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Mr. McDaniel was involved in a strategic planning project for the Navy in 1983-85. 
He later served on the NSC Staff, enjoying in 1986 much personal access to President 
Reagan. 

President Reagan did not spend much time thinking about the Soviet military thn:at. 
He simply wanted to rtbuild U.S. strength and to stand fll'lll until the Soviet leaders wert 
ready to negotjate. Defense Secretary Weinberger had no strong views aside from 
caudon in using U.S. anned forces. Mr. McDaniel described Ute views prevalent among 
the Joint Chiefs. 

The Soviet military was risk averse. It was eager not to fight but also not to lose if 
war broke out. President Reagan felt that the USSR accepted his view that nuclear war 
cannot be won and should not be fought. By the NSC's assessment, the Soviets made 
mischief in the Third World but did not seriously contemplate the use of force against the 
U.S. or NATO. They were, howevef, dangerous when pushed into a comer. 

The Soviet Union believed in deterrtnce. In fact, the United States was deterrtd by 
Soviet nuclear forces. The USSR did not consider nuclear weapons militarily useful. 

President Reagan thought that the Soviet Union rejected strategic parity, but after 
meeting Oorbachev, he changed his mind. He believed that the Soviet leadership wanted 
a first·strike potential, not to use militarily but instead to surpass American capabilities. 
Soviet force building was influenced by U.S. weapons programs. 

No one expected the USSR to absorb a large U.S. nuclear strike without response. 
The Soviets were worried about being trapped by their lack: of response time. They 
would probably launch on tactical warning and they might even preempt strategically. 

The Soviet Union clearly preferred to keep a central war conventional. The U.S. 
military always assumed that if nuclear war broke out, NATO would be the side to go 
first. The USSR probably did not have limited nuclear options. In the view of the Joint 
Chiefs, the Soviets probably would retaliate against NATO's first use with hundreds of 
nuclear weapons, and they would escalate rapidly from theater nuclear exchanges to 
global nuclear war. 

111 



Cold War lnrerviews McDaniel 

Oiveo the large Soviet stockpiles of chemical weapons aod the frequent Soviet 
exercises with CW, the USSR was likely to employ CW [chemical weapons] aod to have 
no particular restraints on CW usc. 
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A clear, dependable su-ategy for the maintenance of peace, even in conditions of 
large nuclear a.rsenals on both sides. was not always understood by the leading military 
commanders, veterans of WWU. Based on their e~perience of the preemptive anack. 
utilizing massive anned fonnations, they viewed the doctrine of the retaliatory strike as a 
passive anticipation of attack and a repetition of 1941, which had greatly complicated lite 
ensuing military operations, and had led to great losses which could have been avoided. 
Although this view did not win out in the end, it was reflected in specific technical 
characteristics of the missile designs being developed during a cenain period. 

The debate regarding the size of our warheads illusu-ates this lack of understanding. 
Some commanders demanded the biggest possible warheads, regardless of the 
complications to missile design, starting mass (launch weight), etc. I often spoke about 
the advantages of introducing small missiles with warheads of limited size. They would 
invariably reply, "What are you talking about? They hit us with megatons and we hit 
back with peanuts?'" When we tested a 50 megaton bomb they suggested that we develop 
a missile with a 50 - 100 megaton warhead. It took a lot of effort ro prove the uselessness 
of this idea, and instead we got the Proton missile. 

It was equally difficult for the military to understand the idea of the single-missile 
silo designed for a single missile launch. "What kind of cannon is this. with only one 
shot in it? We have to have 3-4 missiles. Otherwise it is too expensive." they objected. 
As a result we built group silos with 4 launch tubes. The evolution of this idea was quite 
interesting. The reserve missiles needed to be protected from the effects of the shock 
wave. Horizontal surface storage sites were large and expensive, while the silos were 
considerably better. Silos eliminated the need to move missiles from one launcher to 
another. Later it became much easier to demonstrate the expediency of single silo 
launches. 

The question of the need to create silos with enhanced protection against attack as a 
result of increased accuracy of the Minuteman and Trident missiles employing MIRVs, 
was also difficult. My Institute was practically alone in proposing this against lhe 
objections of the leadership of the Minisay of Defense and the Minisay of General 
Machinebuilding. and eventually won over Brezhnev, Ustinov and Smimov. This was 
known as the "debate of the century". in which the views of the Minisay of Defense. and 
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in particular, of the Minister of Defense A. Grechko, were clearly formulated regarding 
the question of warfighting strategy. This should be described in detail. 

After a series of technical delays, the resolution on strategic nuclelU' missiles for 
1966 went into the planning and implementation stage. having satisfied both the 
customers and the producers. Naturally, the arguments of my Institute regarding the 
necessity of building missile silos with a high degree of protection, and the upgnding of 
protection on existing ones. did not meet with suppon from eirher the Ministry of 
Defense or of the Ministry of General Machinebuilding. It violated the established 
process of force building. There were Institute repons on the matter. There were 
sessions of the Scientific-Technical Council, but the decision was not taken. Cenain 
arguments were developed justifying the rejection of these proposals: lack of 
experimental data on the spread of shc:x;-k waves in soils and their effects on underground 
constructions; cost too high; the same money could be spent on production of more 
missile complex.es, thereby increasing the chances of survivability through greater 
numbers. General Designer Chelomei put forward some data showing that the problem 
of the survivability of missiles could be solved more effectively through the creation of 
an ABM system. Some high·ranking military people began more and more assertively to 
promote the idea that we would launch prior 10 the arrival of the attacking side's missiles. 
therefore silo protection was not critically imponant. This idea was disturbing. In 1966 
D.F. Ustinov, the secretary of the Central Committee of the CPSU, convened a high level 
meeting of the leadership of the Ministry of Defense and the Ministry of General 
Machinebuilding. I asked my minister to get me an invitation to attend. D.F. Ustinov. 
opening the proceedings said that a proposal had been made to create hardened silos, and 
wanted to know whether a mistake had not been made in keeping the existing design. 
The response was unanimous: "Not at all, Dmitrii Fedorovich. there's been no mistake." 
The Deputy Minister of Defense for production reponed that the savings had allowed the 
production of 72 extra missiles. I could not control myself and quipped, "If you had built 
them of wood, you could have built much more than that." Ustinov looked at me sternly, 
but did nor say anything. Some of the military again expressed the view that they will 
employ the retaliatory~rneeting strike and will clear the silos in time. I jumped into the 
conversation of my superiors uninvited one more time, saying~ "Dmitrii Fedorovich. this 
is nor realistic. We discuss considerably less complicated questions for hours. Do you 
really think. it is possible in 10 minutes to make a decision based on the report of a 
general on duty looking at a radar screen. to push the button that may take millions of 
lives?'' Everyone was silent in response to this second tactless remark. As a result of the 
discussion it was decided to work out in detail the designs for hardened silos and 
hardening existing ones. The final decision would be taken pending the design review. 

After 1.5 years the matter had not advanced much funher, as there was no one 
panicularly interested person, and a number of technical and political stumbling blocks 
had also come up. Furthermore, a new divisive matter having to do with options to 
modernize aging missiles had come up. I felt that the whole matter was wilting. Grechko 
announced in my presence. "We will not repeat the mistakes of 1941 and will not sit and 
wait until we are hit over the head, as some are proposing." I decided to raise the 
question of military doctrine with the Genernl Secretary, L.I. Brezhnev. The attempt to 
discuss the matter with the leadership of the SRF was not supponed. I was told not to 
bother about matters that did not concern me. They told me. "Your business is to build 
good missiles, and our business is to use them." l tried to continue the conversation by 
saying, "There is no such thing as a 'good' missile, as such. just as there is no such thing 
as a 'good' airplane, as such. There are good interceptors, good attack planes. good 
bombersj etc. The missile designer has to know whether the missile he is designing is 
intended for a retaliatory strike or a preemptive strike." 
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In June of 1968 the Ministry of Defense held a military-technical council on the 
expediency of building hardened silos and ways to modernize missiles. It was chaired by 
the Deputy Minister of Defense S.L. Sokolov. Grechko also was present, as were 
General Designer Chelomei, other designers-integrators, representatives of the Ministty 
of General Machinebuilding and Ministry of Defense specialists. Everyone who spoke 
unanimously rejected the proposal to upgrade the protection on existing silos and those 
under construction. Silo hardening was postpOned. along with the creation of a new 
generation of missiles. I was the only one in favor of the proposal. Outing my 15-minute 
presentation the Minster of Defense stood up and cut me off by saying, "Don't scare us, 
we will not act according to your scheme." I replied as politely as possible: "We have 
thoroughly worked out and modeled the results of preventive and retaliatory-meeting 
strikes. The war cannot be won. I don't have time to give you the results of the modeling 
effon. Please, invite me to come in and I will give you the detailed results of all our 
materials." Without sitting down, he pointed to his watch, letting the chainnan know that 
it was time to quit. I objected that in the preceding 2.5 hours of talks only one side of the 
issue had been presented. and that I was the only opponent on this super-important 
question. I was allowed to finish my presentation, but it had no impact on the decision of 
the council. Only G.N. Pashkov, Deputy Chainnan of the VPK., supported me. After the 
conclusion of the council I said to Sokolov, "I am defending the interestS of the Ministry 
of Defense, but the Ministry is so sharply critical of me." To which he replied, quite 
amicably, "We cannot doubt the General Designer. The Design Bureau stands behind 
him." "But thousands of workers of the Institute stand behind me. Such complicated 
questions should not be decided by a vote of the Council, but by examination by 
objective experts," was all I could do to register my objection. 
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Q: Why was the military not concerned about protecting its missiles from nuclear 
attack? 

A: The Minuteman missile represented a qualitative leap in accuracy and other missile 
design characteristics. Many in the military argued that investment should go into 
improving Soviet missiles, rather than silos. There were two sides to the debate. One 
side was taken by aggressive wartime leaders who wanted at all costs to avoid a 1941-
style surprise attack. On the other side were those who believed in the retaliatory strike. 
While the U.S. protected its strategic forces, the Soviets sought superiority in numbers. 
Mozzhorin opposed this philosophy, warning that it would lead to an anns race. 
Eventually the Soviets acquired very good silo protection, including prote<:tion against 
EMP, neutrons, gamma radiation, and other blast effects. 

Q: To what extent did the military rely on a rapid political decision to launch missiles? 

A: This was the most difficult problem (with the retaliatory-meeting strike). No 
launches could be made without a political decision. Mozzhorin argued in favor of 
giving the SRF the physical quick reaction capability, but not the "practical" capability to 
launch. 

Q: Was the concept of deterrence ever adopted? 

A: Yes. Brezhnev supported it, despite the opposition of Grechko and others. 
Deterrence was officially adopted as doctrine dunng the July 1969 meeting (of the 
Defense Council) in Yalta. This meeting took place approximately on July 23- 25, 1969. 
At this meeting it was decided to manufacture invulnerable missiles, rather than many 
vulnerable ones. 

Q: Did the Soviet Union test the vulnerability of silos to air bursts vs. ground bursts? 

A: Yes, silo stability was modeled and tested. As a result of this testing silos were 
eventually overprotected and made virtually invulnerable to both ground bursts and air 
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bursts. We assumed Americans did as much or more of similar kinds of tests as Soviets. 
We would have communicated to Americans the survivability of Soviet missiles if this 
was deemed necessary in a conflict situation. 

Other oojms; 

·Soviets thought the U.S. was far ahead of them in testing "Super-EMP"30 weapons 

·After approximately 1965, when Soviet Union had obtained the "long arm", i.e. ICBMs 
in sufficient numbers, the Soviets did not seriously expect a war and thought it would not 
happen. 

30sMP- Ele<::tro Magnetic Pulse 
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The VPK had three parts: 

I. Defense industry and design bureaus. 

2. Military-academic complex (e.g., Institute of Main Designers) that integrated 
civilians fully into the military system. 

3. Military-ideological complex made up of political workern who drove the 
analyses. scenarios and assessments. 

If any testing demonstrated military potential then it fell under the military sphere, 
was stamped secret, and any resulting products would be controlled by the military. 
Intellectual property tended to get classified if it had any military application. There was 
no sense of intellectual property that did not belong to the sr.ate. Information was trading 
material. Military industries used secrecy to control all possible technologies. Gosplan 
planned force development from what the design bureaus came up with. The Finance 
Ministty set up payments, and the MoD took delivery. The Defense Council was a purely 
military organization with no suppon srrucmre. It was an instrument of the VPK, not of 
the President. The MoD had no real money or influence. 

Though political refonns in 1985-90 were deep, actual force building processes did 
not change much. The VPK could protect itself from the President, Shevardnadze, and 
others who wanted to cut force building. 

The Security Council was a political organization with its own support structure. It 
was designed by a commission of civilians chaired by Ryzhov that included Rubanovt 
Sergei Rogov. and Baturin (from the Law lnsdtute'!). Bakatin was responsible for 
internal problems and Primakov for external problems. In May 1991, the commission 
was still working on the Security Council's saucture. 

The ideal organization for center~republic relations would consist of (1) a Federal 
Security Council; (2) a College of MoDs of the republics; (3) each republic has its own 
concept of security. All spheres (military-technological, military-economic and military· 
political) should be controlled by political leaders. The military should only control 
troops. Decisions should be based on consensus among all of the republics. Basing and 
housing should be responsibilities of the republics. The Ukraine should be a nuclear-free 
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zone. The center needs a single security system and economy. Military power should not 
exceed but should reflect economic power. 
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Schlesinger had fonned his ideas about the Soviet Union while at RAND and 
especially in connection with his work when he was running the NU-OPTS project at 
RAND in the 1960s. He criticized the analysts at Langley for working from documents 
and believing Soviet pronouncements. In their relatively uncritical overreliance on Soviet 
writings and statements, they failed to consider adequately the motivation driving much 
of what was written and said about warfare in the USSR. 

Soviet leaders did believe in deterrence. They believed that the U.S. would not 
attack without provocation. and they hoped to deter any use of U.S. nuclear anns. In 
Schlesinger's view. Soviet talk of winning a nuclear war was pep talk that Soviet leaders 
may or may not have believed. There was a need to communicate to Brezhnev that a 
nuclear war would hun both his country's and his personal interests. 

Schlesinger did not expect the Sovier Union to escalate from a small~scale 
American use of tactical nuclear weapons (TNW) along the flanks (for instance, in Iran) 
to a global nuclear war, but he thought that the USSR might expand a total theater war (in 
Europe) into a global nuclear war. He hoped that if the U.S. reacted to a conventional 
Soviet attack with selective nuclear strikes, then the USSR would have refrained from 
escalating to global use. 

Under a cenain set of circumstances, the Soviet Union might strike preemprively, 
according to Schlesinger. The Sovlets would not start a conventional war if they were 
convinced that we would go nuclear. However, if the Soviets miscalculated and thought 
that we would not respond with nuclear weapons to a "Soviet conventional probe," and if 
they subsequently learned that we were about to go nuclear, they probably would 
preemp1 against our nuclear stockpile in Europe but probably not agamst the continental 
U.S. The USSR would have used chemical weapons in a total war and would have 
employed CW before resorting to nuclear anns. 

Schlesinger became convinced, in the course of his work of several years at RAND, 
that the Soviets' strategic objective with respect to the West was to weaken and. 
ultimately, to separate U.S. strategic nuclear systems from the defense of Europe. The 
objective was delinkage of U.S. central systems from Europe-based nuclear weapon and, 
from Europe altogether. He devoted a great deal of time to thinking about how to counter 
and defeat achievement of that objective and settled on the approach that the U.S. should 
adopt an explicit and credible declaratory policy of limited nuclear options (LNO). The 
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essence of LNO lay in U.S. declaratory commitment to the employment of selected 
nuclear slrikes against a Soviet/Warsaw Pact conventional attack on Western Europe. It 
was at the nme, above all, a deterrence sttategy whose success depended primarily on the 
degree to which So~iet leaders believed the U.S. was willing and able to respond with 
selective nuclear s1nkes to conventional attack. There was a need to communicate to 
Brezhnev that nuclear war was possible and that such a war would hun both his coumry's 
and his personal interests. 

In the sixties. Secretary of Defense McNamara's "body language" told the Soviets 
that our tactical nuclear forces in Europe were separate from our sttategic arsenal, that 
TNW would be used to defend Western Europe but U.S. sttate~c systems would not. 
The Soviets reacted to LNO with horror and shock. LNO was destgned to blow away the 
idea of MAD (Mutually Assured Destruction and mutually assured deterrence) and to 
reestablish the linkage of the U.S. deterrent in Europe to the sttategic arsenal. 

The Soviets began to think, aftu the Berlin crisis, that a conventional phase was 
possible. They later had come to hope that in practice we would not initiate a nuclear 
war. LNO diminished Soviet confidence in the possibility of avoiding U.S. flrst use. 

The Soviets had great doubts about the possibility of limiting a nuclear war. 
Schlesinger did not case whether the SovietS believed in LNO, so long as they believed 
that the United States was convinced of the feasibility of LNO. Even if the SovietS 
refused to believe that a nuclear was could be limited, they would still be deterred 
because in their view. a limited U.S. strike would lead to an all-out nuclear war, a very 
self-deterring prospect. In this connection, Schlesinger volunteered that he never passed 
up an opportunity to announce and clarify the LNO doctrine-before Congress, to the 
press, in offlcial and informal speeches. He explained that the way in which the concept 
was presented-that is the body language, tone of voice, general seriousness of manner­
was almost more important than what was said. He observed that (President Carter's 
Secretary of Defense) Harold Brown refined the LNO idea with PD-59 but was less 
convincing in his public presentations and discussions of che concept thereby may have 
given the Soviets reason to doubt that lhe U.S. was serious about LNO. 

He explained that war plans. hardware and declaratory policy·· the three components 
of nuclear strategy--are not always consistent. McNamara announced the countervalue 
doctrine of MAD but had a counterforce plan (without counterforce weapons). Since 
Schlesinger could not immediately change the forces, he presented a new declaratory 
policy that was designed to create desired psychological reactions in the USSR and 
Europe, and he then worried about pushing SAC war plans in the appropriate direction. 
He also began to modernize hardware to develop a credible counterforce capability, a 
process that would require at least a decade to complete. 

If the need arose, Schlesinger would have been willing to consider launching a 
small strike against real targets, such as Henhouse radars in the Soviet Arctic, avoiding 
cities and other targetS that would produce large casualties (such as Soviet army 
divisions), and keeping the number of weapons low (well under 200) in hopes that the 
Soviet military would not mistake a limited strike for an all-out American attack. 

Counterforce was one of the options but was not the entire doctrine of LNO. The 
essence of LNO was selectivity. LNO was absolutely not targeted at the Soviet political 
leadership bec::ause, in the event of nuclear exchanges. the U.S. would need someone tn 
the USSR with whom to negotiate termination of hostilities.. Schlesinger commented 
that he didn't understand (Secretary of Defense Harold) Brown's targeting priorities under 
PD-59. Specifically, PD-59 seemed to call for targeting of Soviet political and military 
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leaders early in any exchange because early elimination of the leadership would interfere 
with any negotiated war termination. 

The USSR, in Schlesinger's view, had rnore than parity because it was acquiring 
counterforce capabilities through deployment of SS·l8s and SS-19s. 

The Soviets did not imitate American weapons modernization. They did not tailor 
their forces to meet ours, and they probably would not have cut back if we had. 
However, we did stimulate their arms programs. We gave a shove to their buildup 
through the Cuban Missile Crisis. 

When asked about forecasting, Schlesinger replied that both sides lacked 
imagination. Changes in the nature of warfare may have been acknowledged but did not 
fully register. We had separate offensive and defensive commands. SAC did not think 
about what Soviet strikes would do to us. The stimulus for change had to come from the 
civilian leadership. 

In U.S. assessments into the policy process. evidence was selected to support 
prevalent interpretations. Presentations of "empirical analysis" could be totallr wrong but 
totally sincere. For instance, the CIA was grossly underestimating Sov1et military 
spending until Schlesinger insisted on a correction. 

In 1973, we put our forces in Europe on alen to signal to the Soviet Union that we 
were not paralyzed by the Watergate scandal. 
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• The republics control revenue flows to the center. 

• The 1991 defense budget was originally 65 billion rubles but was increased in 
December to R96 billion to offset inflation (estimated at 54 pen;ent). 

• The RSFSR seeks to separate military fmm civilian production. 

• The RSFSR State Committee on Defense and Security had 250 military officers 
(working for Kobets) plus 50 civilians (handling KGB matters). 

• Kobers is still serving in the armed forces. 

The YPK gets special treatment: subsidies for heat and raw materials; and 
guaranteed deliveries (the biggest form of subsidy). The guaranteed deliveries and 
subsidies will be cut off. 

The RSFSR will not pay for a single additional weapon. Yazov himself said "no 
more tanks, no more weapons of the current generation, but we can't destroy the ones we 
have." 

Yazov is ready to cancel the Buran and Energia space programs because they do not 
help the military. Subsidies to both military and civilian space programs will end. 

The republics gave only R200 billion of the R600 billion they owe the center. They 
are holding out until the Union Treaty is settled and control over military production is 
transferred to the MoD. Ideally the MoD should act as a consumer by ordering weapons, 
and design bureaus should compete for orders. 

Currently there is a major fight over the budget to develop an industrial 
mobilization base. [Soviet Deputy Minister of Defense General-Colonel Krivosheev] 
claims that the U.S. has long had a huge industrial mobilization capacity and can produce 
50,000 tanks and 50 SSBNs per year within a few months of starting mobilization. The 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) is supposedly in charge of U.S. 
industrial mobilization plans. Most Soviets really believe this. 
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U stinov was a proponent of a survivable missile arsenal, while most of the Minis b)' 
of Defense, including Grechko personally, were opposed to missile protection. 

At first silos began to be protecled from 2 to 50 kglcm2, and protection increased as 
U.S. missile accuracy increased, until very high protection became economically 
unfeasible. At that point mobile missiles were proposed. and were championed by 
Ustinov. Here, as with silo protection, Grechko and the Ministry of Defense were 
opposed. For example, the mobile missile designs produced by the Vangel KB were 
chronically underfunded and development stages took a very long time. However, 
eventually the military understood the value of mobility and development was 
substantially speeded up. More funding was made available and the Nadiradze KB and 
the KB in Dnepropetrovsk headed by V.F. Utldn began their own development of 
mobiles. 

Brezhnev was personally involved in the development of military and civilian 
missile technology. He headed a commission on the development of missile technology, 
known as the Politburo Commission (Kommissiia pri Politbiu.ro), even though Brezhnev 
was the only Politburo member on it(sic]. This commission, of which Ustinov was a 
deputy, included Grechko, Riabikov (the deputy head of GosPlan for defense), all of the 
ministers of defense-related industries, General Designers. and academicians involved in 
defense work. Strogonov served as a secretary of this commission. The commission 
discussed technological, pol-mil, economic and other issues related to defense 
production. Decisions were passed on to pro forma approval by the Defense Council, but 
were never amended by it. Issues were always debated in the commission and decisions 
made by a few individuals. 

Ustinov was very close to Andropov. The two supponed each other in the Defense 
Council. Both kept a careful watch over technological developmenlS in the West, esp. the 
U.S. Ustinov was personally devoted to scrupulously rnonitodng American technological 
developments, and continued to do so until hiS death. 
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The Cenual Committee relied very heavily on the VPK. The VPK consisted of 
technical specialists and scientists. and conducted preliminary studies on weapons 
systems and coordinated systems production and developmenL The greatest flaw in the 
VPK was that it had too much power and influence and meddled in policy questions 
instead of focusing strictly on technical questions. As a result of its undue influence too 
many obsolete weapons systems were kept in production and the development of 
advanced systems was retarded. Many obsolete missiles, for example, were not taken out 
of production or deployment Questions regarding the reduction of such systems were 
never discussed in the VPK. The short-sightedness of the Soviet leadership and the 
decision-making structure of the Soviet Union ensured that the military industrial 
complex constantly grew in size. 
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I raised with Dr. Surlkov the issue of first strike versus retaliatory meeting strikes 
( orvetno-vstrechnye udary) and pure retaliation (ride out). He responded with a challenge 
that the U.S. strategy and posture was to strike first in a crisis in order to minimize 
damage to the U.S. He added that U.S. analysts had concluded that there were 
tremendous differences in levels of damage to the U.S. under conditions where the U.S. 
succeeded in successfully preemptively striking Soviet missiles and control systems 
before they launched versus under conditions of a simultaneous exchange or U.S. 
retaliation. He said, "John, if you deny that, then either you're ignorant about your own 
posture or you're lying to me." I acknowledged that the U.S. cenainly had done such 
analysis. 

Dr. Surikov continued with the assertion that the basic Soviet position and posture 
also was preemption-primarily because truly knowledgeable military and civilian 
leaders simply did not believe Soviet systems had the reliability (ustoichivost') to ride out 
an attack and respond effectively, if at all. He made it clear that he was referring to the 
whole system--communications and control, launch sysrems, and the missiles 
themselves. Retaliatory-meeting slrikes [essentially what U.S. strategists would call 
"launch under attack-LUA") represented a far less attractive fall-back given the 
consequences to the USSR of allowing the U.S. to launch its arsenal. 

I asked Dr. Surikov if submarine-launched ballistic missiles (SLBMs) were 
relegated to lhc role of strategic reserve or could they be included, in whole or in pan, in 
any preemptive f~r>t slrike. He stated that SLBMs were sufficiently accurate by the lace 
1980s to have been included in a preemptive slrike. SSBNs tied co the pier and not under 
repair would be more likely to be involved. 

I then asked Dr. Surikov about the "Dead Hand" (mertvaia ruka) automatic launch 
system. Dr. Surikov responded chat he and his subordinates had designed the system-to 
include the various sensors-seismic, light and radiation-to launch the command 
missiles in the event the leadership were dead or unable to communicate. He continued 
that he briefed the concept and design to his chief, then Institute Director Mozzhorin, and 
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to Baklanov, then the Central Commillee Secretary responsible for military indusb)' 
[Ustinov's former pany position]. Both accepted and approved the concept. The design 
finally was rejected by Marshal of the Soviet Union Akhromeev [evidently when he was 
Chief of the General Staff, i.e. after September 6, 1984] on the recommendation of a 
trusted advisor and general officer, General-Colonel Korobushin [the officer who 
"revealed" the existence of the system to me months earlier]. As a result of this rejection. 
the "Dead Hand" trigger mechanism "was never realized." 
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"Purpose of Interview" 

- To review with Dr. Tsygichko his views on the product and process of Soviet 
military assessments in the nineteen seventies and nineteen eighties. Of special interest 
was the Soviet's thinlcing about military competition, assessments of Western capabilities 
and intentions relative to their own, and expectations of the nature of war should it OCCUt. 
The role and expected effons of strategic and theater weapons of mass destruction was of 
central concern as was conventional war. 

"General11 

Vitalii Tsygichko is a former artillety colonel who joined the Soviet General Staff 
in 1964 where he was involved in some of the early efforts to subject force structure and 
operations to systematic analysis using mathematically based methodologies and models. 
Between 1967 and 1977 he was head of the Theater Fon:e Modeling Depanment within 
the Scientific Research Institute (Nauclmo-lssledovatel'skii lnstituJ) Number 6 (NII-6) of 
the Main Intelligence Directorate (GRU) that provided quantitative analytical suppon to 
the Ministry of Defense. (There are five such purely military institutes that suppon the 
Ministry of Defense in various areas). He left the institute and the Army in 1977 because 
he felt that the best work of his division was being suppressed or ignon:d. He became a 
senior analyst at VNIISI of the Soviet Academy of Sciences at that time. 

His reputation as an analyst and an officer is very positive among both former and 
serving General Staff generals and officers who seem eager to associate themselves with 
him and his work. One senior General Staff colonel (Kabysh) who continues to work as 
a General Staff analyst knew of Tsygichko by reputation, identifying him as one of the 
principal architects of the General Staffs approach to quantitative analysis of fon:e 
operations. General·Major Luzianin, a department head within the Center for 
Operational Strategic Studies (TsOSI) of the General Staff (and a colleague of 
Tsygichko's on the General Staff in the seventies), called Dr. Tsygichko to the General 
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Staff on December 10, 1990, to offer him a contract to suppon the center's analysis. Dr. 
Tsygichko accepted and will be providing suppon over the next several months. (I 
learned indirectly from Andrei Kokoshin, who is fairly well connected to pans of the 
General Staff, that much of the work done in TsOSI is designed to meet the needs of 
General Ladygin's General Staff Directorate for Legal and Treaty Affain;.) 

Some of Dr. Tsygichko's colleagues who had been present at an interview given by 
Minister of Defense Yazov to deputies of the RSFSR on November 5, 1990, reponed that 
Tsygichko's name was brought up by Yarov during the discussion. Specifically, Marshal 
Y azov was complaining that self-described civilian defense analysts were demonstrating 
their incompetence whenever they attempted to deal with military analytical or operation 
questions. He specifically cited the work of Vitalii Tsygichko and his center as an 
exception to this general rule, stating that the center was doing very good work. 

This is one of a series of interviews that I have conducted with Dr. Tsygichko. 
There is some duplication among interviews because 1 have revisited some themes to 
clarify points from previous discussions and I have tried to provide enough information 
to establish the context for his answers. This particular interview brings out the 
differences in understanding and attitudes about theater nuclear use among three groups 
of officers: the General Staff analysts and general officers routinely exposed to serious 
analysis of the operational and collateral effects of nuclear use; the "anny" generals, 
those fields generals who commanded armies, fronts. military districts, and high 
commands of Forces in TVDs; and the top military leadership, the Ministry of Defense, 
the Chief of the General Staff and his deputies all of whom were exposed to the product 
of the analysis being done within the General Staff but whose attitudes were shaped by 
other than purely military analytical considerations. 

"Three Views on Nuclear Warfare" 

General Staff officers in the 1970s were very knowledgeable about the tremendous 
difficulties and uncenainties that would be involved in use of nuclear weapons at the 
strategic, operational and tactical levels. In the 1960s and 1970s many of the best and 
brightest minds in Soviet the scientific community were working in uniform within the 
General Staff in the areas of analysis and planning. Several models had been developed 
and applied to test the operational and general collateral effects of nuclear use at various 
levels and on various scales of employment (Some of these models are discussed below 
as well as in other interviews). The conclusions of the General Staff analysts and other 
officers involved was essentially that nuclear use was operationally counter-productive 
and generally self-destructive. Even these officen, to include Tsygichko, carried out 
their work without any systematic consideration of the social or economic implications of 
their findings. As a result, they were unable to gauge the importance of their research 
in any but a purc:ly military context. 

Senior General Staff generals were routinely exposed to this analytical work and 
understood the consequences of nuclear use. Thus, Marshals Grechko and Kulikov 
(Minister of Defense and Chief of the General Staff respectively in the early-to-trud 
1970s) knew, understood and believed that nuclear use at any level by either side would 
be catastrophic for the Soviet Armed forces and the Soviet sta[e they were required to 
protect. These senior Minister of Defense and General Staff generals nevertheless 
fonnally rejected the analysis to which they were exposed and typically suppressed it by 
assigning to the analytical products extremely high classifications and by denying funher 
dissemination and discussion. The reasons for such denial and willful adherence to 
nuclear thinking (iatkrnoe myshleni<) were ideological, bureaucratic and economic. 
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To officially acknowledge that nuclear use was senseless and basically catastrophic 
would require several changes in the entire Soviet political·military-economic system 
that were completely unacceptable to the senior officers who were the products and 
beneficiaries of that system These changes would include: 

~ Acknowledgment that victory would be impossible in nuclear war~~a violation of basic 
Marxistwl.eninist dogma. 

· Deep reductions in military spending. 

- The nuclear weapons and weapons delivery (missiles. aircraft, submarines) industry 
was massive and imponant to the (admittedly distoned) economy. The logic of the 
General Staff analysis would undermine directly the program of quantitative competition 
with the U.S. that was being pushed by the senior military leadenhip and military 
industrialists at that time. 

- Conventional armaments production was expanding as was the size of the Armed 
Forces based on e•pectations of high (but somehow acceptable) losses of conventional 
forces in the event of nuclear war. 

The implications of deep reductions in nuclear and perhaps conventional forces and 
formal acknowledgment by the Soviet leadership that they were deterred by the prospect 
or an unwinnable nuclear war would have affected profoundly Soviet society in general 
and the military role in that system in particular: 

- The Soviet economy would be forced to undergo radical adjusnnents which few were 
able or willing to contemplate. 

. Fony percent of the Soviet GDP was being spent on the military. The MOD was 
spending 20 billion rubles per year on personnel costs alone. (An impressive number 
considering that the Soviet Armed Forces were comprised of vety·low-paid conscripts). 

I do not know whether VitaHi Tsygichko came up with the figure. 40%. on the basis 
of information known to him in the 1970s or became aware of that percentage as the 
product of Soviet or Western analysis done in the 1980s. I will clarify the source in 
future interviews. 

· The role of the military in general probably would be diminished. 

Dr. Tsygichko asserted that the Bn:zhnev Politburo delegated all military matters to 
the Ministry of Defense ~ to include all force procurement decisions. Threat definition 
was also a military function carried out within the General Staff by the Main Political 
Directorate. There was essentially no political oversight over the fon:e building process 
and no serious challenge from the Politburo to what was clearly a decision situation in 
which there was serious conflict of interest. This "hands·off' attirude of the Brezhnev 
Politburo and the mindless nuclear force~building that resulted was siTOngly confumed 
by General·Colonel Danilevich. 

~ The dominant position or the military as an institution would be threatened. 

~ Reduction in the size of nuclear and conventional forces would eliminate thousands of 
officer and general officer positions, 
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The third group, m which Dr. Tsygichk.o frequently refers as the army generals 
(armeiskie generaly), could not. according to Tsygichko, imagine war without nuclear 
weapons. Unlike the General Staff generals. however, who understood the consequences 
of nuclear use. the Ground Forces operational commanders and CINCs were basically 
uninfonned and generally did not know or understand what would happen in the event of 
nuclear use. They routinely used expressions such as the need to be prepared "to attack 
to the thunder of nuclear strikes." While it was clear that Tsygichko held them in low 
regard because of their ignorance and misplaced macho enthusiasm for self~destructive 
behavior, it is clear that these officers were kept in ignorance by the senior General Staff 
generals for the reasons cited above. As will be clear when some of the models are 
discussed, the real findings on nuclear effects and contamination never made it to the 
field in the 1970s, leaving the "anny generals" with exercise scenarios that reinforced 
their impression that nuclear use in theater would be somehow manageable. 

"General Staff Modeling of Nuclear War In Europe" 

Between 1972 and 1979 a tremendous amount of work was done in Tsygichko's 
institute and elsewhere in the General Stafrs analytical suppon apparatus to analyze 
possible war in Europe. including nuclear war. In the course of doing this analysis, the 
General Staff constructed several different models designed to test various outcomes and 
effects. The overall purpose of the analysis was to detennine what war might be like 
and, in panicular, to deteonine the effects of losses on the conduct of operations and on 
the continuity of the availability of reserves and rear services. Some of the modeling 
work accomplished in :r.his period and the manner in which the findings were received by 
the General Staff leadership are discussed below: 

Modeling of Atmospheric and Other Effects from a Nuclear Exchange in Europe 
and on a Global Scale. 

In 1971 and 1972 the General Staff studied the climatic and contamination effects 
from a global exchange and concluded that there would be serious negative consequences 
for the USSR and for the northern hemisphere in general. 

Dr. Tsygichko wanted to point out that "nuclear winter" was not discovered by 
Aleksandrov or Sagan in 1987, The General Staff did not use the ••pression "nuclear 
winter;' but the analysts considered many of the effects that received so much public 
auention almost twenty years later. These findings were summarized in a memo to the 
MOD and the Central Committee and were ignored because of the implications discussed 
earlier. 

In 1972 and 1973, Dr. Tsygichko's institute did a great deal of work modeling 
nuclear war in Europe. In this work, which included the development of a model. the 
institute studied the operational effects of the expected high loss levels and disruption of 
the rear (discussed in detail in an earlier interview) but also calculated nuclear 
contamination given prevailing (eastward) wind pauems in Europe. The study. found 
that, in executing even the basic plan to place a nuclear strike on every NATO atrfield, 
the Soviet side would create e"tremely high levels of contamination in Europe. The 
worst effects would be upon Warsaw Pact forces, and upon the Pacts strategic: military 
rear in Eastern Europe and the European USSR. Within a relatively short period ~ftime, 
contamioation would have a severely negative effect on the Wmsaw Pacts abt~tt.Y. to 
continue the war and would have mid· to long~term health consequences for the CIVIhan 
populations of all members of the Pact. 
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This sludy was of sufficient imponance that the institute and the Main Operations 
Directorate of the General Staff devoted an additional six months to an independent 
validation of the model and its findings. The validation pnx::css resulted in the considered 
confirmation of the analytical results achieved by the institute. 

Dr. Tsygichko briefed the findings of the model to Marshal Kulikov, the Chief of 
the General Staff. in 1973. Kulikov ordered Tsygichko (then a lieutenant colonel) to 
modify the conclusions or face forced retirement. Tsygichko said he felt sufficiently 
secure to refuse {since he already had his doctorate). The director of his institute met 
with Tsygichko later on the same day he had his confrontation with Kulikov who asked 
him to be more flexible. Tsygichko refused. The findings were suppressed by means of 
overclassification and severe restrictions on dissemination. Tsygichko was not forced to 
retire. 

Tsygichko pointed out that one of the consequences of this suppression was that the 
findings were never incorporated into routine Soviet exercises. As a consequence. 
exercise maps typically depicted neat, manageable balloon-shaped contamination patterns 
that could be circumvented easily by anny commanders. Hence the exercise nuclear 
effects did not seriously affect operations much less impose severe disruptions on the 
strategic rear and populations of the Warsaw Pact. 

Vitalii Tsygichko stressed that, in his confrontation with Kulikov and his generals, 
it was clear to him that they all understood the correctness of his findings but were 
unwilling to accept and disseminate them because of what those findings implied for the 
General Staff in the ilrea.s of force development, doctrine. military investment, etc. 

"The Competence of General Staff Modelers and Quantitative AnalysiS" 

Dr. Tsygichko had commented earlier on the unfavorable impression he had of 
serving General Staff modelers and analysts when he participated by invitation. in a 
GeneralAStaff hosted analytical seminar in June 1990. In earlier conversations, he made it 
clear that he was commenting specifically on the work of the analysts from the TsOSI 
when he said that the quality of the modeling work had reverted to what it had been 
twenty years ago. before major advances in sophistication had been made. In a 
conversation we had on the 12th of December 1990 he clarified and expanded on his 
earlier comment. The June 1990 seminar included participants from TsOSI but also 
analysts from the Main Directorate for Organization and Mobilization (headed by 
General-Colonel Krivosheev) and the Main Operations Directorate (headed by General 
Omelichev). Dr. Tsygichko made it clear that Krivosheev's people were equivalent in 
their low level of competence to the TsOSl analysts. He added that the only real analysts 
that appear to be left on the General Staff are working for General Omelichev in the Main 
Operations Directorate which is concerned with doing the assessments of the correlation 
of forces globally and by region and which suppon directly General Staff decisions on 
force deployments and changes in readiness status. This must be considered in the 
context of the steady "'brain drain"' of top analysts who have left the General Staff and 
supponing analytical institutes for the Soviet Academy of Sciences since the m1d~ 
seventies. 

General~ Major Medvedev, Deputy Director for Science of the TsOSI confmned to 
me in Gennany in November 1990, that this trend is continuing. He volunteered that they 
have over sixty slots in the General Staff institutes for civilian analysts and that few, tf 
any, were filled. 
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Tsygichko's comments suggest that the remaining qualified analysts are being 
pulled out of the more theoretical or anns~control support positions to keep alive the 
operational core of the General Staff, the Main Operations Directorate, which is much 
more concerned with applications and exploitation of mathem:uical models than with 
their development or improvement 
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Brezhnev and the Politburo left military doctrine to the professionals and gave the 
military great reign in detennining resource allocation and threat definition. 

General Staff officers undersrood that nuclear use would be operationally 
counterproductive, but "armeiskie generaly " (front and TVD commanders) expected 10 
fight with nuclear weapons. 

Models showed that global nuclear war would have drastic effects on climate and 
that nuclear srrikes against all NATO airfields would contaminate the atmosphere in 
Eastern Europe and the USSR. Memos about this were sent to MOD and the Central 
Committee but were ignored. 

In the early 1970s, modeling predicted that use at the front level of 15-20 percent of 
nuclear arsenals on both sides would cause enough destrUction to end war at this level. 

• The main Operations Directorate spent six months to validate the modeL 

• Gareev challenged the findings (Gareev's work on the correlation of forces 
predicted losses [from nuclear strikes) that were small enough to pennit the continuation 
of operations after each phase). 

• Kulikov understood that the findings were true but suppressed them because their 
implications for defense spending were unacceptable. 

• In exercises Soviet troops continued simply to move around areas con(aminated 
by nuclear use. 

Yazov in Red S1ar praised the work of Tsygichko's insritute. In the 1960s and 
1970s excellent analysts worked in General Staff planning and analysis but they had no 
serious reality reference (they did not know how to measure the social or economic value 
of their work). 
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"Purpose of Interview., 

~ To review with Dr. Tsygichko his views on the product and process of Soviet 
military assessments in the nineteen seventies and nineteen eighties. Of special interest 
was the Soviets' thinking about military competition, assessments of Western capabilities 
and intentions relative to their own, and expectations of the nature of war should it occur. 
The role and expected effons of strategic and theater weapons of mass destruction was of 
central concern as was the Soviet perceptions of the effect of qualitative improvements on 
the nature of conventional war. (Questions are given in greater detail in the section 
General Questions for OSD Net Assessment General Staff Assessment Validation 
Project.) 

This is one of a series of interviews that I have conducted with Dr. Tsygichko. 
There is some duplication among interviews because I have revisited some themes to 
clarify points from previous discussions and I have tried to provide enough infonnation to 
establish the context for his answers. This interview expands on issues raised in the 
interview of December 13th, 1990. 

"Thinking About Nuclear War~ Issues of Policy, Theory and Practice11 

Until 1980, Soviet policy on nuclear retaliation as expressed in the General Staff 
Academy lectures called for a full nuclear response against the homeland of any state 
launching even tactical (battlefield) nuclear strikes on the territory of the Wanaw Pact (of 
any member, not only the USSR). This, Dr. Tsygichko identified as the political 
approach to military doctrine in this area. In practice, no real planning was done for a 
massive nuclear response to the use of tactical nuclear weapons on a less than massive 
scale on the territory of a member of the Warsaw Pact. Tsygich.k:o volunteered that he 
believed personally that the USSR would definitely loose the war if Soviet fon::es did nor 
respond quickly to initial NATO nuclear use with all available nuclear capabilities. This 
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is a statement from someone who personally believed that victory in such a war would be 
me:mingless.31 

We revisited the question of who in the General Staff fully understood the 
consequences of a nuclear exchange. He responded that the effects were really well 
understood "at the Danilevich level." When asked he added that, in the mid-to-late 
seventies, General Danilevich served as Deputy Director of the Main Operations 
Directorate. The Chief of the General Staff had some idea of the consequences but 
Ustinov, the Minister of Defense. did not really comprehend the level of destruction 
involved. 

According to Marxist-Leninist theory, victory was possible, even in nuclear war. In 
practice, the General Staff did not have any real working definition of victory in a nuclear 
war and the operation simply was nor discussed in those terms. It was well understood on 
the General Staff that the Soviet Union would not come out of such a war in anywhere 
near the same state in which it began the war. The general hope was that some 
undestroyed pocket of civilization would survive, perhaps in Siberia that might fonn the 
basis for rebuilding the state. Dr. Tsygichko explained that General Staff thinking did not 
focus on the consequences of a nuclear exchange for the Soviet Union but concentrated 
instead on the amount of destruction the USSR could impose on the enemy. 

Soviet published military doctrine called for continuous operations in a theater of 
strategic military action (TVD) regardless of whether or not nuc:lear weapons were used, 
as if such use would do little to change the battlefield environment. In practice, the 
General Staff did no actual planning beyond the initial exchange of nuclear weapons on a 
tactical or operational scale. 

Soviet declaratory policy, at the politburo level, rejected deterrence as a fallacious 
and even immoral concept In fact, according to Dr. Tsygichko, the politburo accepted 
deterrence in 1965 when the USSR first acquired ICBMs. This acceptance was evident in 
some speeches and in the lectures at the General Staff Academy. I raised with Tsygichko 
the distinction made in Soviet political discussions between sderzivanie (resrraint, or 
morally correcr, Soviet deterrence) and ustrashenie (terrorizing. or immoral. Western 
deterrence). He replied that even on a theoretical level the distinction was meaningless. 
The concept adopted by the politburo and hence by the General Staff was that war would 
not be initiated by either side because both sides were held at risk of highly destructive 
retaliation even after initial surprise use of nuclear weapons. Deterrence was based on 
mutual fear or terror. Rejection of ustrashenie in the press was propaganda. 

Tsygichko offered the opinion that. even in the sixties and seventies, rhe Soviet 
political leadership would have supported negotiations to prevent the initiation of nuclear 
war. The General Staff, he believes, would have supponed this approach. This is 
consistent with General Danilevich's assessment of Brez.hnev's visceral fear of nuclear 
use. 

Finally, Dr. Tsygichko explained that he and several others in the General Staff 
viewed the "U.S. pOlicy of anns racing" as an indirect attempt to undermine and bleed 
white the Soviet economy. He acknowledged that the smttegy worked because the Soviet 

31Tsygichko added later that the General St.1ff accepted the general doctrine of massive 
retaliation. I must clarify whether' he had in mind the 1950s U.S. variant that called for massive 
nuclear retaliation against even conventional aggression or a later Soviet variant that envisioned a 
massive nudcar n;sponsc to perhaps limited initial nuclear use. 
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leadership did not know how to deal with it effectively. He indicated that the effects of 
such economic warfare are evident today. 
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In 1974, Gen. Shabanov asked Tsygichko's Institute (NII-6) at the General Staff to 
use modeling to analyze the benefits of various kinds of technologies and weapons. 
Shabanov wanted an analytical basis for placing orders for different types of weapons in 
various quantities. The models included weapons wilh various theoretical sets of 
technical characteristics (precision, range, destructiveness, and possibly control). 
Tsygichko reprogrammed existing models (which were designed primarily to test 
operational concepts) in order to build fictional forces that were changed in different runs 
of the model and thus to establish criteria for selecting and investing in weapons systems. 
The cost of weapons was also a serious consideration. The objective was to get the most 
combat effectiveness for the smallest investment. 

Tsygichko and his colleagues made 1he models, prepared a set of recommendations, 
and briefed Shabanov. Shabanov found the recommendations sound and scientifically 
based but could not use them because they would seriously run afoul of the prerogatives 
of the Services and the VPK leaders responsible for production of armaments. missiles 
and air defense systems. 

Based upon his positive impression of Tsygichko's work, in 1976 Shabanov formed 
his own institute (/nstitut ShabaMva) out of some of Tsygichko's best people for the 
specific purpose of doing force-development analysis. Dr. Tsygichko continued ro work 
with his former subordinates in Shabanov's institute. 

Although the Directorate for Armaments was not created until the late 1970s, 
Shabanov was responsible for armaments in MOD since the !ale 1960s. Shabanov had 
the authority to work on general criteria for weapons development. 

The Union of VPK Directors of Heavy Industry, (Soiuz Direkrorov VPKa Krupnykh 
PredpriatiiJ, was organi.ed to lobby !he USSR Supreme Soviet to liberalize expon 
constraints on products from the heavy industry sector. As of March 1991. trade in 
finished (technical) products was still constrained by concerns about military secrecy, but 
firms were already carrying out a fairly large business in exchanging half~finished 
products and raw for hard currency. Much of the hard currency earnings were stored 
overseas. 
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After he fonnally retired from the Genet'lll Staff in 1977, and moved to VNIISI, 
Tsygichko continued to work pan-time until 1982 for the General Staff Institute of 
Operations Research and kept his high-level clearances because people at the Institute did 
not know enough about the models Tsygichko had developed to keep them working. 

The General Staff prepared a report on Russian and British imperial experiences in 
Afghanistan. The report concluded that an invasion was a very bad idea in tenns of 
fulfilling possible strategic objectives, getting bogged down, and being comprotrtised by 
involvement in the region. Ogarkov strongly endorsed the findings and forwarded them 
through the MOD to the Central Committee. 

After Ustinov became Defense Minister, the influence of the General Staffs 
analysis on future forces development weakened appreciably over time relative to the 
Services working with the VPK. 

The main consumer of the General Staffs Institute for Operations Research (NII~6) 
was the General Staffs Main Operations Directorate, and within it, lhe Subdirectorate for 
Operational Planning (Napra\1/enie Stracegicheslcogo Planirovaniia). 

• Col. Oieg Ponomarev, [later General-Colonel, who retired in 1987] Director for 
Operational Planning until 1987, supported modeling as an approach to decision malting. 

* Capt. Volosatov, who was assigned to Ponomarev by Tsygichko. really wrote the two 
anicles (published in 1976 and 1977, respectively) that were signed by Ponomarev. 

• Gen.-Col. Kozlov and others lllso supported the modeling effort. 

Col. Terekhov, an analyst at the Frunze Academy, took pan in the 1987-89 debate 
on new role for modeling. His models were designed to ron in real time in order to 
validate or invalidate tactical~level decisions (by captains through colonels, platoon to 
regiment levels) as those decisions were being made during training and exercises. 
Terekhov's work addressed a different level of problem solving from that which was the 
subject of the work of Tsygichko and the General Staff Institute of Operations Research. 
Tertkhov created tactical models, Tsygichko theater strategic and Front level models. 
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ICBM Silo Vulnerability 

In the context of a discussion about modeling strategic nuclear warfare Dr. Vitalil 
Tsygichko explained that he was personally involved in a series of tests. carried out by 
the General Staff on an annual basis between 1964 and 1966, to test the vulnerability of 
sil~based lCBMs to ground~burst auack. The tests were conducted at Sernipalatinsk. 
Each test in the series required months of preparation, including engineer preparation of 
an overhead screen (perhaps as large as one square kilometer) to conceal the test activities 
from U.S. satellite obsttvation. Missiles identical to those in operation were put in silos 
designed to actual operational specifications. Charges were placed in the ground at 
various distances 9from 20 meters to over one kilometer) from the silos, and the effects of 
the blasts were measured. The charges used did not exceed the blast energy effect of a 
500 KT nuclear warhead. The tests took geological conditions into account and tried to 
approximate the impact of an actual U.S. nuclear attack on Soviet ICBM silos. 

The measure of effectiveness (MOE) for a missile kill was the post-strike ability of 
the entire missile system to be reliably launched in the prescribed time (measured in 
hours at that time) and to effectively destroy its target. A jammed silo door, a ruptured 
fuel system, a disoriented missile guidance system, or disruption of the launch control 
system would constitute a missile kill. (The damage was normally much more extensive 
and required days, weeks, and even months to repair.) In general, the test data showed 
that ground bursts were extremely effective in destroying silo--based ICBM systems. (As 
a minimum, even with distant strikes, silo doors often jammed.) Under cenain geological 
conditions. a ground wave from a strike as far away as 1 km was powerful enough to 
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drive the entire silo 3 meters out of the ground, rendering completely inoperable the 
missile system inside. Any ground burst closer than I km away was highly likely to 
"kill" a silo-based missile system. If two silos were less than 2 km apan, typically both 
would be disabled by one incoming strike. 

Dr. Ts.ygichk.o was given the task of creating models to compare the effects of 
ground bursts and air bursts. He used the masses of data collected in 1963 and earlier 
(before implementation of the nuclear test ban treaty) from tests at Semipalatinsk on the 
impact of nuclear explosions on structures and silos. According to analysis performed 
with the help of his models, an air burst (80 plus meters above ground) was 15·25 percent 
as effective in killing an ICBM as a ground burst of the same yield going off at an equal 
distance from the target 32 

In I 966, Dr, Tsygichko took part in briefing the General Staff on the tests and 
modeling of silo vulnerability. Because Soviet silo-based systems were shown to be 
extremely vulnerable to ground~burst strikes in empirical testing, the Soviet rnilitaty 
leadership took. a series of decisions to deal with the direct and indirect implications of 
the findings. Firsl, they initiated a major program to rebuild silos, when feasible, at 
distances of greater than two kilometers from each other. Second, they initiated a 
program for the development and deployment of mobile ICBMs. Third, scientists 
assumed that U.S. analysts "were not stupid" and had conducted similar experiments and 
reached similar conclusions regarding the relative effectiveness of ground bursts and air 
bursts. On the basis of satellite photography, Soviet planners observed that U.S. missiles 
were not very well protected by overhead cover and were grouped relatively close to each 
other as well as to the launch control center. These observations convinced the General 
Staff that U.S.Iand-based lCBMs were not intended to ride out an attack but instead were 
first-strike weapons (vooruzheniia ptrvogo u.dara) and were routinely referred to as such 
by Soviet military planners in all subsequent discussions and internal writings. Based on 
these conclusions. the Soviets took two initiatives. one operational and the other 
programmatic. First. they adopted a launch-under~au.ack docuine, that is, to launch when 
it was clear that U.S. missiles had been launched. The doctrine could not be effectively 
executed. however. because Soviet missiles required a considerable time to launch. The 
Soviet Union's programmatic response was the initiation of a largewscale program in 
General Machine Building to develop both solid and liquid fueled missile systems that 
could be launched within five minmes of a launch order. To describe the expected 
scenario, the USSR defined a new kind of strike, a retaliatory-meeting strike (otverno­
vstrechnyi udar) whereby Soviet missiles. were expected to pass American missiles in 
mid-air on the way to targets on U.S. territory. Dr. Tsygichko explained that, to his 
knowledge. Soviet missiles were to strike at military targets other than silos and at U.S. 
infrastruciUre because of the assumption that U.S. silos would be empty under all launch 
scenarios. 33 

32This was the first comprehensive application of mathematical mod~ling to a major area of 
Soviet military planning. The success of the modeling of silo~vulnerability and of strategic 
c:xchanges in general created considerable enthusiasm in the General Staff for J.pplication of 
modeling to other problems, such as analysis of outcomes of theater war. According to Or. 
Tsygichko, experience with modeling of strategic warfare and silo-vulnerability were of liHie or 
no help in modeling theater warfare but it did build considerable credibility for modeling as an 
analytical tool. 
33some U.S. analysts regard the 55-18 as too powerful for employment against infrastructure and 
soH military targets. Likewise suspected Soviet missile--reload capability would be of little use in 
launching a retaliatory strike if all Soviet silos were expected to be destroyed under all considered 
scenarios. The strategic forces dire<:torate within the Main Operations Oin!ctorate of the General 
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Vulnerability of Personnel to Blasi Overpressure 

Dr. Tsygichko was aware of tests, conducted in the late 1950s and early 1960s, on 
the effects on animals of overpressure from both conventional and nuclear weapons. 
B<tsed upon exploitation of pre~ 1946 Gennan data and other testing. Soviet scientists 
concluded that a dog's response to overpressure was closest to that of humans. Based on 
this finding, the tests showed that 7 psi overpressure was sufficient to kill a person. (In 
contrast, U.S. expens calculated that 36-38 psi would be needed to kill personnel. As a 
result, U.S. analysts predicted much lower rates of attrition on the battlefield in response 
to nuclear and conventional bombardment than did their USSR counterpans. This 
directly affected rate~of~advance expectations and assessments of the operational impact 
of battlefield nuclear use.) 

Modeling Comparisons of Soviet wilh Western Economies 

Around 1978, an American economist published a book assessing the intersector 
balance mezhduotrasloy balans) within the Soviet economy and comparing the U.S. and 
Soviet economies. The book forecast a bleak future for the Soviet economy because of 
significant distortions, maldistribution of investment, and excessive nonproductive 
expenditures such as those devoted to defense. A Soviet policy or economics expert. Dr. 
Tsygichko believes, must have brought the book to the Politburo's attention. In 1979, 
General Chervov. then head of the Information Directorate (upravlenie) with the Main 
Intelligence Directorate (GRU), asked Dr. Tsygichko to determine whether the book's 
analysis was based upon open sources or on intelligence. Dr. Tsygichko examined the 
documentation over several weeks and concluded that the book was based upon openly~ 
available sources. 

The Central Committee then commissioned a study in 1979 to test the book's 
conclusions. Dr. Tsygichko is absolutely convinced the work was inspired by at least one 
influential member of the Politburo itself. The study went on at least until 1984. It was 
ron by the Director of the Institute of Economics of the Soviet Academy of Sciences and 
carried out by several expens from several institutes to include the Institute of 
Economics, the Institute of Mathematics and Physics, the VNIISI (the all-Union Institute 
for Systems Research) to which Dr. Tsygichko was assigned. The project commanded 
the support, from the Main Intelligence Directorate (GRU) of the General Staff, to 
include large amounts of data on Soviet military production. despite the fact that the 
military were suspicious of and even hostile, to the effon. Dr. Tsygichko played the role 
of "systemnik" in the effon which means that he helped to structure the analysis and 
models to conduct the analysis. The study began with an assessment of the intersector 
balance within the Soviet economy and then compared the Soviet economy to the 
advanced industrial economies of the U.S., Japan, and Western Europe. The findings 

Staff, at a decision level perhaps not accessible to Dr. Tsygichko, might have targeted U.S. silos 
with the most capable (highest yield) part of the arsenal and might have planned for the 
possibility of Politburo .authorization to launch early enough to limit damage to the USSR. Other 
interviews with Marshal of the Soviet Union Akhromcyev and Marshall Ogarkov's special 
assistant. General Colonel Danilyevich, strongly suggest. however, that General Staff planners 
assumed that they would not get authorization to launch in time to limit damage. Other 
interview subjects, su('h as Vita iii Katacv of the Soviet Central Committee. and Ccncrallllarionov, 
seemed to believe that Minister of DefenseGrechko and others in the senior military leadership 
showed little interest io reducing the vulnerability of soviet missiles because they expected to 
strike preemptively against U.S. launch preparation. 
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essentially confirmed the conclusions of the American economist. The Soviet GNP was 
estimated to be at around 40 percent the size of U.S. GNP, and the gap be<ween U.S. and 
Soviet output was widening at a nonlinear rate. Dr. Tsygichko was unaware of exactly 
what impact, if any. the study might have had on Soviet policy.34 

The Role and Power of the Military Department of the Central Committee vis-a-vis 
the General Staff 

Dr. Tsygichko believes that U.S. analysts generally overestimated the General 
Staff's influence on military planning and force development and grossly underestimated 
the imponance of the Central Committee (TsK) and its Military Depanment (voennyi 
otdel). At least 60 percent of the membership of the Central Committee's Military 
Department were defense industrialists. both ministers responsible for arms production 
and chief designers (glavnye konstrulaory), and the remaining 40 percent were political 
officers (politicheskie oflrsery) who were very much the pany' s officers within the 
military. The officers within the TsK Military Depanment wielded influence that far 
transcended their military rank. The Defense Minister and all chief designers (who 
vinually controlled military production) all were members of the Central Comminee and 
its Military Department. The Chief of the General Staff and the service chiefs were not 
members and, therefore, held a fraction of the authority and influence enjoyed by the TsK 
Military Department, especially in the areas of military policy (voennaiya Politika) and 
force development (Voennoe Stroitel'srvo). As Dr. Tsygichko explained it, the Military 
Depanment (TsK) functioned as the de facio sitting Defense Council~ setting military 
policy (voennaia politika which governed military doctrine and force development), and 
supponed the formal Defense Council comprised of the General Secretary and MOD, the 
chiefs of the KGB and MVD (internal troops), the Minister of Foreign Affairs and several 
major military industrialists. 

Central Committee Independent Assessment of the Chinese Threat 

In late 1979, the Central Committee initiated an independent evaluation of the 
General Staff's assessment of the Chinese threat. Colonel Malashenko, then a member of 
the Central Committee Military Depanment.3S placed Dr. Tsygichko in charge of a major 
reevaluation and forecast of China's military potential and even tried unsuccessfully to 
convince Dr. Tsygichko to return to active duty to run the study. Dr. Tsygichko, then a 
senior analyst at VNIISI, ran the study out of the Institute of the Main Intelligence 
Directorate (GRU) (NII-6]. Backed by the authority of the Central Committee's Military 
Department, Dr. Tsygichko was able to collect all the information he needed from the 
military and to enlist analysrs from the entire Academy of Sciences. At the GRU 
Institute, 20 analysts most from VNIJSI. the GRU. and the General Stafl) worked on the 
project directly under Tsygichko's supervision. (The General Staff and GRU supponed 
the work at Central Committee direction despite the essentially "hostile" purpose of the 
study.) Another 39 analysts from various institutes of the Academy of Sciences 
participated in the study and contributed data and analytical suppon at Dr. Tsygichko's 
direction. Dr. Tsygichko and his colleagues were excited by their power to command 
resources for the study and his emhusiasm was evident even as he discussed the effon in 

3-*The nature and results of this work was probably known to Gorbac:hev and his supporters in 
the mid 1980s and could have provided "scientifically developed" analytic:al support to bolster 
Gorbachev's push against Party conservatives for radical change. 
35Latcr a special assistant to President Gorbachev until the end of the latter's presidency. 
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the interview. Work began in early 1980 and went on for five years. There was 
subs<antial high-level interest in the study. Dr. Tsygichko conducted yearly briefings to 
senior officials of the Defense Ministry and of the Central Comminee's Mili1ary 
Depanment. (He recalled that 1983 was the first year in which the work was sufficiendy 
well developed to provide a coherent story to the leadership.) 

The study resulted in the development of four separate models that analyzed 
China•s economic, mobilization and deployment, t:ransponation, and TVD~scale warfare 
capabilities. Nuclear weapons were excluded from the study and might have been 
considered separately by other analysts. The models indicated that China did not pose a 
serious threat. Over the 15·year period projected by the analysis, China was found to 
lack the military-industrial capacity and the infrastructure to thseaten the USSR. For 
example, China would need weeks to move its forces because of a Jack of transponation 
networks. Moreover. Dr. Tsygichko and his colleagues did not detect any Chinese 
intention ro anack the Soviet Far East. The General Staff and the GRU, whose 
assessments of China tended to be alannist, did not suppon the findings of Dr. 
Tsygichko's study. Despite these disagreements, the Chief of the GRU and the Genenil 
Staff signed off with approval of the study's findings without written reservations 
because of the authority of the Central Committee. 

Mobilization Modeling 

In analytical work they did in the 1970s at the General Staff's Nll-6 (a GRU 
Operations Research Institute that primarily supported the Main Operations Directorato-­
GOU) Dr. Tsygichko and his colleagues made a distinction between logistics suppon 
(including resupply and attrition fills) during the course of combat operations. on the one 
hand. the strategic nationwide mobilization and deployment on the other. The model for 
war in the TVD encompassed a module to assess the second echelon and reserve 
commitments and logistics support. A separate model analyzed strategic mobilization 
and deployment (straiegicheskoe razvertyvanie) in the USSR preceding, and more often 
following, the outbreak of war. 

The strategic mobilization and deployment model estimated the time needed to 
make divisions combat~ready and to move then to the front lines. A number of factors 
were considered; the level of a given division •s readiness at the moment that the 
mobilization order is issued; the time required to assign people to divisions. to get 
divisions up to strength, to prepare the equipment and to train troops and make them 
combat·ready (this consisted of individual and small-unit training as well as combined 
training (slozhno.ia u.cheba} at the division level); and the time spent tra.nsponing 
(through points of embarkation and disembarkation) and deploying troops. The model 
accounted for the delays expected in moving supplies thsough transshipment points (such 
as those at the Soviet-Polish border), and it assumed desuuction of transshiP.ment and 
disembarkarion points as well as damage or destruction to downloading fac1lities on a 
wide scale, that varied in detail in modeled scenarios depending upon when and where 
the war began. 

In the model, a division was not deployed until it was fully trained up to the 
division level and rated combat-ready (boesposobnaia). Dr. Tsygichko expressed the 
conviction that deployment of noncombaH'Cady U nilS (as defined) was not considered to 
make sense and was not seriously considered in the planning he was aware of. 
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Effect of Medical Support on Rate of Advance in Theater Operations 

The TVD model showed that high levels of losses would quickly decrease combat 
readiness. Medical studies from the 1970s predicted substantial numbers of casualties in 
a war in Central Europe, which would require extensive mobile medical suppon. The 
TVD model, using the medical data, exposed a serious deficiency in Soviet mobile· 
hospital capabilities (including grossly inadequate numbers of doctors and medical 
technicians) and thus anticipated very htgh serious injury and fatality nues. Units whose 
losses exceeded SO percent in a matter of hours were rated noncombat-ready and 
withdrawn. Their replacement by new units put a severe strain on a transport network 
already under attack. The declining combat readiness of fmt echelon divisions due to 
unreplaced losses, combined with the time spent replacing fmt·echelon divisions with 
operational reserves and the shrinking availability of large-scale replacements in a war of 
high atuition, was expected to slow the Soviet advance dramatically. Dr. Tsygichko said 
that the work of medical services analysts and even the modeling applications of their 
findings did not influence the General Staff to correct deficiencies in field medical 
support because. ultimately it was not as "interesting" as invesnnent in military hardware. 
He sensed a reluctance on the pan of senior General Staff generals to really deal with the 
reality of warfare and its consequences, and the inattention of the generals to the critical 
shortcoming in medical suppon was indicative of their indifference. 

Stopping the War for Two Weeks to Resupply 

According to Dr. Tsygichko's modeling, an initial operation would last 9 to 12 days 
(this might put them at the French border in some locations and at the Rhine River in 
others) and then come to a complete halt/or 10-14 days to permit resupply and troOp 
replacement. The pause would be an unavoidable constraint on the offensive because the 
resupply would be too slow to maintain the momentum of the first echelon beyond the 
advance expected in the initial TVD operation. 

When asked about the concept that second echelon fronts would simply pick up the 
offensive from exhausted ftrst echelon fronts at the end of the initial operation, Tsygichko 
explained that there were basic real-world physical constraints and, to a lesser extent, 
organizational constraints that would make the "second echelon front" solution 
impossible to execute. The "commitment of second echelon fronts" was actually an 
assumption of command by second echelon fronts of ftrst echelon armies and divisions 
already in place. supplemented by some fresh divisions and perhaps armies. The 
functioning of the logistics support system in the TVD was. in most respects, insensitive 
to the identity of the front or fronts to which the logistics command structure was 
subordinated. In other words, fuel, ammunition and food supplies were or were not 
available and transportable regardless of the identity of the command superstructure. 
Moreover, General Staff modeling and analysis conducted by Dr. Tsygichko's 
depanment indicated that basic supplies would not be available to sustain operations 
beyond approximately two weeks because of expected high losses and protracted 
transpon times exacerbated by extensive destruction of the transportation infrasttUcture. 
Under these conditions, the number of fronts did not matter. 
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Persian Gulf Mobilization Modeling Applications 

In 1984, the General Staff asked Dr. Tsygichko to estimate how rapidly the United 
States could deploy 500,000 troops to the Persian Gulf (!). The General Staff had 
assumed that a half-million U.S. troops could reach the Gulf and he prepared to fight in 
one month. In contrast, Dr. Tsygichko's modeling indicated that the U.S. would need at 
least 4-1/2 months to carry out such a deployment. The U.S. would he constrained 
primarily by the transportation networks inside the U.S. and by the number of bottoms 
and aircraft available to carry the forces forward and to bring in the requisite logistics 
suppon. Combat readiness of U.S. units was rated fairly high at the unit and division 
levels when mobilization began. 

Review of Weapons Programs by the General Staff 

In the late sixties and early seventies, Dr. Tsygichko participated in an analytical 
suppon role in two separate weapons system program review board meetings. The 
purpose of such meetings was to develop a final recommendation on production, non~ 
production or modification on a weapons system that has been presented by its 
sponsoring design bureau as ready for series production. All participants were expected 
to have reviewed and evaluated all relevant materials and to have developed 
organizational positions before attending the decision meeting. Such meetings usually 
were chaired by a three-star general from the General Staff, often from the prestigious 
Main Operations Directorate (GOU) and attended by representatives of the "buying" 
service. the General Staff and the military industrial commission. 

The meetings Tsygichko attended were chaired by the Deputy Director of the 
General Staff's Main Operations Directorate. One system review meeting easily 
dc:veJoped a consensus to suppon series production of the weapons system under review. 
The other just as clearly disapproved series prcxiuction. In the second instance, the 
meeting chainnan himself presented volumes of documentary evidence to establish the 
inability of the weapons system to meet operational requirements. His view reflected the 
consensus which recommended against production. 

On the basis of his experience at the meetings, Dr. Tsygichko e<pected the 
supponed system to be produced and the negatively evaluated system to he canceled. In 
fact, both systems went into production on schedule, leading Tsygichko to conclude that 
the review board meetings were an empty formality designed to mollify the General Staff 
and other players outside the military industrial commission (VPK) but which had no real 
affect on program development. 

Remarks on Previous Interviews 

Remarks on Kommenrarii k interviu V. N. Tsygichko v 1990-1991 godu: In the 
1960s and 1970s, Vitalii Tsygichko explained, the Soviet Union had a comprehensive 
plan for retaliation against nuclear attack. The plan, which was updated every six 
months, called for a Soviet launch under attack (owttno-vsrrechnyi ud<lr) using all Soviet 
silo-based systems. This annihilating retaliatory nuclear strike (wricluozluJiushchii 
orvetno-iadernyi udilr) would be directed not against U.S. silos, which Soviet planners 
assumed would be empty, but rather against military targets (such as airfields, ports, and 
C3 facilities) and against the U.S. political and economic infrasrructure (including 
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transponation grids and fuel supply lines). Soviet doclrine relied on the threat of a 
massive response as the best way to prevent nuclear use. 

Soviet analysis and modeling demonstrated that escalation to nuclear exchanges at 
the theater level was extremely disruptive to conventional defensive and certainly 
offensive operations (the war stopped for two days and strategic operations had to be 
replanned) and further escalation to global use was highly probable and 
counterproductive. Soviet planning assumed NATO initiation of nuclear use, so to 
con1rol escalation the General Staff began to exantine lintited options. Nevertheless, the 
General Staff never planned in any detail actual extended combat on a nuclear battlefield. 
The Soviet buildup of theater nuclear forces in Europe was intended, in large pan, to 
reduce the probability of NATO's firsc use and thereby to keep the war conventional 
where outcomes were relatively more predictable and where the USSR might enjoy a 
relative advantage. 

Dr. Tsyglchlco was not aware of any Soviet notional employment of chemical 
weapons in military exercises after 1964. He auributes the existence of Soviet CW 
stockpiles to the VPK's interest in keeping the chemical industry healthy. 
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The present situation is unprecedented. The 1920s and 1930s are not really 
analogous present situation. because today numbers of weapons are far less indicative of 
political approaches are more important than military ones. The 1917-19 period was 
analogous because the Soviet state was simply trying to survive and at Brest~Litovsk 
hugh concessions were made to achieve peace. 

New thinking began with the 1941 U.S.-Soviet coalition. Stalin in 1951 decided 
that China and North Korea should not win because this would lead to U.S. nuclear use. 
In the Cuban Missiles Crisis, pannership was stronger than confrontation. U.S.~Soviet 
relations were destined to be cooperative. 

The U.S. is emerging much stronger than the USSR because of its military 
capabilities and scientific-technological potential. If the U.S. tries to e:~tploit its 
advantage, then both sides will lose (the USSR will have an electorate that would respond 
with rearmament). Shrinking strategic forces and possible BMD deployments might 
make the U.S. completely invulnerable, but the USSR can never achieve complete 
invulnerability because of the small, potentially nuclear states along the Soviet periphery. 
The USSR will have less influence than the U.S. in the development of anew European 
security system because the USSR is preoccupied with its economy, nationalism, 
shrinking army, and the dissolution of its aUiance in Eastern Europe. 

As advisor to the Supreme Soviet Defense Committee, Volkogonov has 
recommended the establishment of a purely professional army and advocated a 33-40 
percent reduction in the size of the armed forces. Professional armies tend not to fight 
major wars (in part because of the mobiliution needed for reserves). 
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